"Strengthening Urban Resilience: Unleashing the Power of Green Infrastructure in European Cities"

Ing. Arch. Jenan HUSSEIN. MSc.

## Supervisors: Doc. Peter KUMBLE. Ph.D.

Dipl. arch. Henry. W.A. HANSON IV.

**Department of Landscape and Urban Planning** 

Czech University of Life Science

2024-2025.

### Declaration

I hereby declare that I have prepared this dissertation independently and have cited all sources of relevant information. The dissertation has not been published elsewhere.

.....

**PhD** Thesis

Thesis supervisor: Doc. Peter KUMBLE. Ph.D.

Dipl. arch. Henry. W.A. HANSON IV.

Thesis reviewers:

Department of Landscape and Urban Planning

Czech University of Life Science

## "Strengthening Urban Resilience: Unleashing the Power of Green Infrastructure in European Cities"

Jenan Hussein

### Thesis

This thesis is submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the PhD degree at the Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Department of Landscape and Urban Planning.

# Acknowledgement

"This thesis acknowledgement is a tribute to all the people who made my academic journey worthwhile."

"Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors: Doc. Peter KUMBLE. Ph.D. Dipl. arch. Henry. W.A. HANSON IV., whose unwavering support has been instrumental in the completion of this thesis.

Even Henry you are not here, I know you will be so proud of what we have done... we all miss you with us, but you know I am in good hands with Peter.

To the soul of Henry: This work is dedicated to you...

I would like to express my sincere thanks to the academic staff who provided their invaluable expertise and guidance. The colleagues I extend my deepest gratitude to all who have walked with me on this challenging but fulfilling journey. It was very rich of challenges, knowledge, ups and downs and success in the end to be in this level.

"I would also like to thank the whole department team professors and all stuff, whose endless kind support made this research possible."

"Special thanks go to my family, whose constant encouragement fueled my perseverance during the completion of this dissertation. Especially my little daughter whom I want her to always be proud of me as I am proud of her" "I would like to acknowledge the significant contributions made by my research participants; I express my heartfelt gratitude to my friends who have been my pillars of strength." "I extend my appreciation to all those who have been part of this journey by different kinds of support.

"The completion of this thesis or dissertation is the culmination of efforts from various individuals whom I would like to express my sincere appreciation, hope it will supportive for other researchers and good reference for them.

## Abstract

More than ten years back, the notion of urban resilience was a term that was used interchangeably with climate change. However, extant literature pertaining to resilience nonetheless revealed varied definitions within social sciences, natural sciences, engineering, and psychology. There was a need to adopt a highly integrated approach, in terms of defining urban resilience as the capability of cities to foresee, restrict, absorb, and recover from stresses and shocks, while enhancing necessary fundamental response structures and function, while incorporating varied facets of sustainability, urbanization, green infrastructure, and development.

Resilience responds to stresses and shocks that emerged from rapid technological, environmental, demographic, and social changes, which could be the result of a natural phenomenon or socioeconomic crisis. Such stresses and shocks could impact one or several urban systems, which include energy grids, urban transportation, and potential spill-over impacts on the city-region territory. Nonetheless, this kind of interdependence and interaction of urban systems could be harnessed to gain benefits of their co-benefits, and complementarity, while realizing synergies in the wider context of sustainable development.

This thesis aimed to investigate how green infrastructure within European cities could strengthen urban resilience. A review methodology has been adopted for this thesis wherein papers similar to the topic of this thesis were reviewed and analyzed in detail to derive and discuss findings, while arriving at a logical conclusion. The findings derived from this paper indicated that while studies pertaining to practice of green infrastructure were most effective when it was merged with grey infrastructure. GI including green roofs and urban forests enhance resilience by overcoming the impact from events that were caused by climate change such as floods and heatwaves. However, there were challenges as well in terms of incorporating GI within territorial plans for tackling climate change adaptation. The

findings thus derived through this research not only added to the extant literature, but it also had major ramifications to society and industry on the whole.

Contents
CHAPTER – 1 13
Introduction 13
1.1 Introduction 14
1.2 Definitions 18
1.2.1 Urban Resilience 18
1.2.2 Green Infrastructure 19
1.3 Significance of the Dissertation
1.4 Goal of the Dissertation
1.5 Research Questions
1.6 Methodology
1.6.1 Methodology Phases in LaFU
CHAPTER- 2
Conceptual framework
2.1 Conceptual framework:
CHAPTER-3
Incorporating Green Infrastructure in Territorial Planning
3.1 Background
3.2 Role of Green Infrastructure in Territorial Planning
3.3 Methodology 41
3.4 Findings 42
3.5 Geographical Delimitations of Green Infrastructure

### Contents

3.6 Techniques and Tools for Mapping Green Infrastructure 49
3.7 Case Studies of Successful Mapping of Green Infrastructure 51
3.7.1 Vancouver, Canada: Green Infrastructure Network
Mapping 51
3.7.2 Singapore: Geospatial Technologies for Urban Green
Mapping 53
3.7.3 Copenhagen, Denmark: Participatory Green Infrastructure
Mapping 55
3.7.4 Portland, United States: Urban Greenprint for Equitable
Green Infrastructure 56
3.7.5 Stockholm, Sweden: Green Infrastructure Mapping 58
3.8 Provision of Ecosystem Services, Biodiversity, and Ecological
Connectivity in Territorial Planning
3.9 Zoning of Territorial Planning Instruments to Consider
Ecosystem Services, Biodiversity, and Ecological Connectivity
3.10 Findings: Examples of Successful Zoning for Green
Infrastructure in Territorial Plans
3.10.1 Vojvodina, Serbia
3.10.2 Portland, Oregon, United States
3.10.3 Freiburg, Germany 66
3.10.4 Singapore
3.10.5 Melbourne, Australia67
3.10.6 Vienna, Austria

3.10.7 Copenhagen, Denmark 67
3.10.8 Barcelona, Spain
3.10.9 Amsterdam, Netherlands
Chapter 470
Public Participation in Designing Green Infrastructure – Systematic
Review70
4.1 Background71
4.2 Techniques and Tools for Involving the Public in Green
Infrastructure Design
4.3 Methodology
4.4 Findings: Case Studies of Successful Public Participation in
Green Infrastructure Planning and Design77
Chapter – 5
European Model Cities for Green Infrastructure
5.1 Overview of European and Czech Republic Model Cities for
Green Infrastructure
5.2 Methodology
5.3 Findings: Best Practices and Success Stories of Model Cities 85
Chapter – 6
Green Infrastructure in Resilience Development Cities in Europe 95
6.1 Overview of the General Situation of Green Infrastructure in
Prague

6.2 Contribution of Green Infrastructure to Promote Urban
Resilience in Prague
6.3 Methodology 106
6.4 Findings – Case Studies of Successful Green Infrastructure
Projects in Prague 106
Chapter 7:
Conclusion 113
7.1 Summary of Findings114
7.2 Implications for Future Research
7.2.1 Incorporating Green Infrastructure in Territorial Planning
7.2.2 Geographical Limitations of Green Infrastructure
7.2.3 Successful Zoning for Green Infrastructure in Territorial
Plans
7.2.4 Public Participation in Green Infrastructure Design 132
7.3 Recommendations for Policy and Practice
References137

## **CHAPTER – 1**

## Introduction

### **1.1 Introduction**

There are several inter-connected published discussions centered around the concept of urban resilience that discuss this as an approach to characterizing the multifaceted issue of global and local challenges (Ali Adil, 2019). As a concept, urban resilience is comparatively new, and has only recently been defined as the degree to which cities are capable of facilitating changes prior to reorganizing around a novel set of procedures and structures (The World Bank, 2015). Modern challenges warrant the need for sustainable and innovative solutions for facilitating the creation of highly adaptive and resilient regions and cities, that may be capable of maintaining an equilibrium between environmental protection, economic competitiveness, and social well-being. Such solutions can be extracted through spatial planning, community engagement, urban design, and technological innovation to make sure that urbanization is handled for sustaining the feasibility and enhancing the quality of life for people in terms of socio-political and global economic crises and climate change. As a matter of fact, the capability to react to and emerge from sudden shocks and disruptions over a long-term period could be deemed as an indicator of resilience (Shukla, 2023).

Given the many challenges that urban communities have been confronted with, cities across Europe are trying to enhance their resilience while transitioning to an adaptive governance, collaborative decision-making, and behavioural change interests of sustainability. Resilience is mainly perceived as complimentary extension of urban sustainability, fueling urban policy towards a highly intgrated, multidisciplinary and transparent planning system, which involves community stakeholders as key to the process of planning; planners as creative, innovative, and holistic actors who work within multi-functional and multi-disciplinary frameworks (Matteo Bizzotto, Ayan Huseynova, Victoria Vital Ariel Dekovic, Marion Guénard, Evgenia Mitroliou, Pourya Salehi, n.d.). The significance of diverse viewpoints is clearly visible in terms of managing and analyzing intricate systems, and in recognizing that non-expert and local knowledge is of much value for urban management.

However, there would be several ways in which urban communities might regard the concept of resilience. Some communities might perceive it as maintaining the status quo whereas others would consider it as an opportunity to structure a new environment or enhance the quality of life. Across several cities in Europe such as Copenhagen in Denmark, Vienna in Austria, Amsterdam in the Netherlands, Prague in the Czech Republic and more, conventional urban planning has frequently focused on tackling design responses to intricate social challenges that concentrate on renewal of neighbourhoods (Metzger et al., 2021). This has led to particular prescriptions of design that might handle the initial issues such as urbanization, growth of population, environmental degradation etc., but however they are not able to respond to the rapidly changing social structures, cultural and environmental awareness, or demands for public spaces. Such novel and intricate demands would consist of collaborative approaches to restoration, conservation, and augmentation of ecosystem services, such as biodiversity, waste management, flood control, and air quality(Metzger et al., 2021). Furthermore, there is increasing awareness that the future of civil society is intricately associated with valuing and maintaining ecosystem services with the intention to retain social and environmental resilience (Anbumozhi & Kojima, 2019).

<u>Urban green policy</u> is being extensively utilized as an instrument to improve urban resilience and sustainability that supports ecosystem and biodiversity services (Vargas-Hernández & Zdunek-Wielgołaska, 2021a). The concept of green infrastructure has great significance as it can integrate nature and incorporate it within urban living, allowing cities to lower their ecological urban footprint through improved execution of private and public green infrastructure, with the use of organic materials and/or green procedures or products that are nature inspired. This might upgrade urban services while boosting urban biodiversity (Vargas-Hernández & Zdunek-Wielgołaska, 2021a). Unused buildings and vacant sites might offer urban communities and cities a scope for higher level of resilience. It does so by allowing them to enhance planning efforts on the basis of revitalization projects and innovative creative design. Increased awareness about the need to incorporate resilience in mainstream planning and design would thus be of significance, enhancing the capacity of a community for adapting their social capital, and local planning policies for specific urban neighbourhoods (Mukherjee & Takara, 2018).

The recent emergence of projects that are <u>community-led</u> can be attributed much to the changes in perceptions and physical procedures. This is facilitated when there is a shift in perceptions, developments in technology, decentralized models of governance, and participatory planning procedures. <u>Collaboration</u> are those that stimulate procedures that have been conceptualized and fueled by people and, enabled by broader numbers of stakeholders, and deriving from current social capital networks, and in close collaboration with management practitioners, academic research, and innovative design groups (Bautista-Puig et al., 2022). Planning that is led by citizens comprises a basic shift in the paradigm of planning wherein the focus is on enabling communities to create a notion for their wishes and needs in the future, while trying to work with planning stakeholders at an egalitarian level. This would imply becoming more open to actors beyond the conventional domains, thus referring to the inclusion of cultural, and other knowledge forms.

At the same time, <u>green spaces</u> such as wildlife corridors, national parks, parks, and urban forests of diverse sizes, have several roles to play within cities and their adjoining areas. Such green areas are known to exist at varying scales, which range from small to large scale - neighbourhoods to cities, and then overall urban regions. As a term, Green Infrastructure (GI) is quite wide that takes under its ambit natural as well as artificial green spaces, offering social as well as ecological functions within urban regions (Reynolds et al., 2022). It was (Sandstro<sup>¬m</sup>, 2002), who was instrumental in initially introducing the term GI for widening the objective of green spaces to encompass aspects other than recreation, taking into account purposes such as preservation of biodiversity, cultural identity, urban structure,

environmental quality and utilizing natural solutions to engineering and technical challenges. GI has been further defined by (Parker & Zingoni de Baro, 2019) as an interlinked network of multifunctional ecological systems, that are inclusive of seminatural, natural, and artificial components within, around, and between urban regions, irrespective of its spatial scale. GI was formally defined by the European Union as a network of semi-natural and natural areas, in tandem with other environmental traits, that have been strategically planned, designed, and managed to offer an extensive array of ecosystem services from an urban and rural context (Europeon commision, 2023). Such ecosystem services would comprise not only of green and blue spaces (water), but would also be inclusive of other physical attributes within marine and terrestrial regions like agricultural fields, hedges, walls and green-roofs, eco-bridges, and fish ladders too. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) of the United States have defined GI as a term that is highly flexible which is inclusive of several products, practices, and technologies that use natural systems or imitates natural procedures to improve environmental quality on the whole and offer utility services (Green, 2019). Though the fundamental focus of the concept of GI is stormwater runoff management using methods that comprise of vegetation and soil, it acknowledges many economic and environmental advantages like air and water purification, lowering demand of energy, mitigation of urban heat island, aesthetic enhancements, urban heat islands, carbon sequestration, and benefits pertaining to natural resources.

On the other hand, urban resilience has been defined as the capability of an urban system and each of its constituent socio-technical and socio-ecological networks across spatial and temporal scales. This is for the purpose of sustaining or promptly returning to expected functions when confronted with a disturbance, to adjust with changes, and to promptly convert systems that restrict present or future capacity for adaptation (Meerow et al., 2016). Therefore, a city that is resilient would be one that foresees, plans, and initiates action for responding to unanticipated crises.

<u>This PhD dissertation aims to systematically review how urban resilience can</u> be strengthened by unleashing the power of green infrastructure across European <u>cities.</u>

### **1.2 Definitions**

#### 1.2.1 Urban Resilience

In recent times, the notion of resilience has gained much popularity within policy and academic discourses, with several explanations for such popularity (Sahni & Aulakh, 2021). Possibly the theory of resilience offers deeper insights into intricate socio-ecological systems and its sustainable management, particularly with regard to climate change (Cinner & Barnes, 2019). Considering that socio-ecological resilience theory comprehends systems as continuously changing in non-linear manners, the approach would be highly pertinent for tackling with future climatic uncertainties. Resilience as a term is also known to have societal connotations that are positive, which has led some to suggest that it is preferred to similar, but highly charged notions such as vulnerability. Specifically, resilience has turned out to be a lucrative viewpoint in terms of cities, frequently theorized as highly intricate and adaptive systems (Kong et al., 2022).

The continuous expansion of large cities and the increase in urban resilience are the challenges that society is confronted with today. The notion of urban resilience has emerged as a response to threats to urban survival and sustainable development. In comparison with studies conducted in the past on urban disasters, urban risk, and urban vulnerability, urban resilience would refer to the level of risk that a city will be able to endure and their pace of recovery following a disaster. It is an extensive performance of enhancing ability in terms of resistance to urban risk, lowering urban vulnerability, and lowering urban loss post a disaster. In contrast, urban resilience tends to be highly global and strategic (Zheng et al., 2018).

As a concept, urban resilience has been defined by (Meerow et al., 2016), as the capability of an urban system and each of its constituent socio-technical and socioecological networks across spatial and temporal scales for maintaining or rapidly reverting back to expected functions when confronted with a disturbance, to adapt to change, and to promptly convert systems that restrict present or future capacity for adaptation. As per this definition, urban resilience is dynamic and provides several pathways to resilience (transition, transformation, and persistence). It acknowledges the significance of temporal scale and advocates general adaptability instead of particular adaptiveness.

#### 1.2.2 Green Infrastructure

For several ecologists, green infrastructure (GI) induces a multi-scalar network of ecological components offering several benefits and functions. The roots to this landscape concept can be traced back to 19<sup>th</sup> century landscape design and planning in the United States (US), like the Frederick Olmsted park systems (Eisenman, 2013), and other traditions for spatial planning within the United Kingdom (UK) and Europe (Grădinaru & Hersperger, 2019). A landscape notion of GI would continue to guide initiatives in planning to offer high quality green spaces in an equitable manner, handle risks to environment, and enhance urban public health. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in the US in 2007 officially defined GI as an array of stormwater control practices that were utilized to comply with Clean Water Act (CWA) regulations (Pollalis, 2019). Nonetheless, considering that the EPA does not have any formal regulatory authority over land cover/land use, applying the notion of GI is restricted to technologies for control, frequently termed as 'best management practices'. Such hybrid measures for stormwater control are engineered facilities that operate across a 'gray-green' continuum (Bell et al., 2019), and have

extensive applications within the US (McPhillips & Matsler, 2018), and the world over (Mell & Clement, 2020).

It has been argued by (Bag, 2016), that a single accurate meaning of GI would be challenging owing to the fact that the concept continues to evolve and has built response to diverse needs. Therefore, GI could be considered as a boundary concept, that can be defined as terms that act as notions across varied disciplines or viewpoints, referring to the same phenomenon, object, quality or process of these, but hold vastly varied meanings across various viewpoints or disciplines.

As per the European commision (2023), GI has been defined as a network of semi-natural and natural areas that has been strategically planned along with other environmental features, structured and managed such as to provide an extensive array of ecosystem services, while also improving biodiversity. Such services would also encompass water purification, enhancing air quality, offering recreational spaces, and facilitating climate change mitigation and adaptation. This network of blue (water) and green (land) spaces enhances the environmental quality, the connectivity and condition of natural areas, and enhances peoples' quality of life and health as well. The development of GI can also lend support to green economy while creating ample opportunities for employment.

### **1.3 Significance of the Dissertation**

The concept of GI has been largely applied within urban contexts with the purpose of enhancing the overall structure of a city and to ensure that advantages from natural capital are provided within urban systems that mostly comprise of built spaces. It is possible to extend support to extensive levels biodiversity through urban green and blue spaces, while offering various ecosystem services. These would comprise of regulating, provisioning, and cultural services that are intrinsic to the overall well-being of urban populations, specifically in terms of human health

advantages, both psychological and physical (Felappi et al., 2020; Spano et al., 2020). Urban green spaces are known to offer novel ecosystems and habitats for species (Andrade et al., 2021), food security, and agricultural connectivity (Yacamán Ochoa et al., 2020), facilitates air and water purification, moderate local climates, sequester carbon di-oxide, lower erosion of soil, ease noise pollution, augment the value of real estate, enhance aesthetics of landscape and neighbourhoods, while improving psychological and physical well-being of people (Bratman et al., 2019). An extensive array of major economic, environmental, health and social well-being advantages were summarized through a study carried out by (Parker & Zingoni de Baro, 2019). Specifically, cultural and regulating services within urban landscapes were largely significant for well-being of people, with growth in the climate change phenomenon, increasing density of population, and growing risk of global pandemics. Adapting GI at diverse scales could augment the adaptability of urban regions to environmental modifications and also facilitate provisioning of ecosystem services through green spaces (Guide, 2021). Furthermore, GI is known to make huge contributions to the green economy by having an instrumental role in adaptation to climate change and migration within urban regions, and also to the circular economy by offering bioproducts, which is also intrinsic in generating new job opportunities.

Literature pertinent to the context has revealed that the importance of urban GI connectivity is to a large extent projected through its promotion of biodiversity within the site, the movement of organisms, and functions of ecosystems (Ramyar, 2017a). To realize sustainability within cities, research and application of GI should concentrate on the enhancement of GI connectivity on the whole (Mattijssen et al., 2017). Notwithstanding, a gap in knowledge exists with regards to connectivity modeling of GI networks and its performance for optimization in real world practice. Such a deficiency could hamper effective intervention in planning and management of urban GI to enhance urban resilience (Bagstad et al., 2013). With regards to representation of connectivity, indices of landscape and GIS-based methods that can only derive GI network elements, that is, nodes and corridors separately for analysis

are common. It is clear that such methods make it unlikely to intuitively and extensively comprehend the structure and function of a GI network and create obstacles for extensive suggestions to enhance GI connectivity. Owing to the intricacies within GI networks, an integrated approach that comprises of multidisciplinary knowledge and multidomain technology is required for quantitatively simulating the connectivity of GI networks while identifying conservation priorities, making reasonable and multifaceted suggestions for strategic GI network, and planning for habitat conservation (Garmendia et al., 2016).

In addition, the threat of climate change and the recent COVID-19 pandemic have drawn attention to the significance of GI within and around cities, thus triggering an urgent call for highly sustainable and functional planning and designs in urban regions. There have been several studies (O'Brien et al., 2017; Staddon et al., 2018) that were conducted in the recent past which indicated the variety of ecosystem functions and services that are necessary for urban sustainability and human wellbeing, which is of much significance to challenges to health and climate. The significance of this review would like in the fact that it would stress upon the importance of the current GI for enduring stress that emerge from climate change, such as those pertaining to growth in climate variability and extreme temperature and precipitation events, which are contributory factors for mental and physical health of people residing in urban regions. In such instances, a review of GI in terms of building resilient cities would have a key role to play in offering urban regions with a capacity for resilience which will be intrinsic for urban sustainability. The significance of this review would also lie in the fact that the findings from this review would emphasize on the need for widening and enhancing GI, specifically in European cities that are highly vulnerable on the basis of participatory and integrative procedures.

Given the fact that since several cities across Europe are trying to enhance their urban environments as a medium <u>to tackle climate change mitigation</u> and adaptation, while at the same time enhancing the <u>quality of life</u> for their citizens through GI and nature-based solutions (NBS). NBS as an integral aspect of GI, refers to solutions supported and inspired through nature. By using natural features and nature, and procedures as a response to challenges, they are an addition or replacement to purely technical solutions, adding additional economic, ecological, and social values through their multifunctional attributes (European Commision, 2023). In view of these factors, the findings derived through this dissertation would be instrumental in helping policymakers and planners to derive new insights into the phenomenon and embrace GI from a holistic perspective.

Furthermore, the natural capital or the natural fabric on which our society hinges is largely eroded by urbanization, unsustainable agro-ecosystems and continued expansion and consolidation of what is known as 'grey infrastructure', referring to portions of landscape that do not provide any concessions towards, or would be actively hostile to biodiversity. The present regulations within EU make contributions towards ensuring that environmental outcomes of infrastructure development and spatial planning at the EU level are lowered but this has been evidenced to be inadequate to prevent loss of biodiversity and to restrict the incremental fragmentation and degradation of ecosystems, thus justifying the significance of this dissertation. With massive growth in global population and increasing suburban and urban density, there is frequently scant scope for green spaces. Thus, additional incorporating varied kinds of green spaces within the built environment, turns out to be a priority. Thus, exemplifying the significance of this dissertation.

In addition, climate change has the potential to augment the risk of natural disasters such as forest fires and floods. Though intensification of land management and grey infrastructure have revealed the restrictions and negative impacts in tackling such risks, GI would be instrumental in lowering susceptibility, augment natural system resilience, while restoring natural capital within societies while also lowering the possible impacts of natural disasters. Therefore, the significance of this research is evident in the fact that it will examine how GI within European cities would be

helpful in reinforcing urban resilience. This will help policymakers and planners to examine strategies for improving GI across cities in Europe.

### **1.4 Goal of the Dissertation**

The purpose of this dissertation is to explore how green infrastructure can be used to facilitate the development of resilience within EU cities.

To achieve this, a review of previous literature will synthesize, analyze, and deliberate the findings from past studies, and present a summary on how resilient cities can be developed by incorporating green infrastructure into their planning and design process/requirements. By summarizing previous findings, this dissertation will aim to make contributions to resilience within European cities, while also providing inputs on how urban planning could likely tackle future challenges. Thus, this dissertation will stress the need to anticipate future requirements, while outlining long-term goals for the future to tackle such challenges.

### **1.5 Research Questions**

- 1. To what extent does the historical background and institutional framework of Eastern European countries and specifically the Czech Republic influence the implementation and effectiveness of environmental policies, considering the higher regulations set by the European Union?
- 2. How does the distinction between city Borders and Ecosystem Edges influence the planning strategies for urban development and the application of Blue-Green Infrastructure (BGI) as a strategic solution for climate change adaptation in cities, with a focus on Prague (Czech Republic).

- 3. How does the social and cultural factor, including the role of users, influence the application and acceptance of Blue-Green Infrastructure (BGI) in urban areas, and how can user involvement in planning contribute to creating a better living environment in cities?
- 4. How do the robustness and applicability of Blue-Green Infrastructure (BGI) planning methods and technologies vary across different urban contexts, and how can the integration of social, technical, and resource considerations lead to sustainable development outcomes in cities?

### **1.6 Methodology**

A systematic review was the method adopted to conduct this research. This systematic review ascribes to an approach that has been previously utilized by several authors (Parker & Simpson, 2018; Peters et al., 2015). A detailed literature review was carried out, wherein papers that were highly pertinent to the phenomenon being investigated were found through diverse academic databases. The primary keywords used to identify the papers were 'urban resilience', and 'green infrastructure'.

Further, the use of Landscape Functional Units (LaFU) method is also adopted. The technique for evaluating GI within European cities comprised of two key phases;

- Phase I: Planning the GI system, which refers to the identification and analysis of current semi-natural and natural areas and planning the GI system on this basis.
- Phase II: Assessing the GI system which refers to the segregation of the planned GI system into LaFU, and assessing such units for identification of strengths, potential, and threats within the functioning of the GI system.

The method proposed above is founded on the multifunctional and structural approach within GI planning. It intends to link the two vital facets of GI planning viz multifunctionality and connectivity.

#### 1.6.1 Methodology Phases in LaFU

#### Phase I: Planning the GI System

**Phase Ia:** Identifying and analyzing semi-natural and natural types of land cover, its spatial connectivity and distribution. This would comprise of areas that encompass diverse types of nature protection, and areas that are unprotected, mainly areas that have greenery of possibly high significance for the GI system.

**Phase Ib**: Conducting the synthesis of the analysis of semi-natural and natural components and mapping the GI system on its basis.

**Phase Ic:** Deciding the foremost functions of individual components of the GI system, like regulations on climate, retention and conservation of water, while also ensuring appropriate development of the area in connection with the city and the provision of pertinent ecosystem related services. At the same time, the current and possible advantages of the planned GI system for local communities need to be indicated, which is significant to promote the citizens as well as authorities to initiate steps to safeguard, reinforce and develop the proposed GI system (Niedźwiecka-Filipiak et al., 2022).

#### Phase II: Assessing the GI System

This phase would comprise of an analysis that will be executed in five steps wherein the first step would be to segregate the area into landscape functional units, the next would be its evaluation. The second and third steps would comprise of designing units that are significant for continuity and communication of GI. The fourth step would be to determine threats from the expansion of built-up areas, and the last step refers to defining the strengthening and protective measures for the GI system.

## **CHAPTER-2**

## **Conceptual framework**

## 2.1 Conceptual framework:

This chapter presents the conceptual framework for this research thesis, wherein the framework essentially investigates the interaction between environment sustainability, urban development, and strategies for resilience. It comprises of understanding the diverse types of green infrastructure like parks, green roofs, and urban forest, and the multifaceted role it plays in improving the resilience of the city to environmental, social, and economic challenges. Through this research, the idea is to examine the mechanisms through which green infrastructure would contribute to urban resilience by circumventing the impact from climate change, lowering urban heat island effects, improving biodiversity, nurturing social cohesion, and encouraging sustainable urban development practices. In addition, it also involves analyzing the effectiveness of various policy interventions, planning strategies, and governance mechanisms in incorporating green infrastructure within urban landscapes to develop resilient cities that have the capability to adapt to challenges in the future.

#### Figure 1: Conceptual Framework (Author)



Historical Context: Explore Czech Republic historical background, including its periods of political change, economic development, and environmental challenges. Investigate how historical events, such as the transition from communism to democracy and market economy, have influenced the country's environmental policies. This work will consider factors such as industrialization, urbanization, and the legacy of environmental degradation during different historical phases.

Institutional Structures: Analyze the organizational setup and institutional framework responsible for environmental governance in Czechia. This includes government agencies, ministries, regulatory bodies, and their roles in formulating and implementing environmental policies. This review will investigate the distribution of powers, decision-making processes, and coordination mechanisms among different institutions.

EU Regulations and Integration: Examine the role of the European Union in shaping Czechia's environmental policies. Investigate how EU regulations and directives related to environmental protection have been adopted and integrated into Czech law and Will explore the dynamics between EU-level policies and national implementation, considering challenges and opportunities posed by EU membership.

Political Decision-Making: Delve into the political dynamics that influence the formulation and execution of environmental policies. It will do so by analyzing how political ideologies, party platforms, and electoral cycles impact the prioritization of environmental issues. Consider the role of interest groups, civil society, and public opinion in shaping political discourse.

Conceptual Foundations: Establish a clear understanding of the concepts of "city Borders" and "Ecosystem Edges." Define their significance in urban planning and ecological contexts. Explain how these concepts relate to the spatial configuration and ecological boundaries within urban environments.

Blue-Green Infrastructure (BGI): Define and contextualize BGI as a strategic approach to urban planning that integrates natural and man-made water systems, such as rivers, wetlands, parks, and green spaces, to manage water, enhance biodiversity, and adapt to climate change. Describe its benefits for climate resilience and urban livability.

Historical Structures and Geographical Characteristics: Investigate the historical development and geographical features of Prague. Analyze how its distinct historical contexts, urban forms, and geographical conditions (such as topography, water bodies, and land use patterns) have influenced the establishment of city Borders and Ecosystem Edges.

Climate Considerations: Examine the climate challenges faced by each city, including temperature variations, precipitation patterns, and flooding risks. Explore how these climatic factors influence the need for BGI as a climate adaptation strategy and how city Borders and Ecosystem Edges intersect with these considerations.

Urban Planning Visions: Study the long-term urban planning visions of Prague. Analyze their metropolitan development plans, strategic documents, and policies related to BGI and climate adaptation. Identify the role of city Borders and Ecosystem Edges in guiding the spatial distribution, design, and implementation of BGI components.

Reflection of Planners' Visions: Investigate how the concepts of Edges and Borders influence the visions and strategies of urban planners in Prague. Analyze how planners perceive these concepts in relation to BGI and climate adaptation, and how their perspectives shape the development of spatial interventions.

Application of LaFU (Landscape Functions and Values): Discuss the application of the LaFU approach, which emphasizes understanding the functions and values of landscapes in urban planning. Explore how LaFU principles can inform the

incorporation of BGI within the urban fabric, considering ecological, social, and economic aspects.

Social and Cultural Factors: Define and categorize the key social and cultural factors that influence the implementation and acceptance of BGI. These may include public attitudes, perceptions, behaviors, social norms, cultural values, community engagement, and socio-economic backgrounds.

Attitudes and Perceptions: Investigate how residents perceive BGI in terms of its benefits, drawbacks, and relevance to their daily lives. Explore public attitudes toward nature, water, green spaces, and urban aesthetics, and how these attitudes influence the willingness to embrace BGI.

Behavioral Patterns: Examine how people's behaviors and interactions with the urban environment are impacted by the presence of BGI. Study how BGI influences outdoor activities, recreational choices, physical activities, and patterns of social interaction within communities.

Quality of Life Enhancement: Explore how the integration of BGI can contribute to enhancing the overall quality of life in cities. Investigate the impact of BGI on air and water quality, temperature regulation, mental well-being, biodiversity, and the creation of attractive public spaces.

User-Centered Design and Planning: Highlight the importance of involving users in the planning and design of BGI projects. Explore different participatory methods, such as workshops, surveys, focus groups, and community engagement, to gather insights into user preferences, needs, and aspirations regarding BGI features.

Decision-Making and Governance: Analyze how user perspectives are integrated into the decision-making process for BGI projects. Examine the role of local governments, urban planners, designers, and community stakeholders in incorporating user input and how this involvement can lead to more successful BGI implementation. Cultural Context and Identity: Consider the influence of cultural values, traditions, and identities on the adoption of BGI. Explore how cultural practices, beliefs, and heritage affect people's perceptions of BGI elements and their willingness to engage with them.

Community Engagement and Participation: Study successful case studies where active community engagement has led to the successful implementation of BGI projects. Examine the strategies used to foster community ownership, collaboration, and sustained involvement in BGI planning and maintenance.

Urban Context Variability: Define and categorize the different types of urban contexts, considering factors such as geographic location, climate, population density, socio-economic conditions, existing infrastructure, and governance structures.

BGI Planning Methods and Technologies: Define the range of BGI planning methods and technologies available for urban development. These may include green roofs, permeable pavements, rain gardens, wetlands, urban forests, and more. Discuss their intended functions, benefits, and challenges.

Social Considerations: Investigate how social factors, including community engagement, public perception, cultural values, and social cohesion, influence the robustness and applicability of BGI planning methods. Analyze how different urban contexts impact the acceptance and adoption of BGI among diverse populations.

Technical Considerations: Examine the technical capabilities and limitations associated with implementing BGI planning methods and technologies. Consider factors such as engineering feasibility, maintenance requirements, scalability, and integration with existing urban infrastructure.

Resource Availability: Explore how the availability of resources, such as funding, skilled labor, materials, and land, affects the implementation and success of

BGI projects. Investigate how resource disparities across different urban contexts impact the feasibility of BGI solutions.

Best Practices and Challenges: Conduct a comparative analysis of BGI planning practices across diverse urban contexts. Identify successful case studies and challenges encountered in different scenarios. Highlight the factors that contribute to the effectiveness or limitations of BGI implementation.

Adaptive Strategies: Discuss strategies for adapting BGI planning methods and technologies to suit the specific characteristics of different urban contexts. Explore how flexible approaches can be employed to address unique challenges while maximizing benefits.

## **CHAPTER-3**

# Incorporating Green Infrastructure in Territorial Planning
### 3.1 Background

Green Infrastructure (GI) is deemed as an advantage for territorial development as it offers several functions in the same spatial domain. The inherent principle of GI would be in the fact that the same land area would offer several environmental, cultural, social, and economic advantages as well, given that its ecosystems would be in a robust and healthy condition (Ade & Rehm, 2020). Nonetheless, European ecosystems of value are experiencing degradation owing to fragmentation of land, urban expansion, and the development of infrastructures for energy and transport. This impacts species and habitats, while also reducing functional and spatial logic of the environment as such. Ecosystems that are degraded tend to have low richness in terms of species and would not be in a position to provide similar services as compared to ecosystems that are healthy (Cortina-Segarra et al., 2021). This is the reason why in 2011 the European Union (EU) embraced their strategy for biodiversity, which intended to ensure that by the year 2020, ecosystems and services are sustained and improved with the establishment of green infrastructure and restoring around 15 per cent of the degraded ecosystems (Hattori, 2015). It also warrants the need for member states to map and evaluate the current situation of their ecosystems and services at a national level. In response to the commitment made in terms of the biodiversity strategy, in 2013, the European Commission presented the GI strategy for EU to ensure protection, restoration, creation, and improvement of GI emerge as a key aspect of spatial planning and territorial development whenever it provided a superior alternative, or was complementary, to standard grey choices (Maes et al., 2020).

GI is inclusive of ecological networks, which constitutes natural vegetation areas, other open spaces, or areas with known ecological values, and links that interlink such areas to one another. GI solutions are of particular significance within urban environments wherein around 70 per cent of the population in the EU is known to reside (Staccione et al., 2022). Within cities, GI elements such as green roofs and

walls, urban woodlands and garden allotments deliver health-related advantages such as improved reduction in Urban Heat Index (UHI), improvmetn to surface water quality, and contributions to cleaner air. GI also presents opportunities to link rural and urban regions and offers appealing places to live and work. In addition, the restoration of land within cities could prove to be cost-effective and a way that is economically feasible to bring in increased sustainability, and resilience (Baffoe et al., 2021). Regional and local authorities who are usually responsible for decisions pertaining to land-use, are known to have a significant role to play in evaluating environmental impacts and safeguarding, improving natural capital, and conserving (Ruzow Holland, 2022). Integrating GI into associated plans and strategies could be instrumental in overcoming landscape fragmentation and to restore ecological connectivity. It can also improve the resilience of an ecosystems, and thus ensure the consistent provision of ecosystem services while offering healthy environments and recreational spaces for people to enjoy (Di Marino et al., 2019). From this setting, GI can also be perceived as a provider of nature-based solutions that are vital to address societal challenges like unsustainable urbanization and associated human health issues. However, it has been reported that one key barrier in terms of deploying GI would be an inadequate understanding among stakeholders about the way natural ecosystems operate, which frequently leads to underused potential for development of GI (Kabisch, Frantzeskaki, et al., 2016). Improved utilization of incorporated spatial planning procedures, enhanced capacity of decision-makers and better institutional cooperation are significant components to tackle such challenges.

Territorial planning has been recognized to play a key role in tackling climate change mitigation and also adapting to its unavoidable impacts (Ray Biswas & Rahman, 2023). This perception is derived from the understanding that territorial configuration of cities and towns, and the manner in which land is being utilized and developed have substantial impacts on climate change (Jia et al., 2022), and would be key to enacting adaptive responses to such changes. Significantly, modern empirical research has revealed that institutions for planning are vital drivers of adaptation to climate change. As per a recent review regarding the significance that legislation has upon climate change adaptation has identified land-use planning as a highly effective tool to lower exposure and sensitivity to extreme weather events in several instances (McDonald & McCormack, 2021). Irrespective of the role of planning in tackling climate change adaptation, it is not universally agreed upon. For instance, (Boyd et al., 2022) are of the opinion that planning could positively contribute to adaptation and mitigation of climate change. They have indicated that previously planning systems have delivered policy that has been unfavorable to climate change. The results were inclusive of building codes not adhering to energy efficiency, dependence on fossil fuels, suburban sprawl, obsession with automobiles, and failure to take environmental externalities into account. Given these factors, it becomes imperative to investigate the need for incorporating GI into territorial planning.

### 3.2 Role of Green Infrastructure in Territorial Planning

Over the years GI has gained much attention as a vital element in territorial planning. It refers to a network of semi-natural and natural features, that are strategically designed and managed to offer an array of ecosystem services, improve biodiversity, and contribute to the well-being of rural and urban areas on the whole. The integration of GI within territorial planning has been identified as a sustainable strategy to tackle social, environmental, and economic challenges. According to Tirla *et al* (2014), GI has a key role to play in improving the provision of ecosystem services like water and air purification, climate regulation, and recreational opportunities. The authors also stress upon the significance of GI in promoting urban resilience by mitigating the effects of climate change and improve adaptive capacity of cities. This view is additionally supported by Fu, Hopton and Wang (2021),who have argued that incorporating green spaces in territorial planning enhances the ability of a region to withstand environmental stressors.

A key advantage of GI refers to the contribution it makes towards conserving biodiversity. It has been highlighted by Farinha-Marques et al. (2011), that GI networks would be beneficial in offering habitats for diverse species, enabling their movement and improving genetic diversity. Furthermore, (Nilon et al., 2017) have deliberated the role played by GI in urban biodiversity and highlight the significance of planning for connectivity within green spaces for supporting wildlife movement. In addition, the link between GI and human health has been well-recognized. There are several studies that have indicated that access to green spaces had a positive impact on mental and physical well-being. According to Shanahan et al (2014), exposure to greenery tends to lower stress while improving cognitive function, resulting in enhanced mental health on the whole. Moreover, a study carried out by Kabisch, van den Bosch and Lafortezza (2017), stressed upon the fact that GI that is well-designed could promote physical activity and social interactions, which contribute to healthier lifestyles. GI also has the scope to tackle social inequalities and nurture inclusivity. The concept of 'just GI' was discussed by Wolch, Byrne and Newell (2014), who stressed that accessibility and equitable distribution of green spaces could encourage social cohesion while lowering disparities in access to nature. In addition, (Schirpke et al., 2020) are in favor of participatory territorial planning procedures that comprise of local communities within design and management of GI, to ensure that it met the varied needs of people.

Other than the social and ecological role of GI in territorial planning, GI has the potential to provide economic advantages as well. It has been argued by Hanna and Comín (2021), that investments in GI could result in increased property values and attract businesses, thus making a sizable contribution to development of the local economy. In addition, evidence has been presented by Costanza *et al.*, (2014), regarding ecosystem services offered by GI tends to provide significant economic value, which underlines its scope to lend support to economic growth which is sustainable. However, though the advantages of GI in territorial planning have been largely recognized, there are challenges when it comes to its implementation in an effective manner. It has been posited by Pauleit *et al.*, (2020), that governance structures that are fragmented and insufficient funding could hamper the establishment of unified green infrastructure networks. Furthermore, the need for incorporating conventional ecological knowledge along with scientific expertise for successful GI planning was highlighted by Colding and Barthel (2019). There are many case studies that demonstrated successful incorporation of GI into territorial planning. For example, the 'Superkilen' park project in Copenhagen, Denmark as indicated by Fleming (2023), projected how the necessities of various communities could be met on the basis of innovative design in green spaces. In the same vein, the approach adopted by the city of Singapore to integrate greenery within their urban fabric, as elucidated by Han (2017), offers valuable insights into effective GI execution in areas that were densely populated.

The literature here underlines the vital role played by GI in territorial planning. It presents a multifaceted approach to tackle social, environmental, and economic challenges while encouraging ecosystem services, conservation of biodiversity, well-being of humans, and social equity. Nonetheless, challenges pertaining to governance, funding, and interdisciplinary collaboration need to be circumvented to wholly understand the scope of GI in shaping resilient and sustainable territories.

### **3.3 Methodology**

This chapter adopts a *systematic review* as the principal methodology. A systematic review refers to a methodology that produces an overview of outcomes from primary research, pertaining to a particular research question. It tends to vary from conventional literature review in the manner that it recognizes, chooses, synthesizes, and assess only evidence that is of high quality, based on a rigorous, explicit, and specific procedure (Van Rooyen et al., 2018). The notion of a systematic review is to establish what the best evidence is with regards to a particular question

and utilizing it for informing practice and policy. Thus, it is in line with the transition to an evidence-based approach for decision-making for policy.

### **3.4 Findings**

Based on the findings derived through a study conducted by Sturiale and Scuderi (2019), it was indicated that GI are identified as best practices within local governance when merged with conventional 'grey' infrastructure to realize sustainability and resilience. Furthermore, GI have been identified for their value in terms of adapting to the emergent and irreversible impacts from climate change. Moreover, certain local governments have embraced GI as a measure for adapting to climate change, especially in case strategies lead to several other advantages. Certainly, adaptation to climate change is perceived as having economic, social, and ecological advantages. Similarly, it was reported by Li *et al.*, (2020), that GI and their incorporation within territorial planning emerged as one of the most apt and impactful ways to enhance microclimate and confront the effects of climate change. GI forms comprise of green walls, green roofs, bioswales, urban forest, urban agriculture, rain gardens, peri-urban agriculture, collective green, local products market, river parks, areas of constructed wetlands, nature conservation areas, and alternative energy farms.

(Sussams et al., 2015) in their study revealed that provision that GI has been extensively identified as having a major role in catering to the challenge of climate change adaptation. Incorporating GI within ecosystem-based territorial planning renders the design of GI assets as a vital tool for planning for developing highly sustainable urban environments, that are resistant to future challenges and adapting to needs of the future. GI is well establishing within strategies for climate adaptation, however, they added that it was of importance that such strategic tools are promoted through particular incorporated territorial and urban planning such as planning and sustainability in decision-making, long-term investments, GI models for climate change adaptation, and for optimal multiple advantages. Based on the findings derived through the research carried out by Bush *et al.*,(2021), it was reported that the escalating impacts from climate change was reshaping the urban landscape on the whole, warranting innovation in approaches that can be adopted. Territorial plans that incorporate GI have turned out to be a promising strategy to improve urban resilience against climate related challenges.

The studies that were reviewed continuously stressed the several benefits of incorporating GI into territorial plans for climate adaptation. At the outset, GI tends to act as a natural buffer against urban heat islands, with green spaces and vegetation mitigating fluctuations in temperature and improving microclimates in urban areas. This finding was at par with the studies carried out by Xue et al., (2019) and (A. Coutts et al., 2010), who showed the cooling impacts of GI on urban regions. Secondly, inclusion of GI helps to manage stormwater and lower risks from floods. Green roofs, permeable surfaces, and constructed wetlands in GI systems extensively contribute to effective stormwater drainage and retention, as is evidenced through research executed by Quagliolo et al., (2022) and (Khodadad et al., 2023). Thirdly, GI tends to promote ecosystem and biodiversity services in urban environments. Urban green spaces offer habitats for diverse species, which contribute to urban wildlife conservation and improving resilience within urban ecosystems. Third, GI encourages ecosystem services and biodiversity within urban environments. Habitats are provided through urban green spaces which accommodate several species, thus contributing to conservation of urban wildlife and improving the resilience of urban ecosystems (Langemeyer & Gómez-Baggethun, 2018).

At the same time, it has been posited that many challenges have been found at the time of incorporating GI within territorial plans for climate adaptation. One of the foremost challenges was identified as restricted available space within urban regions. This was particularly true in cases of cities that were densely populated. This finding has found support through findings derived from studies carried out by Ge, Wang and Song (2023), which highlighted the competition amongst green space preservation and urban development. Furthermore, government structures that are fragmented have also proved to be a challenge, which hampers coordinated territorial planning and execution. This challenge has been covered through the study carried out by Bulkeley, Broto and Edwards (2014), which emphasized the significance of cross-sectoral collaboration between urban policymakers, planners, and other stakeholders. Further, financial restrictions have been identified to be a major restriction in implementing GI projects for territorial planning. The costs linked to designing, executing, and sustaining GI systems have been deliberated through studies carried out by Breuste *et al.*, (2015) and Schwarz et al., (2015), which underscored the necessity for innovative mechanisms in financing.

On the basis of this systematic review, it was possible to identify several successful case studies that highlighted the incorporation of GI in territorial plans. The 'Cloudburst Management Plan' (Arnbjerg-Nielsen et al., 2013) of Copenhagen, and Melbourne's 'Green Infrastructure Strategy' (Sturiale & Scuderi, 2019), indicated effective urban cooling and flood management through green infrastructure. Similarly, the 'ABC Waters Program (Feng, 2021)' of Singapore, showcased innovative approaches in managing stormwater with the help of green infrastructure. In addition, the 'Toronto Green Streets' initiative (Sekulova et al., 2021), revealed the transformation of urban streets into green corridors, improving urban aesthetics and stormwater management.

From the systematic review thus executed on recent academic literature underlines the importance of green infrastructure into territorial plans for climate change adaptation. Green infrastructure provides benefits that are multifunctional in nature, which are also inclusive of stormwater management, urban cooling, and conservation of biodiversity. Though challenges like fragmented governance, limitations of space, and financial restrictions continue to exist, successful case studies and evolving best practices offer valuable inputs for urban planners and policymakers to maneuver bottlenecks of such kind and achieve the potential of green infrastructure for resilient urban development.

## 3.5 Geographical Delimitations of Green Infrastructure

Recognizing Green Infrastructure (GI) as a key element within rural and urban environments has witnessed a substantial growth in recent times. With the threat of climate change, rapid urbanization, and environmental degradation looming large, the need to identify and map GI within territories has assumed much significance. GI comprising of a network of semi-natural and natural regions, acts as a vital tool for encouraging ecological sustainability, improving resilience, and enhancing the quality of life for inhabitants on the whole (Liquete et al., 2015). From an urbanization context, the expansion of cities is frequently at the expense of green spaces (Puplampu & Boafo, 2021). Concrete cities soon replace lush greenery, and natural ecosystems are replaced with built environments. Such kind of an urban transformation is known to have severe consequences for the well-being of communities, and the environment on the whole (Colding et al., 2020). Nonetheless, recognizing the importance of GI presents a ray of hope. Through a systematic identification and mapping of GI within a territory, policymakers, as well as planners acquire insights into the distribution of such vital natural assets (Ramyar et al., 2020). This knowledge tends to act as the base for decision-making that is largely informed, and devising strategies that could result in a highly livable and sustainable future.



Figure 2: Map of Green Infrastructure for Central Europe Source: (Interreg, 2020)

From an ecological point of view, the significance of mapping GI would lie in its capability to unravel the complex web of interlinked ecosystems. By gaining an in-depth understanding about the locations of forests, water bodies, wetlands, and other green spaces, authorities would be in a position to protect hotspots of biodiversity and conserve habitats that are essential for the survival of diverse species (Lepczyk et al., 2017). In addition, mapping has been proven to be helpful to recognize wildlife corridors that allow movement and genetic exchange between habitats that are fragmented. Such type of a connectivity, as is indicated through recent research (Janiszek & Krzysztofik, 2023) (Zellmer & Goto, 2022), not just extends its support to ecosystem resilience but it is also instrumental in contributing to necessary services that they offer, like water purification, pollination, and carbon sequestration. The importance of mapping green infrastructure goes beyond ecological considerations. It is innately associated with social well-being and quality of life. Having access to green spaces have been exhibited to make a positive impact on physical and mental health, thus acting as a contributory factor to stress reduction and enhanced psychological states (Browning et al., 2022). Such advantages are not distributed across communities in an equal manner, which frequently results in disparities in access to nature and its interlinked benefits. With GI mapping, policymakers and urban planners will be able to identify areas that lack green spaces, enabling them to initiate targeted interventions that enable equitable access to such vital resources. An approach of this kind would be at par with the notion of environmental justice, intending to build healthier and inclusive communities for all (James et al., 2015).

From an economic perspective, mapping GI enables multifaceted benefits. Green spaces are known to increase the value of properties within urban regions, thus creating desirable neighborhoods which tend to attract residents and businesses as well (Garcia, 2019). Furthermore, the existence of GI has been associated with lowered costs of healthcare, as access to nature tends to promote physical activity while contributing to enhanced well-being on the whole (Butt et al., 2018). With a quantification of economic benefits from GI, policymakers and urban planners will be able to make a compelling case to drive investments towards expansion and preservation of green spaces.

Figure 3: Green Infrastructure Functionality Map (Interreg, 2020)



The significance of identifying and mapping green infrastructure in a territory is something that cannot be undermined. It acts as a vital step in terms of tackling the challenges presented through urbanization and climate change while nurturing resilience of the ecology, improving social well-being and unlocking economic opportunities. Given its significance, this chapter focuses on exploring the importance of identifying and mapping green infrastructure within a territory. At the same time, it will also delve into the geographical delimitations of green infrastructure.

## 3.6 Techniques and Tools for Mapping Green Infrastructure

Loss of biodiversity and climate changes are the foremost two challenges of current times (UNESCO, 2018). At every level, there has been a decline in biodiversity across the world and at rates that are unprecedented, mainly owing to changes in land and sea use, climate change, direct exploitation of organisms, invasive alien species, pollution, and these will be on a downward spiral in case no concrete action is initiated (Newbold et al., 2015). In order to sustain their functions, ecosystems are losing their resilience, which will eventually endanger our water and food security, deteriorate our health, and threaten our socio-economic well-being (McGill et al., 2015). As per estimates, it has been projected that around 68 per cent of the world's growing population would be residing in urban regions by 2050, which will eventually augment the pressure for developing grey infrastructure for mobility, housing and economic use. In tandem with other human initiatives, urbanization would continue to have severe repercussions for providing benefits of ecosystem to people and biodiversity. Increase in demand for new residential spaces is a key driver of policy within urban land use planning and management, road constructions also project a global threat to biodiversity (Meijer et al., 2018). Regardless of the diverse initiatives dedicated towards conservation of nature and widening protected areas, there is failure in terms of meeting Aichi targets, as set by the United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity (Tittensor et al., 2014).

Schemes towards nature conservation have conventionally concentrated on preserving species and safeguard wilderness but recently it has witnessed an evolution into a holistic approach that is more oriented towards nature and people (Mace, 2014), where management of landscape is done with the objective to support humanity and biodiversity over a long-term period (Kremen & Merenlender, 2018). This new model considers the vital interactions between nature and people while evaluating economic, social, and ecological systems on the whole. Such a novel framing demonstrates the reliance on ecosystems while stressing that people are part of nature, not apart from it (Georgina Mace, 2016). Considering that degradation of land is one amongst the leading threats to biodiversity and natural habitats, the significance of our natural capital in terms of decision-making needs to be better stressed upon to enhance sustainability within landscape management (Piers Blaikie & Harold Brookfield, 2015). Such kind of recognition has given rise to the notion of GI for helping conserve a functional network of ecosystem based on land-use planning. GI elucidates an interlinked network of semi-natural and natural areas designed and managed to deliver an extensive array of social, economic, and ecological advantages (European Environment Agency, 2014b).

GI pertains to a network of semi-natural and natural aspects that offer necessary ecosystem services within peri-urban and urban areas. With continuous growth in urbanization, incorporation of GI within urban planning has proved to be vital for encouraging sustainability, resilience, and well-being of urban people on the whole (Semeraro et al., 2017). In order to effectively integrate GI within urban planning, precise and in-depth mapping is necessary. This makes it imperative to examine the tools and techniques that are used for mapping GI.

Geospatial technologies like Geographic Information Systems (GIS) and remote sensing, form the crux in GI mapping. GIS enables the incorporation of varied spatial data sources, facilitating planners to identify appropriate locations for GI components, evaluate connectivity, and prioritize the efforts at conservation (Thekkan et al., 2022). Remote sensing technologies on the other hand, comprise of satellite imagery and LiDAR (Light Detection and Ranging), offering high-resolution data for detecting cover changes in vegetation, land use transformations, and urban expansion (Bartesaghi-Koc et al., 2019). Apart from physical delineation, mapping of GI would comprise of quantification of the ecosystem services provided by such green components (Ayanu et al., 2012). With the help of ecosystem mapping, it is possible to assess the contribution made by GI, like wetlands, parks, and urban forests, to services such as water regulation, air purification, and recreational opportunities. Similarly, approaches such as InVEST (Integrated Valuation of Ecosystem Services and Tradeoffs) present frameworks for quantification of such services, allowing a cost-benefit analysis to be carried out on GI projects.

In addition, effective mapping of GI would also take under its ambit the cultural and social dimensions by considering the needs and preferences of communities. Participatory mapping tends to engage local residents for identification of areas with recreational or cultural importance. Incorporating such insights with physical GI features improves the involvement of community and the cultural pertinence of green infrastructure initiatives (Abualhagag & Valánszki, 2020). Further, technological developments present innovative techniques for GI mapping. Drones (Unmanned Aerial Vehicles), offer an efficient and flexible way to capture images with high resolution for analyzing vegetation and assessing land cover (Budiharto et al., 2021). Moreover, data that is crowdsourced and mobile applications enable people to make contributions towards GI mapping, nurturing community engagement and urban planning that is collaborative. In order to smoothen the intricate procedure of GI mapping and decision-making, incorporated decision support systems are fast gaining prominence. Such platforms are known to blend spatial data, analytical tools, and inputs of stakeholders to aid planners in identification of optimal GI configurations, taking the social, ecological, and economic factors into account.

## 3.7 Case Studies of Successful Mapping of Green Infrastructure

### 3.7.1 Vancouver, Canada: Green Infrastructure Network Mapping

The city of Vancouver undertook an ambitious project for mapping their green infrastructure network with the help of advanced geospatial technologies. The purpose of this initiative was to develop an extensive inventory of urban green spaces, which comprised of street trees, parks, and wetlands. The project used a blend of high-resolution satellite imagery, LiDAR data, and ground-level surveys to precisely capture the level and distribution of green assets (Taya Lynn Triffo, 2022). One amongst the unique features of the approach adopted by the city of Vancouver referred to its incorporation of citizen science. Community members were actively involved in the process of data collection, verification, and mapping. This was instrumental in not just enhancing the precision of the map, but it also nurtured a feeling of ownership and pride amongst residents for their local green spaces. The resulting green infrastructure map turned out to be a valuable instrument for urban planners, which helped them to arrive at informed decisions pertaining to efforts towards conservation, infrastructure development, and land-use planning (Taya Lynn Triffo, 2022).



Figure 4: Existing and Proposed Greenways in Vancouver (City of Vancouver, 2022)

#### 3.7.2 Singapore: Geospatial Technologies for Urban Green Mapping

The city of Singapore is densely populated and restricted with limited land resources, realized the significance of mapping their green infrastructure to improve urban livability. The city implemented a Green Plan 2030, with the help of cutting-edge geospatial technologies that comprised of LiDAR, and also multispectral imagery, for creating an extensive map of green spaces, water bodies, and vegetation cover (Sini, 2020). The major components of Singapore's mapping approach comprised of real-time data updates and accessible digital platforms. The data was consistently updated for reflecting changes within the urban landscape, and the map was made available to the public through user-friendly applications. Such an

approach not only allowed the engagement of citizens but also supported urban planning decisions that accorded priority to sustainable development and green spaces (Sini, 2020).

Figure 5: Green and Blue Mapping of Singapore Source: (Urban Redevelopment Authority, 2024)



The concept of CIAG adopted by Singapore is based in the government principle of space optimization, as per which it has recommended land productivity maximization (Ministry of National Development, 2015). It is presently being executed at an exhaustive level on the basis of novel typologies of towns that have been defined by public housing with an increased population density acquired with new standards for high-rises, and novel environment-friendly living solutions gained from skyrise greenery. Similarly, it has been posited by Tan, Wang and Sia (2013), that on the basis of novel experiments in the domain of green architecture, the city with scarce land has come to be termed as vertical garden city, which offers a valuable lesson to the world that planning could include more than one function on the same land-coverage.

#### 3.7.3 Copenhagen, Denmark: Participatory Green Infrastructure Mapping

As a city, Copenhagen in Denmark is known for its commitment to livability and sustainability. They initiated an approach for mapping their green infrastructure. It was recognized that community engagement and local knowledge was essential to capture their green assets from a holistic perspective (Rusche et al., 2019). In order to realize this, Copenhagen introduced a mobile application that enabled residents to report green spaces, recommend regions where green development could be facilitated, and share information regarding their preferred natural areas. The approach adopted by the city of Copenhagen, the participatory approach, was instrumental in not just enriching the dataset but it also empowered citizens to proactively make contributions to the conservation and improvement of their environment (Rusche et al., 2019). This technique led to the creation of a highly exhaustive and precise map of green infrastructure, reflecting both the emotional links and physical assets that citizens shared with these spaces. As a matter of fact, the UGI isolation map of Copenhagen reveals robust links with the 'fingers', that are settlement extensions alongside the key corridors of transport. Nonetheless, for every central region with fingers, there was found to be a similar picture of isolation as in the city centre.



Figure 6: Green Structure of Copenhagen Source: (Caspersen & Olafsson, 2010)

### 3.7.4 Portland, United States: Urban Greenprint for Equitable Green Infrastructure

The city of Portland, in Oregon adopted a rather holistic approach towards green infrastructure mapping by incorporating economic, ecological, and social data. The project on urban greenprint intended to prioritize the development of green infrastructure while ensuring accessibility and equity across varied communities (Ahmad et al., 2018).The project overlaid habitat quality, connectivity, and social vulnerability data to develop a spatially explicit map that guided initiatives towards conservation and identified areas for expansion of green infrastructure.

Figure 7: Distribution of Diverse GI Elements in Portland Source: (Shandas & Hellman, 2022)



By tackling concerns on social equity, the urban greenprint project illustrated that impactful green infrastructure mapping must not exclusively concentrate on ecological factors but also take under its ambit the dissemination of advantages and access over various socio-economic groups. The map acted as a strategic tool for policymakers and planners to arrive at decisions that were well-informed and promoted both environmental sustainability and social inclusivity (Ahmad et al., 2018).

### 3.7.5 Stockholm, Sweden: Green Infrastructure Mapping

In recent times, Stockholm has emerged as a ground-breaking example of effective green infrastructure mapping. The commitment of the city to environmental sustainability resulted in the implementation of an extensive mapping project focused on identification, preservation, and improvement of its green spaces (Xiu et al., 2016). By harnessing advanced geospatial technologies and engagement from the community, Stockholm has managed to create a harmonious blend of urban development and natural landscapes. The GI mapping project within Stockholm comprised of the collaboration and coordination of several stakeholders which included environmental organizations, governmental bodies, and residents as well. With the help of satellite imagery, ecological surveys, and GIS data, the project was able to successfully map forests, existing parks, wetlands, and other green spaces around the city (Wikström, 2020). Such kind of mapping not only helped in evaluating the present state of GI but also guided decisions pertaining to future urban planning and development.



Figure 8: Green Infrastructure Mapping Stockholm (Furberg et al., 2020)

One of the remarkable outcomes from this endeavor refers to green corridor optimization that links various parts of the city. Such corridors not just provided recreational spaces for citizens, but also acted as key habitats for wildlife, encouraging biodiversity in an urban region (Wikström, 2020). Furthermore, the mapping project was instrumental in identifying regions that were prone to flooding, enabling targeted green solutions like rain gardens and permeable surfaces to be incorporated, thus overcoming possible risks. Success in Stockholm's GI mapping could be credited to their wholesome approach, which merged data-driven insights with active involvement of people from the community. The outcome is a highly resilient and sustainable landscape, where the incorporation of nature into urban planning has improved the quality of life for their residents, while protecting the environment for generations in future.

## 3.8 Provision of Ecosystem Services, Biodiversity, and Ecological Connectivity in Territorial Planning

Ecosystem services (ES) that are termed as advantages that individuals acquire through the ecosystem, have an integral role to play for people around the world (Costanza et al., 1997). Research pertaining to ecosystem services has widened its impact on territorial planning and landscape ecology, turning out to be a necessary focus of the movement on sustainability. Such an incorporation offers the scope to improve usefulness, usability, legitimacy, and effectiveness of ES in territorial planning with the creation of ES that is basic to the well-being of humans. ES has been exhaustively known to be largely significant, therefore, there is a need to apply it in a practical manner and become a potent instrument for environmental and landuse planning to aid decision-makers (Lerouge et al., 2017),(Woodruff & BenDor, 2016). Proper polices are vital for incorporating ES in territorial planning (Grêt-Regamey et al., 2017). It has been indicated through studies carried out in the real world that ES has been revealed to enable the process of decision-making that caters to various needs (Cortinovis & Geneletti, 2018). Knowledge about ES is realized at a conceptual level on the basis of reframing dialogues and increasing the awareness of stakeholders, at a strategic level by extending support to policy and planning, and at a very crucial level by directing particular decisions (McKenzie et al., 2014).

Scientists in 2011 had suggested that ES would have a pedagogic role to play in modern territorial planning (Colding, 2011). The notion of ES can act as a supplement to current instruments pertaining to policy and those that concentrate exclusively on a particular sectoral interest or task (Hauck et al., 2013), incorporate ecosystem services within their territorial planning and decision making. ES is known to have the scope for reinforcing urban nature and considering the advantages from planning (Hansen et al., 2015), improve the quality of life and resilience within cities, while recognizing an increasing array of socio-cultural impacts and economic costs (Gómez-Baggethun & Barton, 2013). Developing ES approaches would play a key role in contributing to environmental effect mitigation and enhance urban resilience. Planners are well-aware of this and so are keen to incorporate it within their plans (Mascarenhas et al., 2014). As far as comparative models are concerned, ES has emerged as a robust instrument for planning, that can enable achievement of sustainable development goals and an enhanced understanding about trade-offs.

Similarly, incorporating information on biodiversity and principles of conservation within territorial planning, will enable decision-makers to lower the adverse impacts arising from development, on biodiversity such as streamflow modification, forest fragmentation, and introduction of invasive species. Biodiversity as a term would refer to the variety of life on earth at every level, from species to ecosystems, and will also take under its ambit the ecological, evolutionary and cultural procedures that tend to sustain life (Allred et al., 2021). Intricacies within natural processes and systems which sustain biodiversity would not willingly incorporate within the conventional framework of territorial planning, that would frequently comprise of parcel scale decision-making, with scant attention being accorded to biodiversity resources shared with neighbouring communities or the wider ecological setting. Such kind of a mismatch could lead to developmental patterns that are rather sprawling that utilize territories in an inefficient manner and tends to disproportionately impact biodiversity.

At the same time, ecological connectivity pertains to the level to which a territory enables or hampers movement within resource patches (Perrin et al., 2022), or the ease with which individuals will be able to move around within the territory. However, it would also comprise of the flow or movement of abiotic factors like water and nutrients. Ecological connectivity is a significant condition for sustaining the unhindered movement of species and enabling the flow of natural procedures that sustain life within earth (Collard et al., 2020). Though loss of habitat continues to be basic threat to biodiversity, ecological connectivity warrants the need to maintain it within and among habitats in terrestrial and aquatic systems that enable dispersal, migration, re-colonization, prevention of in-breeding, and sustaining several other ecological procedures. In addition, with species being compelled to alter their distribution by climate change, as a response to the changing conditions of the environment within their conventional range, sustaining ecological connectivity could act as the lynchpin for the persistence of several wildlife populations.

Given these factors, this chapter will delve into providing ecosystem services, biodiversity, and ecological connectivity within territorial planning.

## 3.9 Zoning of Territorial Planning Instruments to Consider Ecosystem Services, Biodiversity, and Ecological Connectivity.

Territorial planning is a basic tool used for managing land use and development for realizing diverse economic, social and environmental objectives. Of late, there has been an increasing recognition about the necessity for incorporating ecosystem services, biodiversity conservation, and ecological connectivity within zoning and territorial planning instruments (McShane et al., 2011). Such a transition

projects an understanding about the key role that natural ecosystems have to play in lending support to human well-being and the pressing need to tackle loss of biodiversity and fragmentation of habitat. Ecosystem services are the advantages that humans stand to gain from nature, and this includes air, clean water, food, recreational and cultural opportunities (Ronchi, 2021). Incorporating ES within territorial planning could result in increasingly resilient and sustainable communities. Through the zoning of green spaces for particular ecosystems services, planners would be in a position to ensure that vital resources are safeguarded and are existent to cater to present and future requirements. For instance, it is possible to zone wetlands for purification of water and flood control, while forests can be marked for carbon sequestration and timber production. One effective approach would refer to execute assessments on ES at the municipal or regional level (Helfenstein & Kienast, 2014). Such type of assessments could be instrumental in recognizing regions with high ecological significance and these can then be prioritized for protection or sustainable use. With the integration of such assessments within decisions on zoning, planners can ensure that development would be compatible with the provision of ES, while reducing the adverse impacts on natural systems (Pomara & Lee, 2021).

On the other hand, biodiversity is necessary for stability in the ecosystem and resilience as well. In order to conserve biodiversity, it is imperative that territorial planning comprises of zoning that safeguards and improves natural habitats. This can be realized with the establishment of protected areas, zones for habitat restoration, and wildlife corridors (Nilon et al., 2017). Zoning for biodiversity conservation would ensure that vital habitats like forests, wetlands, and grasslands are protected from incompatible land uses such as industrial initiatives or urban development. In addition, zoning would also be instrumental in tackling the requirements of endangered and threatened species with the designation of particular areas as refuges or habitats for such species. This type of a proactive approach towards zoning would facilitate in preventing additional declines in biodiversity and support the recovery of endangered wildlife populations.

Ecological connectivity pertains to the capability of species to move and interact over landscapes (Tabor et al., 2019). It is imperative for sustaining genetic diversity, facilitating species to adapt to changing environmental situations, and supporting functions of ecosystems like seed dispersal and pollination. Zoning has an intrinsic role to play in ensuring ecological connectivity on the basis of designating wildlife corridors and green infrastructure networks (Tabor et al., 2019). The process of zoning for ecological connectivity frequently comprises of recognizing key areas where it is imperative to have wildlife movement, and later creating zones that enable such movement. For example, zoning might designate a wildlife corridor that links two protected areas or even set up greenways aside rivers which lend support to riparian ecosystems and migration of aquatic species (Jiang et al., 2022). Such decisions in zoning are instrumental in overcoming the detrimental impacts of habitat fragmentation which enable species to thrive in a connected environment.

Though the integration of ecosystem services, biodiversity conservation, and ecological connectivity within zoning is vital for sustainable land use, it certainly presents some challenges (Birkhofer et al., 2015). A challenge here would refer to the necessity for interdisciplinary collaboration between planners, economists, and ecologists, and other experts to execute extensive evaluation and arrive at informed decisions pertaining to zoning (Vizzarri et al., 2015). Furthermore, it is necessary to have public engagement for ensuring that zoning projects community values and necessities while also taking environmental conservation under its ambit. In addition, zoning for ecosystem services, biodiversity, and ecological connectivity warrants the need for a long-term perspective. The advantages that can be derived from this kind of zoning might not be visible immediately, rather they will be active contributors to the long-term resilience and health of communities and ecosystems (Van der Biest et al., 2020).

Incorporating ecosystem services, biodiversity conservation, and ecological connectivity within zoning and territorial planning tools would be crucial for realizing sustainable land use and environmental protection. Zoning for ecosystem services

ensures that the advantages presented through nature are conserved and are accessible to society. Zoning for biodiversity conservation tends to protect vital species and habitats, while zoning for ecological connectivity facilitates the movement of wildlife and helps in sustaining genetic diversity. By tackling these facets in territorial planning, communities are in a better position to balance development with the conservation of necessary natural resources. Such efforts will be instrumental in contributing to the well-being of society on the whole and the long-term health of the planet.

## 3.10 Findings: Examples of Successful Zoning for Green Infrastructure in Territorial Plans

#### 3.10.1 Vojvodina, Serbia

A classic example of this has been observed in Vojvodina, Serbia in central Europe. According to Bajić *et al* (2022), the principle of connectivity takes under its ambit an array of ecosystems services within the hybrid notion of green infrastructure, that can be perceived from the perspective of territorial cohesion. A multifunctional importance can be observed in the components of GI, which is projected not only in its ecological but also their visual, cultural, and social importance at a local level. Additional research pertaining to the dimensions of territorial cohesion, from the setting of application of GI within territorial planning at varying scales, need to focus on cross-sectoral research (agriculture, forestry, water management etc). A cohesive visual and environmental evaluation of GI would be a necessary practical and methodological initiative that could offer guidelines for designing GI components. Through an application of a research approach which is transdisciplinary in nature, wherein population from local areas also actively take part, it would be essential to examine the visual and environmental qualifications that GI dots need to have.

Following an enhancement on the basis of landscape design, they can turn out to be lucrative recreational multifunctional green spaces that demonstrate the eco-visual territorial cohesion of the urban-rural continuum.

### 3.10.2 Portland, Oregon, United States

The region of Portland in Oregon has been frequently indicated as a model for demonstrating successful zoning in terms of GI. The code for zoning in the city of Portland, tends to prioritize environmental sustainability while promoting the integration of permeable pavements, green roofs, and native vegetation within urban developments. Moreover, the city of Portland is known to adopt an innovative tool for zoning which is known as 'ecoroofs', which provide bonuses for density to developers who are known to add green roofs within their projects. Such an approach has resulted in a major increment in green roofs around the city, offer several advantages, which was inclusive of stormwater management, and lowered urban heat island effects (Ismail et al., 2012).

### 3.10.3 Freiburg, Germany

The city of Freiburg in Germany is famous for their practices towards sustainable development, and zoning for GI has a vital role to play in driving its success. The zoning regulations adopted by the city accord high priority to mixed land use, streets that are pedestrian friendly, and green spaces. Remarkably, the Vauban district of Freiburg has executed stringent codes for zoning that encourages sustainable transportation, automobile-free living, and green building design. Such an approach has converted the district of Vauban into a paradigm for sustainable urban living (Mössner, 2015).

#### 3.10.4 Singapore

Singapore, as a state is heavily populated, and has adopted GI zoning within their plans to tackle the present urban challenges. The Planning Act and Development Control Regulation of the city warrant the integration of water bodies and green spaces within novel developments. Such type of an approach has led to an impressive network of green corridors, parks, and waterways that lower the risk of floods, improves biodiversity, and enhance the resilience of the city to climate change (Sia et al., 2023).

#### 3.10.5 Melbourne, Australia

The scheme for planning in Melbourne, Australia illustrates GI zoning. The zoning codes within the city promote green streetscapes, mature tree retention, while mandating the inclusion of public open spaces in new developments. The commitment of the city of Melbourne to GI has resulted in the creation of the 'Green Wedge', a network of secured agricultural land and natural resources that encompass the city. This measure is vital in protecting biodiversity while sustaining the green lungs of the city (Willams, 2001).

### 3.10.6 Vienna, Austria

The concept of GI has been incorporated by the city of Vienna, within their territorial plans and received much success. The zoning codes of the city stress upon public parks, green corridors, and urban agriculture. Such zoning practices have made a major contribution to the reputation of the city of Vienna as one among the greenest cities across Europe. The extensive network of green spaces within the city of Vienna, which is inclusive of the famed Prater Park, has not only enhanced the quality of life of the people of the city, but it has also improved the ecological resilience of the city (Haase et al., 2017).

#### 3.10.7 Copenhagen, Denmark

The city of Copenhagen, in Denmark has been appreciated owing to their progressive approach to GI zoning. The zoning regulations of the city are framed such that it encourages permeable surfaces, green roofs, and extensive bicycle infrastructure. The blend of GI and an urban layout that is cycling-friendly has converted Copenhagen into a leader in terms of sustainable urban development. It is frequently projected as an excellent model for cities across Europe to lower carbon emissions and improve urban sustainability (Cucca, 2012).

### 3.10.8 Barcelona, Spain

Barcelona in Spain has made substantial in-roads in terms of incorporating GI within territorial planning. As per the zoning codes of Barcelona, the creation of green connectors has been emphasized, which connects natural areas and parks to create a consistent network. Remarkably, the city's initiative 'Superblocks' was developed with the intention to reclaim streets for pedestrians, and green spaces through a planned restriction of vehicular traffic (Grădinaru & Hersperger, 2019). Such kind of an innovation in the strategy for zoning improves both urban experience and the environmental quality as well, thereby illustrating the scope for implementing GI within European cities that are highly populated (Slätmo et al., 2019).

### 3.10.9 Amsterdam, Netherlands

The city of Amsterdam has always garnered much praise for their urban planning which is way advanced than its contemporaries. As per the zoning regulations that currently exist within the city, priority has been accorded to green walls, green roofs, and incorporating features pertaining to water within urban design. Moreover, the commitment of Amsterdam to sustainable building practices and green transportation has resulted in a highly sustainable and healthier urban environment (Mazur-Belzyt, 2019). The initiatives driven by the city of Amsterdam have effectively indicated that zoning can prove to be a robust instrument in facilitating the development of cities that are not only resilient but greener as well.

The examples presented above of cities around the world act as stellar models that reveal effective zoning for GI within territorial plans. The experiences that these cities have gained highlight the significance of community engagement, political will, and tools for flexible zoning towards encouraging urban development that is sustainable in nature. Nonetheless, there would be challenges that emerge from coordination between agencies, cost of land, and long-term maintenance which must not be ignored. By gaining lessons from such examples, and taking into account the inherent associated challenges, planners from urban regions will be in a position to build strategies for zoning that prioritize GI, nurturing highly livable and sustainable cities across Europe. Zoning, that is successful in terms of GI in territorial planning would be necessary for facilitating the creation of livable, resilient, and sustainable cities. Through an examination of successful examples from cities across Europe and other developed nations, the key factors that play a contributory role to success in zoning, which is inclusive of community engagement, political will, effective monitoring, and flexible instruments for zoning. Nonetheless, challenges that exist in the form of long-term maintenance, land cost, and coordination amongst agencies should not be overlooked. Deriving learning from these examples and taking the challenges into account, urban planners will be able to develop strategies for zoning that encourage the incorporation of GI within the fabric of cities, eventually offering advantages to the environment and the people as well.

# **Chapter 4**

# Public Participation in Designing Green Infrastructure – Systematic Review

### 4.1 Background

The notion of Green Infrastructure (GI) is not only about strategic planning, but it is all about implementation too. The European Commission states that GI can be defined as, "networks of high-quality semi-natural and natural areas that have been strategically planned and comprises of other environmental aspects, that are structured and managed such as to deliver an extensive array of ecosystem services while safeguarding diversity in urban and rural settings." (European commission, 2023). As of now, cities specifically are undergoing major transformations owing to demographic and economic changes and the process of urbanization that includes this kind of change. This results in intricate environmental challenges and problems like pollution, biodiversity loss, excess population, and increased consumption of land. Furthermore, owing to the dense working, housing, and information networks, cities offer a commendable foundation for new governance forms and planning that are helpful in developing solutions to intricate environmental challenges (Young & McPherson, 2013). As a concept for strategic spatial planning, GI would be able to cope with and respond to such societal challenges and changes (Vargas-Hernández & Zdunek-Wielgołaska, 2021b). At the ground level, GI is in a position to tackle social, environmental, and economic issues by providing ecosystem services and the advantages that such services like protection of species, recreation, and quality of place (Kabisch, 2015). These aspects signify the importance of GI within cities and regions.

It is quite common to limit resources for GI planning and management, given that the advantages from GI investments are not easily captured or transferred (C. Mell, 2015). Significantly, it has been emphasized through research that urban green is a pertinent urban amenity in terms of delivering urban quality of life. However, considering that GI is important but there are still setbacks in adoption, it would be imperative to involve public participation in the delivery of GI planning. This can be deemed as a key issue within practice of planning, given that the challenges mentioned above would lead to low integration and consideration of input from stakeholders. Nonetheless, owing to the tremendous social advantages offered by GI, all groups within society need to be able to contribute towards its planning and execution, in order to ensure that they meet its requirements. This indicates the significance of effective and efficient public participation in designing GI, given that the expertise of local stakeholders could progress our understanding and thus the outcome of GI initiatives.

Rowe & Frewer (2004) offer a broad definition of public participation as practice that involves consulting and brings in members from the public while setting up agendas, policy making, and decision-making initiatives of players who are responsible for the development of policy. (Finka et al., 2017) have defined public participation within planning as a procedure where the opinions and standpoints of all concerned stakeholders are incorporated within the process of decision-making. In the case of planning procedures, stakeholders would refer to individuals or organizations that have an actual interest in a specific issue that is being taken into account as they could be directly impacted by the planning decision. There could be many ways through which public participation in GI planning could occur. These would vary on the basis of the involvement level of actors in which stage of the decision-making process they would be taking part in. It has been argued by Rall, Hansen, and Pauleit (2019), the development of participation would hinge on factors like civic society development, public disagreement, and public awareness or access to information. It would also include the necessity for involvement within public discussions. Participation has been characterized by Vaňo, Stahl Olafsson, and Mederly (2021), as a dual-edged sword where on one hand the planners are supposed to be prepared and trained to conduct work and collaborate with people and other stakeholders, whereas on the other hand, players are expected to be skilled and active in decision-making which is inclusive of the process of planning.
No.	Normative Rationale	
1.	Influencing Decisions	Public participation enables those who are impacted by a decision to influence that decision.
2.	Enhancing Democratic Capacity	Public participation allows participants to build their citizenship skills like (communication, interest articulation, and cooperation) while also offering participants an opportunity to exercise their citizenship actively.
3.	Social Learning	Publicparticipationfacilitatesdeliberationsamongstparticipantsthereby resulting in social learning.
4.	Empowering Marginalized Individuals and Groups	Modifies the power distribution in society, thereby empowering individuals and groups that are marginalized.
	Substantive Rationale	
1.	Leveraging Local Knowledge and Information	Public participation improves the decision quality outcomes by presenting decision-makers with socially and environmentally pertinent knowledge and information.
2.	Integrating Value-Based and Experimental Knowledge	Public participation improves the decision quality outcomes by presenting decision-makers with pertinent value-based and experimental knowledge.
3.	Assessing Robustness of Information from Other Sources	The quality of decision outcome is increased through public participation,

Table 1: Objectives of Public Participation (Uittenbroek et al., 2019)

		by evaluating the robustness of information derived from other sources.
	Instrumental Rationale	
1.	Producing Legitimacy	The decision-making process will be legitimized with public participation, thereby presenting legitimacy to authority and enabling project execution.
2.	Conflict Resolution	Public participation will be instrumental in identifying conflicts and resolving it prior to arriving at final decisions and thereby allow project execution.

In view of the above aspects, this chapter will attempt to investigate public participation in green infrastructure planning.

#### 4.2 Techniques and Tools for Involving the Public in Green Infrastructure Design

The scope of public participation schemes that have been appropriately implemented is well-known, and innovative techniques and tools have been consistently built to enhance the scope of stakeholder participation within GI design, planning and implementation. The fundamental approach to public participation would be Arnstein's ladder of participation (Arnstein, 1969). Arnstein (1969) has suggested three key types of participation (tokenism, non-participation, and citizen power) within the ladder which is inclusive of eight rungs. This ladder principle has been adopted by several people not just to consider the participation of people but also to ensure stakeholder participation procedures that are highly communicative in general, which have been later revised by changing or extending many rungs to detail

the level of involvement. It also takes into account highly investigated and developed approaches to participation employed at present. Particularly when the levels of involvement are high, varied techniques have come up over the period of time, and specifically, techniques that tackled greater involvement levels, like citizen control or public empowerment, were developed (Chamhuri et al., 2015). However, as posited by Luyet et al., (2012), there are five levels of participation such as information, consultation, collaboration, co-decision, and empowerment. Though the level of information has been defined as something that merely elucidates the projects to stakeholders, consultation goes a step ahead and seeks their opinions, which could be taken into account during decision-making (Luyet et al., 2012). Collaboration would be the same as consultation, but it ensures that the suggestions given by stakeholders are taken into consideration. While co-decision would indicate that stakeholders and public bodies work in tandem with one another to arrive at an agreement, empowerment would imply that all power in terms of decision-making is delegated to stakeholders. In this instance, the public body might only play the role of a moderator. Association to the degree of involvement, there would be an array of common methods of public participation that are possibly able to realize some level of involvement (Luyet et al., 2012).

The key question would revolve around which of the stakeholders who have been identified need to be involved at varying levels of participation. The answer to this question would be vital to the choice of the technique of participation and has a major impact on the process of participation on the whole. The execution of an inappropriate level of involvement might lead to conferring an inappropriate power level to a stakeholder and in a participation technique that is unsuitable. But it is unfortunate that there is not a standard approach for choosing the right technique or tool of participation, but a list of factors that needs to be taken into account has been presented by Luyet et al., (2012). The difference between expected and realized degrees of stakeholder participation that are held by project leaders and engaged stakeholders would be defined as the so-called 'Arnstein Gap' (Bailey & Grossardt, 2006). Yet another horizontal layer that can be added within the five-step ladder model would be 'performative' participation. This term elucidates stakeholders who are physically active, and interventions led by experts in the public domain with the utilization of materials like community gardening (Reed, 2008).

The variation from the typical, primarily communicative approaches to participation like meetings or roundtables, would be the focus of performative participation on joint designing and execution on the ground. Significantly, performative participation can be possible within every involvement level. Attributes of performative participatory planning would include focus on outcomes, materiality, audience-orientation, and open outcome. It can be specifically applied within GI projects owing to the availability of adequate public space and the tremendous opportunities presented by green areas for stakeholders to engage in active design and act spatial in a do-it-yourself way. Thus, it would be an apt strategy for adaptation to cope with the present challenges in planning, like restricted resources or brownfields being allocated for interim uses in public spaces by extending support to coproduction within stakeholders (Chygryn et al., 2020). Performative participation complements the conventional communicative approaches to participation by offering an alternative scope for individuals to take part in the planning process, and the planners for obtaining feedback. Owing to its attributes, it has substantial scope to activate public, particularly groups that can be hard-to-reach, as particular knowledge, including knowledge related to language, is not needed, and several other techniques that favored individuals who were well-educated. Nonetheless, performative participation does have its own restrictions, as its success hinges on stakeholder engagement the openness on the part of local planners (Melnychuk et al., 2021).

#### 4.3 Methodology

In order to carry out this research, a systematic review method was adopted. A systematic review is deemed as a research approach that comprises of a summary of findings that have been derived through previous research executed by various researchers, all under the setting of a particular research question. The uniqueness of a systematic review from a conventional review would lie in the fact that it involves a rigorous process of identification, selection, synthesizing, and high-quality evidence with the help of an explicit and extensive process. The basic goal of a systematic review is to filter through the existing evidence, by carefully choosing data that is most reliable and pertinent for tackling a particular question of research. This technique would be crucial in informing policy and offering practical guidance for decision-making. Essentially, it is at par with the existing trend to approaches that are evidence-based in policymaking, while ensuring that decisions are based on the most appropriate data.

## 4.4 Findings: Case Studies of Successful Public Participation in Green Infrastructure Planning and Design

An investment in Amersfoort city in the Netherlands comprised of converting a hospital site into a new city park while facilitating an expansion to an adjacent city park. In this instance, the citizens and the municipality came together to act as equal partners within this project of redevelopment (Wilker et al., 2016). In order to offer a structure to the said partnership, a core group was created which was comprised of representatives from every pertinent group of stakeholders. The key aspect within this process was that there was no top-down or bottom-up approach, rather there was an authentic cooperation with authority equally distributed among stakeholders and all stakeholders jointly focused on realizing the objective on the basis of creative deliberations and workshops for providing ideas and create a joint plan. The core group presented updates on ideas and objectives of the project, its needs, and restrictions pertaining to money and time to the citizens using social media platforms, and an array of meetings that enabled public to respond to such ideas and plans for the park. In addition, open space methods and world cafes were utilized at the meetings to share the ideas of participants on sub-themes in small groups (Wilker et al., 2016). Over a period of eight months, a plan for redevelopment and management was designed and structured. Owing to this concept of understanding the shared interests of administration and other stakeholders, the participation methods utilized were mainly an aspect of decision-making process and thus indicated a comparatively high level of stakeholder participation.

Similarly, the case of Liege in Belgium can be considered as another successful example of public participation in GI planning and design. In the Liege, the focus was on revitalizing a park, that comprised of green spaces in the vicinity of an erstwhile military fort. The park was an integral aspect of the city's project, which was a strategic action plan that was created by the city of Liege, which involved an extensive participatory process (Wilker et al., 2016). The park's development contributed to the city's plan of designing and developing green spaces, sports and cultural facilities, and recreational spaces. Workshops and round tables were used for consulting with stakeholders for evaluating the existing scenario, and for designing references and potential situations that would be applicable to the site. Another aspect associated with the degree of consultation was to carry out site visits and initiating opinion surveys, with was done in a paper or online format, enabling the identification of uses, perceptions, practices, and needs and desires of people. In addition, participation techniques like charrette and diverse initiatives have been utilized to consult during the process of planning. To encourage interest in the deliberation on the planning process and to promote the distribution of information, a social media platform was also established (Wilker et al., 2016).

The investment site in Sheffield, United Kingdom (UK) presents another example of open/green space provision, as an integral aspect of the South Yorkshire GI strategy, which aimed to direct limited resources to achieve diverse advantages and tackle existing weaknesses in terms of sustainability. The site for investment was underused and derelict within a deprived city-center community. As an outcome, it was recognized as a core site in Sheffield's 'Breathing Spaces' program to offer GI within the city center. Beginning in 2012, many workshops and meetings were carried out with the local community involving residents and friends of resident groups for discussing land transfer and the sustainability, maintenance, and design of a new park (Wilker et al., 2016).

In the same vein, the city of Stuttgart, in Germany is renowned for the innovative approach it adopts towards green infrastructure design, especially in the context of promoting green roofs. The green roof initiative of the city presents a notable example of public participation within sustainable urban development. The purpose of the initiative was to augment the number of green roofs within the city to tackle the urban heat island effect, enhance the quality of air, and improve biodiversity (Winker et al., 2022). Public participation was vital in terms of ensuring success within this initiative. The government in the city organized information campaigns, public workshops, and incentivized green roof installations through regulatory changes and financial support. Residents were motivated to share their opinions, concerns and ideas pertinent to green roofs, resulting in the development of a robust and extensive strategy that was in tandem with the environmental objectives of the city (Winker et al., 2022). This case of Stuttgart highlighted the significance of government-led initiatives that ensured active involvement of the public within the process of decision-making and offering practical incentives to facilitate GI design.

Another successful example of public participation within GI planning and design can be observed from the case of the Thames Tideway Tunnel project for wastewater management, in London, UK. The objective of this project was to restrict the overflow of sewage into the Thames River during heavy rainfall events, safeguarding aquatic ecosystems and enhancing water quality. Engagement with the public was a vital aspect that led to the success of the project (Loftus & March, 2019). Detailed consultation and communication with local communities were carried out to tackle the concerns and acquire feedback. Online surveys, public meetings, and information sessions were organized to ensure the residents were involved and

informed in the entire design, planning, and construction stages. In addition, the Thames Tideway Tunnel project was instrumental in setting up a community liaison working group that presented a direct channel for community feedback.

This case in a classic way illustrates that even GI projects of large scale with substantial technical intricacies could gain advantages from public participation. Involvement of the public was instrumental in developing trust, lowering opposition, and creating a sense of ownership among local communities.

The case studies above emphasized the significance of public participation in green infrastructure design within Europe. It was vital in demonstrating that projects that were successful were those that allowed active involvement of local communities, factor their inputs, and develop partnerships to ensure success in the long-term. The lessons thus learnt from these cases can provide valuable inputs for regions and cities trying to improve their green infrastructure while nurturing community support and sustainability.

## Chapter – 5

# European Model Cities for Green Infrastructure

### 5.1 Overview of European and Czech Republic Model Cities for Green Infrastructure

Several cities across Europe are attempting to enhance their urban environments as a medium to tackle change mitigation and adaptation while enhancing the quality of life at the same time for their people through nature-based solutions and green infrastructure (European Commission, 2023). Though the backbone of GI has been located by the European Commission within the Natura 2000 network of protected nature areas (European commission, 2023), the World Green Infrastructure Network highlights the significance and need for GI within cities for sustainable urban development (WGIN, 2021). Nature-based solutions, as an integral aspect of GI, refers to solutions that are supported and inspired by nature. With the use of natural features and nature, and procedures in terms of responding to problems, they are an addition or substitution to solutions that are purely technical, which further takes economic, ecological, and social values under its ambit based on their attributes that are multifunctional (European Commission, 2023).

A GI strategy has been in existence in Europe beginning in 2013 (European Environment Agency, 2014a), and member states were actively participating in many strategic and applied GI projects and initiatives (Beery et al., 2017). The endeavour of the GI strategy in Europe is to establish a balance between planet, people, and profit or sustainability, to put it simply. It is also stated that it does not warrant any legislation that is exclusively designed to drive execution, and rather calls for current policies, legislations, and use of mechanisms for funding (European Environment Agency, 2014a). While it is possible to perceive GI as a new facet of governance and policy, particularly within EU policy, research has been carried out in this domain right from the 1970s onwards, in the domain of landscape ecology, conservation biology, and protection of nature (Garmendia et al., 2016). Based on research, it has

been indicated that implementation of GI within European nations was mostly on measures to improve ecological networks, and the green space conservation was more common as compared to restoring and creating new green spaces (Davies & Lafortezza, 2017). This indicated a focus on biodiversity and nature protection.

Within Europe, Urban Green Infrastructure (UGI) has emerged as a promising notion at the time of developing multifunctional green space systems to tackle key problems arising from urbanization like increased social cohesion, encouraging a shift to the green economy, adapting to climate change, and biodiversity conservation (Pauleit et al., 2019). The Green Surge project of the European Commission, intended to additionally progress the development of UGI in European cities with a reinforcement of conceptual foundation of UGI, developing enhanced techniques and instruments for evaluating its state, advantages, and governance, while applying these to develop a stronger base of evidence (Pauleit et al., 2019). A transdisciplinary 'double helix' approach was applied through Green Surge for analyzing the link between urban blue and green spaces, its biodiversity and ecosystem services, and local planning and governance mechanisms (Jagt et al., 2016). The approach was attributed with a research design that was multilevel, comprising a blend of local and European level study. In addition, spatial and quantitative approaches for evaluating the links between biodiversity and green space were merged with action-oriented and qualitative approaches to evaluate the governance and planning of urban green infrastructure. Green Surge offered a distinct opportunity to bring together varied disciplines over a large consortium to further the theoretical framing of urban green infrastructure, enhance its evidence base, and recognize strategies and tools for successful incorporation of urban green infrastructure within cities in Europe. The urban green infrastructure thereby presents significant venues facilitating the creation of synergies and novel associations between environmental, social, and economic sectors (Pauleit et al., 2019b).

At the same time, local governments are in a position to opt from several instruments and tools to execute urban GI. For instance, the city of Belfast in Northern

Ireland has undertaken initiatives to plant around one million trees by 2035, to derive several advantages such as lowering flooding and carbon emissions, enhancing urban cooling and the quality of air, and also lending support to biodiversity, while enhancing mental and physical health of citizens (Council, 2023). The city of Stuttgart in Germany has been installing green-blue infrastructure and ventilation corridors to enhance the quality of air and lower extreme temperatures (Wicht et al., 2017). The Slovakian city of Bratislava has been making investments in facilities for retaining rainwater, tree planning and green roofs (Belčáková et al., 2019). The city of Maribor in Slovenia has structured a strategy to make the shift into a circular economy (Brglez et al., 2023), which is inclusive of regenerating areas that have degraded, with the implementation of natural solutions and blue and green infrastructures. Nature-based solutions have been extensively promoted within the city of Budapest in Hungary with an intention to enhance the environment, quality of life and sustainability within the city. In addition, Budapest has also been known to execute many projects to incorporate more green within the city and address problems associated to issues in climate change (Calliari et al., 2022).

On the other hand, it has been found by Skokanová & Slach (2020), that GI is a concept that is comparatively new in the Czech Republic. The definition of GI can be linked with the Czech Territorial System of Ecological Stability (TSES), which is deemed as a system that is interlinked with natural and also altered seminatural ecosystems to sustain the natural balance.

#### **5.2 Methodology**

In developing this chapter, the methods adopted were to find published peer reviewed papers pertinent to green infrastructure model cities across Europe. Though the concept of GI is quite dated and was first mentioned in the literature during 1994, its implementation has been actively initiated only in recent times. Regardless of the fact that GI as a concept was first introduced in 1994, its extensive implementation was confronted with major delays owing to diverse factors. First and foremost, conventional systems of infrastructure have been in existence for a long time, rendering it challenging to making the transition to newer, greener alternatives (Lindholm, 2017). In addition, the initial costs linked with implementation of green infrastructure have been frequently perceived to be prohibitive in comparison with traditional techniques, which acted as a deterrent to immediate adoption and implementation (Heidari et al., 2022). Furthermore, an absence of education and awareness regarding the advantages of green infrastructure among stakeholders, policymakers, and the general public, slowed down its acceptance and incorporation into mainstream practices. Moreover, bureaucratic procedures and regulatory frameworks have also had a rather hindering impact in terms of the prompt implementation of green infrastructure projects (C. Wang et al., 2020). In addition, inertia with industries that were not open to change, along with economic and political interests, have added to the delays in prioritizing initiatives towards GI. Irrespective of such challenges, increasing recognition of the pressing need for sustainable development and resilience towards climate change has been slowly adding momentum towards the widespread adoption of GI across the world. Therefore, the focus was to identify research papers and case studies of recent publication between the years 2015 and 2022 that highlighted the adoption and implementation of GI throughout the EU and UK. As mentioned above, only studies conducted between the periods of 2015 to 2022 were included in this query, excluding papers or case studies that reported on model GI activities in cities in other parts of the world other than the two regions mentioned above.

### 5.3 Findings: Best Practices and Success Stories of Model Cities

Olic & Stober, (2019) conducted a case study using Osijek as the case city. The city of Osijek in Croatia has been perceived on the basis of an array of spatial frameworks. The data was collected from the European Union (EU) level using a common database that enabled a comparison between similar spatial phenomena. Urban atlas and urban audit projects enabled a comparison of data for city core and functional urban area level data that matched the administrative boundaries and were largely appropriate for strategic and management plans. With a view to effectively and efficiently manage city spaces, the categorization needs to be vertically incorporated through spatial levels. As per data, the density of green spaces within the city of Osijek was 23.1 m<sup>2</sup> per inhabitant which could be evaluated as high density. The categories that were used for various levels of the core city of Osijek were robust and do not essentially present inputs on functions of GI. In addition, classification was not vertically incorporated at the district level to offer effective maintenance. Data offered by the green cadastre tool of Osijek GI, facilitated a dynamic review and rich database with information which could make contributions to effective maintenance and management of GI within the city.

Figure 9: Green Cadastre of Osijek (GIS Tool) (Olic & Stober, 2019)



A methodology to map GI within Czech Republic was proposed by Skokanová et al., (2020a), on the basis of diagnosis of three approaches for mapping from a regional level, which was founded on the use and processing of varied data sets. (Skokanová et al., 2020a) compared GI maps based on European data from CORINE Land Cover Database, a Czech national database which was known as the Consolidated Layer of Ecosystems (CLE) and a mix of Czech national and regional data, and manual vectorization. The findings in this case indicated that CORINE based GI map was appropriate for transnational scale however, it was not suited for a regional scale. On the other hand, the CLE based GI map was good for national and regional scale but there was a lack of information on GI within urban areas. An indepth GI map was good for regional and to certain extent even at a local scale, but its creation would be time consuming. Nonetheless, a careful blend of current regional and national data could offer good results in the development of GI map that could be used for territorial planning.

One of the basic facets of a model green city would refer to their approach to transportation that is sustainable. Cities across Europe have been at the frontier in terms of encouraging specific zones for pedestrians, infrastructure to facilitate cycling, and systems for public transportation (Strulak-Wójcikiewicz & Lemke, 2019). For example, the extensive cycling infrastructure in Copenhagen (EMANUEL, 2019) and the initiative 'Superblocks' undertaken by Barcelona in Spain have been instrumental in substantially lowering air pollution and carbon emissions (Rueda, 2019). The cities mentioned here have encouraged shared and nonmotorized modes of transportation, that is supported through diverse studies. Similarly, integrating green spaces in urban landscapes would be another key component within model green cities. Schonbrunn Park in Vienna is major example of urban green areas that improve the quality of life of individuals while extending support to biodiversity (Ring et al., 2021). Studies carried out by Pasanen et al. (2023) and (Marques da Costa & Kállay, 2020), emphasize the physical and mental health advantages that are offered by green spaces within urban environments and the role they play in flora and fauna conservation. Incorporation of sources for renewable energy is a key aspect of model green cities. For example, Reykjavik is known to extensively use ample geothermal energy, lowering their dependence on fossil fuels. The renewable energy report of Europe presented by the European Environment Agency underscores the advancement in the region towards a transition to energy sources that are sustainable. Such a transition has been driven by the policies framed by the European Union (EU) about renewable energy, which stimulates cities to make investments in biomass combustion, wind capture, and PV solar energy.

From an economic point of view, model green cities are instrumental in simulating innovation while creating new job opportunities within sectors like urban planning, renewable energy, and sustainable technology (Hadjichambis et al., 2022). Investments within green infrastructure result in long-term savings in costs based on measures towards energy efficiency, and lowered consumption of resources. Also, such cities tend to attract skilled workers and businesses keen to maintain a high quality of life and an environment that is supportive to sustainable practices (Bibri, 2020). Furthermore, the added reputation of being a green city could be instrumental in improving tourism while attracting visitors who are environmentally conscious, boosting local economies based on increased spending and cultural exchange (Straupe & Liepa, 2018). On the whole, model green cities within Europe act as exemplars on how sustainable urban planning could make a positive impact on the economy as well as society, paving the way for a greener and highly prosperous future.

Similarly, effectiveness and efficiency in managing waste with recycling and reuse consistent with circular economy would be crucial to lower the harmful impact on environment. The capital city of Slovenia – Ljubljana, has put in practice a zero-waste program with the intention to substantially lower wastes at landfill sites (Bogusz et al., 2021). Research carried out by Osama & Lamma (2021), highlights the significance of recycling and strategies for waste reduction across cities in Europe, encouraging efficiency of resources and lowering the environmental footprint. Furthermore, it has been observed that model green cities tend to accord high priority for social equity and inclusivity (Perić et al., 2023). Social housing policies across Vienna and the project for revitalizing neighborhoods in Barcelona embody such commitment (Friesenecker et al., 2023). Investigations carried out by Lemaire & Kerr (2017), signifies the role played by urban planning in nurturing communities that are inclusive and tackling social inequalities within green cities. In

the same vein, the city of Stockholm in Sweden provides a balanced blend of natural beauty and urban living, which is developed on 14 interlinked islands that are renowned for their efficient green spaces and systems of public transport. Another city in Europe which has been hailed as a paradise for cyclists would be the city of Amsterdam, Netherlands. The city of Amsterdam boasts of having dedicated lanes for bikes, picturesque canals, and eco-friendly policies (Feddes et al., 2020). Cyclists have right of way over motorized transportation modes. The city of Freiburg in Germany is known by its apt monicker 'green city', as it has developed buildings that are energy efficient, extensive use of solar power and sustainable transportation, establishing a precedent for urban planning that is eco-conscious (Fastenrath & Braun, 2018). Similarly, automobiles have been banned in the city center within the capital city of Slovenia. They have also adopted clean energy solutions and nurtured a culture of eco-conscious living. Such model cities embody the scope for urban regions to pave the way in practices that are environmentally responsible and encouraging the world at large to adopt an eco-friendly future that is highly sustainable.

With the continuous expansion of cities, there is an increasing necessity for sustainable urban development which encourages eco-friendly living while lowering the carbon footprint of urban regions. Akin to cities across Europe, cities within the Czech Republic have initiated major steps to emerge as model green cities, embracing approaches that are innovative to address environmental problems while enhancing the quality of life for the residents. One amongst the key elements of green urban planning within the Czech Republic would refer to the incorporation of renewable energy sources. Cities within the region have been making investments in solar energy, biomass energy systems, wind turbines etc., for lowering their dependence on fossil fuels. Such a shift has been underlined by the commitment of Czech Republic to the renewable energy targets of the EU, which intends to lower emissions of greenhouse gases and encourage a greener energy sector. For example, the city of Brno in Czech Republic, has been leading the way in solar energy wherein it has installed solar panels on public edifices, which substantially contributed to an increase in solar energy production (Kalousek, 2021). The Karlovak hospital in Croatia adopted energy efficient practices by retrofitting the hospital with insulation, shifting to natural gas, solar thermal systems etc., which resulted in annual energy savings of 6.5GWh of heat, and an annual cost savings to the tune of €528,000 (PF4EE Expert Support Facility, 2019). Similarly, energy saving initiatives in the Czech Republic led to an annual energy saving of 420 MWh in heat and 2000 MWh in electricity, and annual cost savings of €217,000 (PF4EE Expert Support Facility, 2019). While a project on thermal insulation of a laboratory building in Slovakia also led to an annual energy savings of 115MWh, and annual cost savings of €4,700 (PF4EE Expert Support Facility, 2019). One of the objectives of green cities is to lower the number of private vehicles on the road to encourage cycling and the use of public transportation. The capital city of Czech Republic, Prague, has adopted significant steps to improve their public transportation network, with ample metro and tram lines that offer eco-friendly substitutes as compared to personal vehicles (Fitzová & Matulová, 2020). The city of Prague in 2020 introduced a system that enabled residents to hire electric scooters, which was further instrumental in lowering the environmental impact of short commutes.

One of the keystones of green urban planning would be efficient waste management systems. Cities across the Czech Republic have made investments in extensive programs for recycling and waste-to-energy facilities, which helps in lowering the volume of wastes at landfill sites, and thus increasing the overall resource utilization. This is one aspect that has been pioneered by Brno (Pluskal et al., 2021), with its waste-to-energy plant which generates electricity as well as heat from municipal waste. Encouraging green spaces within urban regions is vital to improve the quality of life on the whole for residents and also to conserve biodiversity.



Figure 10: Waste-to-Energy and Recycling Targets in the Czech Republic in Mill. Tonnes per year (Veolia, 2022).

The city of Pilsen located in the central western region of the Czech Republic has undertaken a thriving initiative focused on the creation of green corridors and urban forests, improving the biodiversity of the city and offering residents with recreational spaces (Jato-Espino et al., 2023). Furthermore, sustainable architectural practices and principles of eco-friendly urban designs are being gradually embraced by the Czech Republic. This would be inclusive of developing buildings that are energy-efficient, using local materials, and green roofs. Features of sustainable urban design can be prominently observed in the city of Olomouc, wherein new buildings are built such that they ascribe to eco-friendly construction benchmarks, lowering the consumption of energy, thereby nurturing an urban environment that is healthy, which is termed as Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) (Giles-Corti et al., 2022). Similarly, one of the attributes of green cities would be water management which has an intrinsic role to play in green cities. The city of Ceske Budejovice has made massive in-roads in terms of wastewater management, wherein it has been ensured that water is treated and returned back to nature in a manner that is environmentally friendly. Such an approach is known to make significant contribution to lowering water pollution and conserving local aquatic ecosystems (Silva, 2023). Further, sustainable urban development within the Czech Republic would also encompass the conservation of cultural heritage and encouraging eco-tourism. Cities in the Czech Republic such as Cesky Krumlov have incorporated their historical sites within their initiatives for green tourism, attempting to safeguard cultural landmarks while lowering the impact it has on the environment. Prioritizing sustainable transportation by motivating visitors to use public transportation, pedestrian pathways or bicycles to gain access to historical sites. This will lower the emission of carbon and encourage travel options that are eco-friendly. Initiatives towards green infrastructure are executed, which includes the setup of pedestrian-friendly zones, bike lanes, and installing charging stations for electric vehicles (Kalabisová & Plzáková, 2016). Such measures enable environmentally conscious exploration of historical landmarks. Further, initiatives towards management of waste comprise executing extensive systems including strategies for lowering the use of single-use plastics and recycling programmes. Through effective waste management, they lower the environmental impact from tourism on historical sites. Integrating renewable sources of energy like wind turbines and solar panels within the infrastructure of historical sites lowers the reliance of non-renewable energy, while decreasing carbon emissions (Drápela, 2023).

Encouraging the development of sustainable accommodations like ecofriendly lodges and hotels, near historical sites present tourists with lodging options that are environmentally responsible. They also provide guided tours and educational programmes to tourists, stressing the significance of environmental conservation and encouraging responsible behaviour at the time of their visit to historical sites. Moreover, sourcing local goods and services for tourists is encouraged, supporting the local economy and lowering the environmental footprint linked with transportation. Businesses are motivated to embrace practices that are eco-friendly, like using materials that are bio-degradable, and organic products, additionally contributing to the efforts towards sustainable tourism (Drápela, 2023). Based on these extensive strategies, cities like Cesky Krumlov exhibit their commitment towards conserving historical sites, while encouraging tourism practices that are environmentally sustainable.

To conclude, model green cities within Europe and across the Czech Republic have been observed to make substantial strides in their endeavor for sustainability in practice, however there is a long way to go to fully realize these goals. Akin to several other nations, the Czech Republic has been confronted with several challenges in its pursuit of sustainability, especially in their approach towards green cities. Regardless of the initiatives to encourage eco-friendly initiatives, there as substantial drawbacks in the agenda of sustainability of Czech Republic (Vávra et al., 2014). One of the foremost issues pertains to the absence of extensive urban planning which accords priority to sustainability. Though certain cities might have pockets of green infrastructure like bike lanes or parks, these initiatives frequently are devoid of incorporation into a cohesive strategy on sustainability (Jaszczak et al., 2021). In the absence of a holistic approach to urban development, the Czech Republic's green cities continue to be fragmented and are not successful in tackling systemic environmental challenges.

In addition, there is a remarkable lack of strong policies for incentivizing sustainable practices among residents and businesses. Though individual initiatives might exist, there is an absence of regulatory frameworks and financial incentives to motivate the large-scale adoption of eco-friendly behaviours and technologies (Gürtler et al., 2019). In the absence of such measures, the shift to sustainable urban living continues to be disjointed and slow. In addition, green cities in Czech Republic frequently overlook considerations on social equity. Sustainable development needs not only prioritize the conservation of environment but also tackle social inequalities. Nonetheless, there is a restricted emphasis on ensuring access to green spaces and eco-friendly facilities for all residents, resulting in disparities in environmental quality and well-being (Biernacka & Kronenberg, 2019). To summarize, though the Czech Republic might aspire to develop green cities, its initiatives are hindered by inadequate policies, fragmented planning, and an absence of focus on social equity. To actually advance sustainability, it is imperative that the nation accords due priority to extensive urban planning, formulate robust regulatory frameworks, and ensure inclusivity within their green initiatives.

By incorporating sources for renewable energy, waste management, public transportation enhancements, sustainable architecture, green spaces, conservation of cultural heritage, and water management are facilitating the said regions to drive the change in terms of urban development that is environmentally sustainable. With the world consistently addressing the outcome of urbanization, green cities in Europe and the Czech Republic act as fine examples of the way in which environmental sustainability could be realized within urban spaces.

## Chapter – 6

# **Green Infrastructure in Resilience Development Cities in Europe**

### 6.1 Overview of the General Situation of Green Infrastructure in Prague

Urban green infrastructure (UGI) has been perceived as an essential aspect of cities that offer an array of services to individuals and other lifeforms within urban spaces. It has been stated by Badura et al., (2021), that extensive urbanization has several negative environmental impacts and UGI mitigate many of those factors while sustaining the perceived quality of urban life. This is a fact which is of utmost significance given that within several cities across Europe, more than 70 per cent of the populace are known to reside in urban regions. Migrating from rural regions to urban was a consistent procedure throughout the 19<sup>th</sup> century. UGI is a significant aspect within municipalities and its ecosystem. Considering that a large number of individuals are known to reside in cities, improvement, restoration, and preservation of biodiversity within urban regions have also assumed significance (Kowarik et al., 2020). GI within an urban context is critical for enhancing and safeguarding the biodiversity within a city ecosystem. (Rastandeh et al., 2017) assessed more than 400 measures pertaining to biodiversity effects on ecosystem services and on its basis has suggested that biodiversity positively impacts services provided by ecosystems. The analysis carried out by Elisha & Felix (2020) has found that loss of biodiversity has adverse impacts on the functions of ecosystems in myriad ways, and the link between biodiversity and the functioning of ecosystem was affirmed by others (Ashford et al., 2021), (Soininen, 2022). While ecosystem services are known to lend support to varied facets pertaining to the quality of human life. Such services have been categorized as regulating, provisioning, support, and cultural services. The irreplaceability of its functions tends to enhance the quality of life within the city and helps in shaping the image of the city.

The borders of the political city district which were developed on the basis of the historic core which straddled the Vltava River in Prague expanded East and West along with stream corridors and across the hillsides which bifurcated the stream valleys with a larger preference for South facing slopes. Substantial areas of steep hillside continue to be developed with less intensity with primarily old vineyards and orchards, several of which have long been discarded, and are in diverse shapes of natural succession. Remaining green areas within the historic tapestry essentially include urban parks, chateau gardens, and cemeteries too, considering that from 1949, certain fundamental changes have occurred within the administrative division. From then on, the borders of several administrative districts and urban districts are autonomous of the boundaries of cadastral territories and some cadastral territories are thus segregated into administrative and self-governing parts within the city. Prague has been segregated into 10 municipal districts, 22 administrative districts, 57 municipal parts, or 112 cadastral areas as is evidenced through figure 10.

Figure 11: Cadastral Territories in Prague (Author)



The notion of GI has been in existence in city development for many years now and can be found across theoretical considerations, and its meaning, interpretations and also the way in which it is produced in the form of definitions (Wang & Banzhaf, 2018). Cities within Czech Republic have a population density

that is comparatively low in comparison to other EU countries. Prague as a capital city has a base population that is considerably lower than other EU capital cities. In particular, cities with the Czech Republic are known to have a relatively low-density level as compared to that of the cities in other nations, that are most densely populated. The density in population touches around 4600 residents for every square kilometer (12000 people who reside in every square mile)(OECD, 2018) in Prague. According to Hussein et al., (2020), the strategy for green infrastructure in the EU, acts as a pivotal step towards the success of the Biodiversity and Conservation Strategy, that was embraced in 2013, which intended to develop a robust policy framework with a view to encourage and enable GI projects that used prevalent legal, policy, and financial tools. The city of Prague has been an integral part of it right from 2013, to initiate major steps to emerge as a city that is sustainable. The strategy of districts in the city of Prague is to adapt against climate changes with the intention to enhance the environment for their inhabitants. A multifaceted approach has been adopted by the city of Prague for adapting to climate change and enhancing the environment for residents. This comprised augmenting urban forests and green spaces to overcome heat island effects, encouraging options for sustainable transportation such as cycling and public transit to lower emissions, executing standards for energyefficient buildings to lower the consumption of energy, and nurturing community engagement in efforts towards climate resilience. In addition, the city of Prague has also made investments towards water management systems to tackle any risks presented from flooding and improve the conservation of water. Such concerted initiatives exhibit the commitment of the city to develop a resilient and sustainable urban environment for their residents.

Territorial development in the city of Prague commenced from 1784, straddling the Vltava River, while merging four towns in Prague. The last enlargement occurred in the year 1974, and has expanded east and west along stream corridor and over hillsides that bifurcated the stream valleys with a greater preference for South facing slopes. In the process, around 30 municipalities were included, that on the whole made up of 37 cadastral territories. The process of map-making was rendered intricate by modifications in the boundaries within cadastral territories of individual municipalities linked to Prague. Prague has witnessed extensive suburbanization and urbanization of any municipality within the Czech Republic. During the periods between 1985 and 2000, there was an increase in built-up areas from 1.1% of the territory to approximately around 8.1%. Nonetheless, Prague continues to have an extensive share of natural and agricultural lands within its territories (Salama et al., 2020).



Figure 12: Territorial Development in Prague (Author)

In the city of Prague, urban green areas occupy 55.3% and the biodiversity is split into diverse vegetation classes for representing the areas that are most intensely vegetated (shrubby and wooded vegetation) and areas that are impermeable such as water, built areas, exposed soil, and shadow. The classifier that identifies natural

breaks splits the array of information into portions of same behaviour (Rocha et al., 2018). The classifier identifying natural breaks segregates data into segments that project similar behaviour. Such an approach enables elements to be grouped on the basis of innate patterns instead of arbitrary thresholds. For example, under the tenets of urban planning, it could classify areas of vegetation density or dynamics of water flow. Through an understanding of natural divisions, it is instrumental in pinpointing areas that have the same type of ecological functions or susceptibilities, facilitating focused interventions like planting initiatives or strategies for flood mitigation. Eventually, such a method of classification helps in optimizing decision-making procedures and resource allocation, nurturing a highly impactful and sustainable management of GI in urban environments. The strategic plan of Prague also outlines the grounds for general drainage and flood management planning for the city and a developmental plan for sewerage system and water supply. The general flood management and drainage plan for the city of Prague was enacted in 2002 by the Prague City Council, and has emerged as a strategic instrument that directs the investment, planning, and operation of measures for managing floods while ensuring drainage of sewage and rainwater. The aim of the sewerage and water supply plan was to ensure wastewater management and an adequate supply of drinking water for the city. The city of Prague also has an integrated a transport system that can be deemed as a grey infrastructure system. This integrated transport system is frequently referred to as a grey infrastructure system owing to its extensive network of bridges, roads, and rail lines, that dominated the landscape in urban areas. This term emphasizes the dependence on conventional, concrete-based structures for transportation. The system of transport within Prague heavily hinges on such grey infrastructure to take the substantial commuter traffic of the city within its ambit, and also extend support to economic activities (Simunek et al., 2021). Irrespective of the initiatives to incorporate sustainable transport modes, like bicycles and trams, the dominance of grey infrastructure continues to persist. However, the notion of developing GI is still an aim, though the city is working towards achieving it. For instance, Prague was also in the process of embracing a platform for green and blue

infrastructure for the second time around 2020 by planting millions of trees along the streets to tackle the issue of climate change.

GI within Prague is known to deeply rooted based on the commitment of the city towards urban development and sustainability. This notion gained much attention during the initial period of 2000s, as the city of Prague attempted to thwart the environmental problems linked with rapid urbanization (Badura et al., 2021). In the initial period of 2000s, akin to several other cities, Prague was confronted with major environmental challenges associated with rapid urbanization. A concept that gained much interest during this period was the notion of green roofs (Rebrova et al., 2017). Green roofs comprise covering rooftops with vegetation, that could help in overcoming several environmental issues like heat island effect, air pollution, and stormwater runoff. Prague made an attempt to tackle its environmental challenges by pushing the installation of green roofs across the city. This idea was intended to overcome the challenges the city faced, in an effective manner. However, as far as the success of this initiative was concerned, the application of green roofs within Prague has shown promising results. Green roofs have been revealed to be impactful in lowering heat island effect by offering natural insulation and absorption of solar radiation (Dwivedi & Mohan, 2018). They have also been instrumental in improving the quality of air by filtering pollutants within the air and capturing carbon dioxide (KONÁŠOVÁ, 2019). In addition, green roofs are also helpful in rainwater retention, lowering the stress on the drainage systems of the city in instances of extreme rainfall events (Hejl, 2019). Though it might be challenging to quantify the entire degree of success from green roofs in Prague, its adoption has definitely made a positive contribution to the initiatives on the part of the city to overcome environmental challenges associated with rapid urbanization. Nonetheless, the success on the whole would hinge on diverse aspects like the level of application, practices pertaining to maintenance, and tracking environmental indicators.

#### 6.2 Contribution of Green Infrastructure to Promote Urban Resilience in Prague

For achieving urban resilience, it is essential that government within Prague need to setup a local disaster risk management strategy to mitigate the impacts associated with climate change (Ordóñez et al., 2020). In view of the growing intensity and frequency of climate-related events like heatwaves, floods, and storms, it is imperative that the government initiate steps that are proactive in nature. This would commence with the execution of a detailed assessment of the susceptibility of Prague to such hazards. Through an understanding about particular risks posed by climate change, authorities would be able to better allocate resources, while prioritizing areas that largely require intervention. Remarkably, this procedure needs to include an active engagement with local businesses, communities, and organizations. Their experiences and insights would be of high value in structuring a strategy that is effective as well as inclusive. On the basis of collaboration, the strategy could be customized to cater to the distinct requirements and concerns of varied populations and neighborhoods in the city of Prague. Execution of early warning systems would be another integral aspect of the strategy. Dissemination of information and timely alerts could substantially lower the impact of disasters by facilitating prompt response and evacuation initiatives. Making investments in resilient infrastructure would additionally boost the capability of the city to endure and recuperate from climate-related events. On the whole, setting up a robust strategy for disaster management would highlight the commitment of the Prague government towards the safety and well-being of their residents when confronted with climate change. By initiating proactive steps, the city would be in a position to overcome risks, improve resilience, and develop a highly sustainable future.

The strategy would be inclusive of regular reporting on small-scale hazardous occurrences that do not get recorded in the global catastrophe loss databases (Etinay et al., 2018). Nonetheless, executing the findings derived from the Urban System

Model could be confronted with challenges owing to lack of transparency, shortcomings in urban governance, and restrictions in human and financial resources. Such factors tend to result in biases in terms of socioeconomic evaluation and low performance in urban resilience. The Urban System Model (USM) refers to a framework that has been utilized by researchers, urban planners, and policymakers to comprehend and evaluate the intricate interactions in urban regions (Weinblatt, 1970). The idea is to simulate and forecast diverse facets of urban systems like population dynamics, patterns of land use, economic initiatives, transportation networks, and environmental impacts. Typically, the USM integrates diverse data sources, which are inclusive of demographic data, transportation data, land use day, environmental data, and economic indicators. Computational techniques are used, such as simulation, mathematical modeling, and data analysis to represent the dynamic behaviour of urban systems over a period of time (Bélinga & Haziti, 2023). The USM model facilitates stakeholders to look at various scenarios and policies to assess its possible impacts on the population and the urban environment. For instance, policymakers could utilize the USM to evaluate the impact from executing new transportation infrastructure, zoning regulations, or economic development strategies on aspects such as air quality, traffic congestion, social equity, and land use patterns.

Urban resilience has been extensively deliberated and integrated within policymaking while considering GI within urban areas in the Czech Republic. Subsequently, it is pertinent that investigations be carried out in terms of methods for mapping and measuring techniques for achieving urban resilience and how GI contributes to this in Prague. Research conducted in the past (Karabakan & Mert, 2021) has indicated that adaptive resilience can be mapped to measure the impact of GI, and top-down measures can be commonly utilized to map innate resilience. Adaptive resilience refers to a natural system's capability to endure and recover from disruptions while sustaining functionality and offering advantages. It comprises designing and managing green spaces for anticipating and adapting to changing environmental situations, like climate change and pressures of urbanization (Alshafei

& Fagra, 2023). Such an approach incorporates varied soil types, vegetation, and hydrological features to improve ecosystem services such as biodiversity support, flood mitigation, and carbon sequestration. By nurturing diversity and flexibility, it is ensured through adaptive resilience that green infrastructure continues to be impactful even when confronted with uncertainties, encouraging sustainable development, and improving the well-being of environment and human communities (Pamukcu-Albers et al., 2021). Innate resilience on the other hand pertains to an innate capability for enduring and adapting to environmental stress (Jang, 2021). Such resilience would emerge from natural processes and features like soil composition, biodiversity, and hydrological cycles, that improve functionality and stability. Green infrastructure which comprises wetlands, forests, and green roofs absorbs and mitigates diverse disruptions like pollution and extreme weather events. Based on self-regulation and ecosystem services, it sustains ecosystem health and functionality (Calheiros & Stefanakis, 2021). Such inherent resilience is not only instrumental in sustaining ecological balance, but it also offers benefits over a longterm period such as conservation of biodiversity, climate regulation, and community well-being.

Nonetheless, resilience maps seldom investigate how GI contributes to urban resilience entirely, resilience maps in fact fail to project the capability of systems to evolve or adapt, neither do they project the systemic trait of resilience (Reynolds et al., 2022). Resilience maps frequently ignore the vital role played by GI in improving urban resilience. GI, including green spaces, overcomes environmental risks, provides a buffer against natural disasters, and nurtures community cohesion. Understanding the contribution of GI is necessary for extensive planning of urban resilience and sustainable development (Liu et al., 2020). GI mostly runs on solar energy that is captured through photosynthesis, generally rendering it less polluting and increasingly carbon neutral as compared to human-built 'gray infrastructure', which is more often than not powered through a combustion of fossil fuels. Such qualities of urban GI in Prague could contribute to highly sustainable, carbon-

conserving systems. In Prague, urban green infrastructure projects qualities like enhancement of biodiversity, recreational opportunities, and stormwater management. Varied vegetation within the city nurtures habitats for wildlife while overcoming issues of air pollution and heat island effects (Hladíková & Jebavý, 2020). Green spaces that are strategically placed like urban forests and parks, mitigate flooding and enhance water quality by absorbing excess rainwater. In addition, these such areas provide visitors and residents with ample relaxation spaces, social interaction, exercise, while making contributions to mental and physical well-being (Skokanová et al., 2020b). The incorporation of green infrastructure within the urban fabric of Prague improves the resilience of the city to environmental challenges while offering several societal advantages. Carbon-conserving systems refer to approaches that focus on lowering carbon emissions, while maximizing carbon sequestration to overcome climate change. Such systems take under their ambit diverse strategies across sectors like transportation, industry, energy, and agriculture. For instance, sources of renewable energy like wind and solar power, which lower dependence on fossil fuels, thus reducing carbon emissions (Maksymenko et al., 2023). In addition, reforestation and afforestation initiatives help absorb carbon dioxide from the environment. Practices in agriculture like crop rotation and no-till farming could improve soil carbon sequestration. Efficiency in urban planning, encouraging public transportation, and incentivizing low-carbon technologies contribute to lowering carbon footprints (Ramyar, 2017b). Carbon-conserving systems accord priority to environmental responsibility and sustainability, intending to strike a balance between human initiative and the carbon cycle of the earth to conserve the planet for generations in future. Thus, it can be reasoned that urban GI does contribute to urban resilience based on the attributes that lend credence to resilient systems (Darnhofer et al., 2016).

#### 6.3 Methodology

For shaping this chapter, the methodology that was adopted included a thorough search of prominent academic databases such as ScienceDirect, Taylor & Francis, Emerald Insight, and also other relevant academic and scholarly sources. Only relevant papers that were similar to or investigated a similar phenomenon such as GI and urban resilience were considered for this review. The search focused on finding recent papers that investigated and deliberated the contribution made by GI in developing urban resilience in the city of Prague. While finding relevant papers, care was taken to make sure that only research or scholarly work conducted between 2015-2022 were reviewed. At the same time, papers that fell beyond this date range or those that did not investigate the variables in question were excluded from this review.

#### 6.4 Findings – Case Studies of Successful Green Infrastructure Projects in Prague

According to Moravcova et al., (2022), it has been reported that the process of city development involves an interactive procedure.. Including GI initiatives during the spatial planning process serves a critical function if GI is to be incorporated into future growth scenarios. Not only does GI satiate an aesthetic function in towns and villages, but they also substantially impact the quality of life of local citizens (Cole et al., 2017). Essentially these would be areas that offer a place for individuals to meet in a pleasant environment and thereby presents people in Prague with a chance to relax and rejuvenate, as an outcome of the positive impact of green spaces on their sense of well-being (Hussein et al., 2023). At the same time, GI driven green spaces in Prague that would be supported by water features offer the essential shade and more pleasant climate during hot summer months when the city center tends to heat up and expose individuals to extreme temperatures and high thermal stress.

Studies pertaining to thermal comfort analysis continue to be conducted, particularly in cities like Prague, for determining the impact of green infrastructure supported duly with water features on thermal comfort and the psyche and health of people living there (Lehnert et al., 2021) (Wang & Banzhaf, 2018). Furthermore, the role played by green spaces exclusively on public life within communities and its aesthetic functions, blue-green infrastructure has also made a substantial impact in terms of enriching local biodiversity in Prague, which acts as an interactive component with the surrounding nature and thereby offering a refuge for diverse species. Within the city of Prague, the notion of ecosystem services and GI assessment is still a novel topic. Initiatives to evaluate ecosystem services in some manner, or rather multifunctionality of biotopes can be traced back right to the 1970s. The latest contribution towards assessing ecosystem services would be projected on the basis of a methodological framework of the incorporated evaluation of ecosystem services within Prague. As per the framework, t the fundamental processes and rules for assessing the state of ecosystems, ecosystems services, and its economic value is indicated (Krkoška lorencová et al., 2016).

While evaluation of ecosystem services as of now is not a concept that has been largely disseminated across the Czech Republic, there is a tool in territorial planning that has been well-established and to a certain extent fills or achieves one of the principles of GI, that being creating new or protecting existing connectivity and existence of semi-natural and naturally occurring ecosystems. Referred to as the Territorial System of Ecological Stability of the Landscape (TSES) – or USES in Czech language – this is the legally enforceable tool of territorial plans for every municipality (Dennis et al., 2018) for protection and creation of ecological networks. TSES has been defined as an interlinked system of natural and also modified ecological networks which also includes three varied groups of components such as bio-centers, interactive components, and bio-corridors. The concept of Ecological Networks first appeared in several European countries in the early 1980s as a tool to combat habitat fragmentation and the loss of biodiversity as part of EECONET European Ecological Network. Again, the TSES in the Czech Republic, implemented in 1992, is a system is based on the concept of EECONET. It is the only nature conservation tool in the Czech Republic for the creation and protection of ecological networks based upon Czech law. It is used to conserve and enhance the existing natural resources; remedy habitat fragmentation; positively influence the surrounding or less stable parts of the landscape; and is the basis for diverse use in the terrain. TSES plans cover nearly 92% of the Czech Republic. A bio-center refers to a habitat or a system of habitats, which makes sure through its size and status the permanent presence of semi-natural or natural ecosystems and is interlinked with other biocenters. Bio-corridors are areas which are frequently elongated, that facilitate the movement of terrestrial and flying animals between bio-centers. Interactive Elements are comprised of landscape features that are isolated spatially, providing favorable conditions for the presence of organisms with restricted territorial requirements (Liquete et al., 2015). An Interactive Element could be a solitary tree, trees along a pathway, small pond, an orchard, small meadow or a hedgerow. The TSES ecological network is structured hierarchically, meaning that its parts are distinguished on different spatial levels; they are International (part of EECONET), National, Regional, and local.

At the time of planning, implementing, and managing GI, it is imperative to take spatial scales into account such as local, national, and regional, which is most apt to the procedure or functions that would be taken into account. Note that this is very similar to the structure of TSES. Regional level would also have an intrinsic role to play in the city of Prague considering that GI policies within Czech Republic tend to have an approach that is transnational in nature (Mander et al., 2018). The national level needs to facilitate trans-border and global links, which facilitates strategies to be placed in the context of larger global concerns (connectivity, climate change etc.). The regional level on the other hand needs to offer links across local authorities and other organizations while using an extensive array of data that offers extra understanding and detail for mapping and planning (Rosina et al., 2020). The local
level needs to facilitate the involvement of local authorities at the sub-county and county levels, while delivering a proper map for extensive evaluation or planned execution. The information and data flow needs to not only move up and down the scales, but it should also move in a horizontal manner at the local and regional levels.

The city of Prague has made several in-roads for implementing GI and there are many instances that point to successful GI projects within the city. For instance, Stromovka Park that is located at the very center of the city can be deemed as a notable example of success in execution of GI, particularly in an urban environment. The metamorphosis of the park over several years has rendered it as a benchmark for sustainable urban planning and management (Rousek & Hašková, 2017). In the 16<sup>th</sup> century, the Park was designated as a royal ground for hunting. Substantial transformation of the park in recent times was carried out to tackle the challenges that arose from rampant urbanization in the city of Prague (Strategie Adaptace, 2020). The redevelopment of the park was done on the basis of an integrative approach which took under its ambit diverse social, environmental, and economic facets. One of the foremost components of the project was the integration of sustainable stormwater management methods, like flood walls, permeable gardens, and constructed wetlands, for mitigation of flooding and urban runoff (Haaland & van den Bosch, 2015). Such elements of green infrastructure not only enhanced the city's resilience to floods, but it also improved the quality of water in the adjoining Vltava river.

Figure 13: Key Green Spaces within Prague



In addition, Stromovka Park provides several opportunities for recreation such as cycling, running, and walking paths, picnic areas, and playgrounds. Such amenities encourage physical activity, nurturing the well-being of the community, and social cohesion (Elands et al., 2018). The varied flora and fauna of the park, which is inclusive of native plantations, have also garnered diverse wildlife, contributing to the biodiversity of an area on the whole (Kabisch, Strohbach, et al., 2016). Thus, Stromovka Park can be considered as a benchmark in terms of effective execution of GI principles, that contributes to urban resilience, community well-being and ecological sustainability within the city of Prague. Figure 14: Location Map of Nuselsky Bridge ((Mapcarta, 2024)



Similarly, Nuselsky Bridge, which is a vital artery for transportation in the city of Prague, has undergone an extensive redevelopment that illustrates the incorporation of the principles of green infrastructure within an urban environment that is highly intricate. The project focused on tackling the issue of congestion, enhancing public transportation, and lowering the environmental footprint linked with the bridge and its surroundings. Several initiatives in sustainable transportation were integrated during the redevelopment process. A feature that is most remarkable would refer to the addition of a dedicated tram line, for improving connectivity within public transport (Hörcher & Tirachini, 2021). This was not only instrumental in lowering situations of congestion of traffic, but it also encouraged the use of public

transportation, which contributed to a drop in greenhouse gas emissions. Moreover, Nuselsky's Bridge is known to have an extensive network of pedestrian pathways and lanes for cycling. This encourages options in transportation that are non-motorized in nature, which not only helps in enhancing the quality of air, but it also contributes to the well-being and health of residents (Vrána et al., 2021). Another major aspect of the project was greenery. Vegetation and greenery were planted in a strategic manner along the sides of the bridge and adjoining areas, thus offering shade and improving the overall aesthetics of the urban environment (Ragasová et al., 2019). Such green spaces have an intrinsic role to play in combating urban heat island effect while enhancing the livability within the city on the whole. Such kind of a transformation of the bridge highlights the way in which green infrastructure could be incorporated within urban transportation systems in an effective manner for lowering congestion, enhancing the quality of air and improve the quality of life for the people.

Another GI project in the city of Prague revolved around the Vltava River, which flows through the heart of the city. The River has for a long time been subject to human modification and intervention. Nonetheless, efforts carried oud in recent times have concentrated on restoring it ecologically, stressing upon the significance of GI in revitalizing urban water bodies. The restoration of the River focused on enhancing the ecological health while also offering multiple advantages to the city and its residents. Design techniques that were natural were adopted to create curves for restoring the riparian zones of the river, which allowed for natural filtration of pollutants and improving biodiversity (Morelli et al., 2018). Including green spaces along the banks of the River not only improved the aesthetical aspects but it also encouraged social interaction and recreational initiatives. A significant aspect being that the project tackled the issue of flood risk management by facilitating the river to flow in a rather natural manner during high water events. The integration of floodplains and wetlands alongside permeable surfaces and vegetation, lowered the scope of risk from floods, and protected the city from possible flooding (Csóka et al., 2021). The restoration of the Vltava River acts as a blueprint for rehabilitation of urban rivers, showcasing the several advantages of green infrastructure in terms of ecological restoration, well-being of the community, and reducing the risk of floods.

# Chapter 7:

## Conclusion

### 7.1 Summary of Findings

It is evident through the studies of green infrastructure in practice in the previous chapter that GI are acknowledged as best practices when they are combined with grey infrastructure (Alida & Alves, 2020). In addition, it was also found by Adesoji & Pearce (2024) that GI has been largely accepted for the value it offers with regard to adapting to the emergent and irreversible impact from climate change (Sturiale & Scuderi, 2019).. Furthermore, governments in New Zealand, France, Germany, Czech Republic and several other have accepted GI as a step for dealing with the adverse and often irreversible impacts associated with climate change. In addition, the findings also indicated that integrating GI within territorial plans offered several advantages for climate adaptation. Incorporating GI in territorial plans results in several benefits for climate adaptation. At the outset, green infrastructure such as urban forests and green roofs improve resilience by abating the impacts of events induced by climate change such as heatwaves and floods (Bajić et al., 2022). By absorbing excess water and providing shade, GI lowers the urban heat island effect, thereby moderating temperatures and safeguarding health of humans (Marando et al., 2022). Secondly, GI nurtures biodiversity, creating habitat for diverse species, which in turn improves ecosystem services that are vital for climate resilience, like soil stabilization and pollination (Abdulghany & Farahat, 2023). In addition, GI encourages carbon sequestration, facilitating the reduction of greenhouse gases and abating the effects from climate change. Furthermore, incorporating GI into territorial planning also nurtures community engagement and social cohesion with the creation of green spaces for relaxation and recreation, thus enhancing well-being on the whole, and reinforcing community resilience when confronted with climate change challenges (Kim & Song, 2019). On the whole, such advantages emphasize the key role played by GI in improving efforts towards climate change adaptation in territorial plans. Also, including GI was instrumental in managing stormwater and reducing the

risks associated with floods. Moreover, the findings also indicated that GI stimulated the expansion of biodiversity and created a zone or location for critical ecosystem services within urban environments. Urban green spaces provided habitats for various species like birds, insects, and small mammals, that were favorable in the protection of wildlife and enhancing resilience with urban ecosystems.

But challenges were also observed while integrating GI within territorial plans for dealing with adapting to climate change. A key challenge that was identified referred to availability of green space within urban areas, particularly for cities like London, Paris, Madrid, that are heavily populated. There were also challenges that emerged from financial restrictions which limit the successful implementation GI projects for territorial planning. Costs associated with the design, implementation, and maintenance of GI systems have been extensively argued and have outlined the need for innovative mechanisms for financing such as municipal bonds, real estate transfer taxes, or municipal bonds in Czech Republic. The findings through this study also indicated that escalation of impacts from climate change was instrumental in reshaping the urban landscape on the whole, which warranted innovation within approaches that could be embraced. Territorial plans that integrated GI have emerged as a vital strategy for enhancing urban resilience against challenges arising from climate change. From the findings of this study, it can be understood that there were many advantages that could be derived with the integration of GI within climate adaptation. It was found that GI played the role of a natural buffer to counteract urban heat island effect, wherein vegetation and green spaces mitigated any fluctuations within temperature and enhancing the microclimate within urban regions. The findings thus derived were at par with findings from other studies which revealed the cooling impacts of GI on urban areas.

As far as successful mapping of GI was concerned, the findings from this research indicated that mapping of GI was undertaken in several cities around the world. For instance, in the city of Vancouver, Canada, an ambitious project was undertaken for mapping their GI network using advanced geospatial technologies.

The idea was to develop an in-depth inventory of urban green spaces that included parks, street trees, and wetlands. LiDAR data and ground level surveys were utilized to accurately capture the distribution and level of green assets. The GI map developed thus turned out to be an instrument of high value for urban planners that enabled them to make informed decisions towards conservation efforts, land-use planning and infrastructure development.

Similarly, Singapore is known to have dense population with restrictions in land resources which made it inevitable to map their GI for enhancing livability. With the implementation of the Green Plan 2030 using latest geospatial technologies including LiDAR and multispectral imagery in order to develop an extensive map of water bodies, green spaces and vegetation cover. The key elements within Singapore's approach to mapping included real-time data updates and accessible digital platforms. It was found that this approach not only facilitated citizen engagement, but it also supported decisions pertaining to urban planning which gave due priority to green spaces and sustainable development. The notion of CIAG which was embraced by Singapore was founded on the principle of optimizing spaces based on which maximization of land productivity was recommended. Based on unique experiments in green architecture, Singapore has now emerged as a vertical garden city that presents valuable lessons on GI mapping.

Another city, Copenhagen in Denmark is known for their commitment to sustainability and livability. Based on their approach to GI mapping, it was found that local knowledge and community engagement was necessary to capture green assets in its entirety. To facilitate this, the city introduced a mobile application which allowed residents to report green spaces and recommend spaces that had the potential for green development, while sharing information pertaining to their natural areas of choice. Copenhagen adopted a participatory approach, which was beneficial not only in improving the dataset, but it also empowered citizens to contribute to the enhancement and conservation process in a proactive manner. This method resulted in the creation of a detailed, accurate map of GI which projected the physical assets and emotional links that citizens had with these spaces. In fact, the UGI isolation map of Copenhagen indicated strong relations with 'fingers' which are extension settlements along main transport corridors.

Recently, the city of Stockholm in Sweden has presented a path-breaking instance of impactful GI mapping. The city's commitment to environmental sustainability led to the execution of a detailed mapping project that concentrated on identifying, conserving, and enhancing its green spaces. Leveraging cutting-edge geospatial technologies and community engagement, the city was successful in creating a harmonious mixture of natural landscapes and urban development. GI mapping within Stockholm included coordination and collaboration from many stakeholders that comprised of government agencies, environmental organizations, and residents too. Using satellite imagery, GIS data, and ecological surveys, their project succeeded in effectively mapping existing parks, wetlands, forests, and other green spaces in the city. Such mapping was helpful in assessing the current scenario of GI, but it also helped in decision-making regarding future planning for urban development. A major result that was observed was optimization of green corridor which connected to many parts of the city. Such corridors not only offered recreational space for residents, but they also emerged as key wildlife habitats, stimulating biodiversity within urban regions. In addition, GI mapping also helped in identifying regions prone to flooding, allowing targeted green solutions like rain gardens and permeable surfaces to be integrated thereby circumventing potential threats. Stockholm's success in GI mapping was found to be an outcome of their holistic approach, which blended data driven insights with proactive involvement of community residents. The result hints at a sustainable landscape that is highly resilient, where the integration of nature within urban planning has enhanced the quality of life for residents, while safeguarding the environment for future generations.

As far as successful zoning for GI within territorial plans were concerned, this review offered several examples. In the city of Vojvodina, in Serbia, the elements of GI indicated a multifunctional significance that is reflected through their cultural, social, visual importance along with the ecological importance locally. A unified environmental and visual assessment of natural and semi-natural elements and identifying the possibility of GI creation would be an essential methodological and practical step that might provide guidelines for structuring the elements of GI. A transdisciplinary research approach that involves local residents would be imperative to investigate the environmental and visual antecedents which GI dots should be having. After an improvement based on landscape design, they could prove to be lucrative recreational multifunctional green spaces that project eco-visual territorial unity within the urban-rural continuum.

Similarly, the city of Freiburg in Germany is known for their sustainable development practices and GI zoning has a key role in ensuring success. Regulations pertaining to zoning that have been embraced by the city give much priority to mixed use of land, pedestrian friendly streets, and green spaces too. A notable aspect being that the district of Vauban within Freiburg has implemented severe zoning codes that stimulate automobile free living, sustainable transportation, and green building design. This approach has been instrumental in transforming Vauban into a model for sustainable urban living. GI zoning within Singapore was integrated within the city's plans to addressing the current urban challenges. The Planning Act and Development Control Regulations of the city necessitate the incorporation of green spaces and water bodies within unique developments. This kind of approach has resulted in an impressive network of parks, green corridors, and waterways that reduce the scope of floods, enhance biodiversity, and improve the city's resilience towards climate change. GI zoning in the city of Melbourne in Australia encouraged green streetscapes, mature retention of trees while necessitating the inclusion of public open spaces in new developments. The city's commitment to GI has led to the development of 'Green Wedge' which is a network of secured natural resources and agricultural land that is included in the city. This step was key to safeguard biodiversity and sustaining green lungs within the city. Whereas zoning codes within Vienna in Austria lay much emphasis upon green corridors, public parks, and urban agriculture. This type of zoning practice has largely contributed to the city's reputation as being the greenest city within Europe. This vast network of green spaces within Vienna that is also inclusive of Prater Park, was instrumental in not only improving the quality of life of the residents, but it also enhanced ecological resilience of the city.

At the same time, in Copenhagen, Denmark was found to have adopted a progressive approach to GI zoning. The zoning regulations for the city have been framed in such a manner that it stimulates green roofs, permeable surfaces, and massive infrastructure for bicycles. The mixture of GI and an urban layout that promotes cycling has been instrumental in transforming the city of Copenhagen into a leader with regard to sustainable urban development. The city has often been reflected as an excellent model for cities within Europe to reduce their carbon footprint and enhance urban sustainability. Similarly, the findings from this review also indicated that the city of Barcelona has made great progress with as far as integrating GI within territorial planning is concerned. According to Barcelona zoning codes, the creation of green connectors has been stressed upon, which links parks and natural areas for creating a network which is consistent. Notably, the city of Barcelona has also initiated a 'Superblocks' program, with the objective of reclaiming streets for pedestrians, and green spaces through a planned limitation to automotive traffic. This kind of innovation within the zoning strategy enhances urban experience and the quality of the environment on the whole thus projecting the potential for executing GI within European cities with high populations. On the other hand, Amsterdam has been receiving much praise for their urban planning that is highly advanced as compared to their counterparts. The zoning regulations within Amsterdam accord high priority to green roofs, green walls, and integrate features related to water as far as urban design is concerned. In addition, the city of Amsterdam is committed to sustainable practices and green transportation that has led to an environment that is highly sustainable. The steps undertaken by the city have made a positive impact and clearly implied that zoning could be a potential tool in ensuring city development that is not just resilient but green as well.

Furthermore, the examination of successful public participation in GI design has also presented favorable outcomes. In the case of Amersfoort city within the Netherlands, a classic example of public participation was evidenced through a project where a site for a hospital was transformed into a new park for the city while allowing an expansion with an adjoining city part. In this case, the public participation was clearly evident when the residents of the city worked in tandem with the municipality to drive this redevelopment project. To add a structure to such a partnership, a key group was formed that included representatives from all stakeholder groups. The main facet within this process was that it did not have any bottom-up or top-down approach. Instead, an original cooperation was observed where distribution of authority was equal between all concerned, and the stakeholders mutually concentrated on achieving the objective based on creative workshops and discussions for offering a joint plan and creative ideas. The key group provided updates regarding objectives and ideas of the project, its requirements, and limitations arising from funding and time to residents by leveraging the potential of social media platforms. In addition, several meetings that allowed the public to respond to such plans and ideas for the park were also held. World cafes and open space methods were used during meetings to disseminate participants ideas on sub-themes within small groups. World Cafe (WC) is a tool for participatory assessment that is extensively utilized within organizational change procedures or community development, as an additional method for qualitative research. WC is a participatory technique of data collection involving a large number of participants. In situations where there are many participants, it facilitates the verification and exploration of themes (Löhr et al., 2020). Similarly, open space methods facilitate meetings. Over an eight-month period, a redevelopment and management plan were designed and structured. Due to this notion of comprehending the shared interests of the administration and other stakeholders, the techniques of participation that were used were mainly as a facet of the process of decision-making and thereby indicated a relatively high level of participation from stakeholders. Similarly, Leige, Belgium presented another example of successful participation from public in terms of GI design. The idea here was to revitalize a park that included green spaces nearby to a once military fort. Round tables and workshops were conducted for consulting with stakeholders for assessing the situation and for design references. Site visits were also carried out with opinion surveys being conducted. Furthermore, techniques of participation like charrette and other varied initiatives were deployed during the planning process.

Another example of public participation was observed in Sheffield, UK. The idea was to direct restricted resources to realize varied benefits and address current drawbacks with regard to sustainability. A derelict and underused site in a deprived city-center community was chosen for investment. The result from this exercise was that the site came to be acknowledged as 'Breathing Spaces' within Sheffield which aimed to provide GI within the city center. Several meetings and workshops were conducted with the local community which comprised of residents and friends of resident groups for deliberating sustainability and land transfer, designing a new park, and its maintenance. The city of Stuttgart in Germany also presents a fine example of public participation through its innovative approaches to GI design. This was particularly true in the context of green roofs. The idea here was to increase the number of green roofs in the city to address the issue of urban heat island effect, improve air quality, and enhance biodiversity. Public participation was intrinsic to ensure success. Information campaigns, and workshops were arranged by the city government which incentivized green roof installations with regulatory changes and financial support. People were encouraged to share their ideas and thoughts in reference to green roofs, which led to the creation of a strong and widespread strategy which was at par with the city's environmental objectives.

Lastly, the Thames Tideway Tunnel project for managing wastewater in the city of London, UK is also an example of public participation. The purpose was to

prevent the flow of sewage into the Thames when the city witnessed heavy rainfall, thereby improving the quality of water and protecting aquatic ecosystems. Public engagement was instrumental in ensuring success within the project. The city carried out extensive consultation and communication with local communities and information sessions were organized to convey the message.

The findings from this review also presented best practices and success stories from model cities. For instance, Osijek, a city in Croatia is known for its array of spatial frameworks. Data collected from EU helped in comparing similar spatial phenomena. Data presented through the green cadastre tool of Osijek GI allowed for a dynamic review and rich database with information that could contribute to impactful maintenance and management of GI in the city.

Similarly, a comparison of GI maps was carried out based data derived through CORINE land cover database of Czech Republic. The findings revealed that CORINE based GI map was suitable for a transnational level, but it was not found to be useful at a regional level. Whereas CLE based GI map was appropriate for regional as well as national levels but there was no information regarding GI within urban areas. Similarly, it was also found that cities across Europe were at the forefront in providing appropriate zones such as cycling zones, parks etc., especially in Spain, Denmark etc. Incorporating green spaces within urban landscapes would be a key element within model green cities such as Schonbrunn Park in Vienna offers a good example of urban green areas that enhanced the quality of life for individuals while supporting biodiversity.

The review also looked into successful cases of GI projects in the city of Prague. In Prague, the idea of GI evaluation and ecosystem services was a unique topic. Initiatives for assessing ecosystem services in some manner, or even multifunctionality of biotope were traced back to 1970s. Contributions that were made recently for assessing ecosystem services were based on a methodological framework of an integrated assessment of ecosystem services within Czech Republic.

While planning, implementing, and managing GI, it is necessary to consider spatial scales like regional, local, and national which would be an appropriate process or function. It was also found that supra-national level had a major role to play in Prague given that GI polices in Czech Republic adopted an approach which was transnational in nature. As far as GI was concerned, Prague has been at the forefront which highlights the many successful GI projects that have been executed within the city. For example, Stromovka Park situated in the central part of the city could be considered as a remarkable example of success in GI implementation, especially within an urban environment. The park's transformation over the past many years has made it as a standard for sustainable urban planning and management. The park which was initially designed as a hunting ground was converted to address the problems that emerged from widespread urbanization. An integrative approach was utilized to transform the park which considered various social, economic, and environmental aspects. A key element of the project was its incorporation of sustainable methods to manage stormwater like permeable gardens, rain gardens, and wetlands for circumventing the problem from urban runoff and flooding. These components of GI not only improved the resilience of the city to floods, but it also enhanced the water quality in Vltava River.

Another notable example of successful GI projects in Prague was Nuselsky's Bridge. This bridge accommodated many cycling lanes and pedestrian pathways. This encouraged options in non-motorized transportation. This was instrumental in air quality improvement, while simultaneously contributing to the health and wellbeing of residents. The bridge project was also instrumental in improving greenery wherein, vegetation was strategically planted along the sides of the bridge and neighbouring areas, thereby providing shade and enhancing the environment aesthetically. This transformation of the bridge emphasized upon how GI could be integrated in urban transportation systems effectively for reducing congestion, improving air quality, and enhancing the quality of life on the whole. The transformation of the Vltava River presented another example of a successful GI project. This river project concentrated on improving the ecological condition of the river while presenting several benefits to the residents of the city, and the city on the whole. Natural design techniques were embraced to make curves to restore the river's riparian zones, that facilitated natural filtration of pollutants and enhanced biodiversity. Adding green spaces along the riverbanks was effective in not just enhancing the aesthetical facets but it also stimulated social interaction and recreational initiatives. A major aspect here was that the project was effective in addressing the problem of flood risk management by allowing the river to flow naturally in the event of heavy rainfalls, as is indicated in tables 1 and 2.

	Code	Land use type
1	RPU	park-landscaped areas
2	НҮ	water courses and areas
3	LRO	Forests
4	LRR	forest parks
5	ND	accompanying vegetation
6	NNK	non-forest stands of trees not associated with shrub
7	NM	wetlands without woody plants
8	NNO	non-forest stands of woody plants not associated with trees and shrubs
9	NZO	non-forest stands of woody plants connected with trees and shrubs
10	NZK	non-forest stands of trees mixed with shrubs
11	NNS	non-forest stands of woody plants not associated with trees
12	NZS	non-forest stands of woody plants connected with

Table 1: Coding According to Land	Use Type in Prague	(Source: Author, 2024)
-----------------------------------	--------------------	------------------------

	Code	Land use type
		trees
13	PLP	production field
14	PRZ	agricultural production
15	PLU	field – fallow
16	RAP	natural recreation areas
17	RAZ	recreational and garden settlements
18	RPP	garden park areas
19	RPH	Cemeteries
20	RV	educational recreational areas - ZOO, botanical garden
21	VPN	pedestrian area
22	ZL	meadows, pastures, grass fields
23	ZSZ	Gardens
24	XZ	unused areas with overgrowth of trees
25	ZSV	Vineyards
26	BR	Brownfields

Table 2: LaFU Types (Source: Author, 2024)

Symbol	Type of Unit—Description
А	forests and groups of greenery with a compact area over 25 ha
В	forests and groups of greenery with a compact area over 25 ha with surface waters
С	forests and groups of greenery with a compact area over 25 ha with internal open spaces

Symbol	Type of Unit—Description
D	forests and groups of greenery with an area of about 5-25 ha
Е	greenery complexes—with an area of about 0.5–5 ha
F	watercourses in open areas (farmlands)
G	watercourses with greenery
Н	surface standing waters with treeless surroundings (in open areas)
Ι	surface standing waters together with groups of greenery
J	orchard complexes
К	domination of open areas (farmlands)
L	urbanized areas—cities
Z	various types of LaFU with housing complexes and/or economic activity zones

The integration of LaFU analysis and MSPA in this study has presented interesting insights to guide the GBI vision of Prague. We used the results from the LaFU-MSPA intersection analysis and designed a strategic map defined by the distribution of GBI functional typologies in the city. The strategies for enhancing BGI functions were drawn with the reference of existing local and regional policies and also from best practices from other European city-regions. We tabulated the strategies amongst the LaFUs across different regional categories of urban, non-urban and connections. A prominent natural element visible in Prague are the Rivers Vltava and Berounka traversing it north to south (Fig. 22). The diagram also highlights the forest and farm core areas located to the periphery of Prague. While the central districts are largely urbanized with smaller green areas scattered across them, the forest cores exist adjacent to the urban districts. Although the forest cores and connections are not

continuous, they approximately form alternate wedges of forest cores and connections around the urban districts, with some forest wedges radially converging into the river zone. Beyond the forest ring, there is a dominant presence of farmlands that are fragmented by streets and roads. The final vision, as presented in Fig. 22, aims to guide for more cohesive strategies for defragmentation and improvement of the quality of Prague's GBI.

Figure 15: MSPA Results with 7 Morphological Pattern Elements (Source: Author)



Figure 16: MSPA Cores and Connections Compared to LaFU Obligatory Actions (in Ha) (Source: Author, 2024)



Figure 17: Cores and connections from MSPA overlaid over broad LAFU types (Source: Author, 2024)







### 7.2 Implications for Future Research

#### 7.2.1 Incorporating Green Infrastructure in Territorial Planning

Incorporation of GI within territorial planning has substantial implications for where and how people will live in future; such as community wellbeing while providing a sustainable and vibrant environment. Such an approach has the potential to bring urban environments on par with natural systems, emphasizing the coordinated co-merging of new green spaces, biodiversity conservation, and sustainable development practices (Hansen et al., 2019). Embracing GI in territorial planning will also have multifaceted implications which vary from conservation of the environment to economic stability and advantages for society. At its crux, incorporating GI within planning frameworks helps to create resilient cities. By blending natural components into urban environments, it balances the impacts associated with climate change/global warming without contributing to further resource degradation. Techniques such as rain gardens, green roofs, permeable pavements, and urban forests play the role of sponges that absorb excess rainwater, provides natural places for flooding while alleviating burdens upon conventional catchment systems (Staddon et al., 2018). Subsequently, this may reduce the net pollution while maintaining and improving quality of water, and creating environments that are healthy for wildlife as well as humans. In addition, incorporation of green spaces in urban regions would not only be important for improving the aesthetic quality but also contributes to enhanced physical and mental well-being for people. Having access to gardens, natural settings, and parks can and does lower levels of human stress, while augmenting physical activity and enhanced quality of air, which eventually improves the quality of life within communities (Bertram & Rehdanz, 2015). From an economic perspective, integration of GI provides ample scope for economic growth through job creation. Green projects such as renewable energy systems, green roof development and urban forestry tend to generate employment while fueling investment and innovation in sustainable technologies (Staddon et al., 2018). From a future perspective, extensive adoption of

130

green infrastructure within territorial planning would be instrumental in reshaping models of urban development around the world. It will also warrant the need for collaborative initiatives between urban planners, policymakers, local communities, and environmentalists, for ensuring its effective execution. Consistency in research, innovation, and adaptation of GI policies would be necessary to tackle emergent challenges while maximizing the advantages of this approach.

#### 7.2.2 Geographical Limitations of Green Infrastructure

The findings obtained through this research would have severe ramifications with regard to research on future limitations of GI for studies pertaining to the environment and urban areas. Developing and understanding about diverse geographical settings would be helpful in guiding policymakers, ecologists, and urban planners in designing more context-specific and effective systems for green infrastructure. Research in this area in the future should focus on the complex relationships between geographical aspects like the physical terrain, and biodiversity within natural systems and its influence on the effectiveness and design of GI. Investigating the way in which diverse regions and landscapes respond to and derive advantages from diverse sizes and types of green spaces would be intrinsic to planning urban green spaces. Such research would be beneficial in customizing strategies to maximize environmental, social and economic advantages in particular geographical contexts, thereby contributing to highly sustainable, adaptable, and resilient environments globally.

#### 7.2.3 Successful Zoning for Green Infrastructure in Territorial Plans

Empirical evidence that highlights the efficiency of zoning for GI within territorial plans provide a base for extensive avenues for future research, helps to create sustainable development, promotes environmental conservation, strengthens urban planning, and fosters socio-economic progress (Bajić et al., 2022). A key area for future research would lie in the understanding the beneficial socio-economic impacts of green infrastructure zoning. Investigating how such strategies would directly impact property values, well-being of community, and social equity within regions might present valuable inputs into optimizing territorial plans for inclusive and equitable development. Examining the direct link amongst zoning for parks and open spaces and economic advantages like increased value of property and lowered costs of healthcare owing to enhanced public health from improved green spaces could offer meaningful inputs to urban planners and policymakers.

In addition, the environmental benefits of green infrastructure zoning necessitate an in-depth investigation. For example, research should concentrate on long-term ecological advantages and resilience from such strategies such as the planning for thwarting the impacts from climate change, biodiversity conservation, and management of natural resources (C.-Coutts & Hahn, 2015). Comprehending the interrelationship between varied types of green infrastructure and its ecological impacts would be vital in refining territorial plans for maximum environmental effectiveness. Another key area of research in future should be better understanding governance and policy making in support of GI, etc. Evaluating the impact of current policies for zoning for GI and recognizing any barriers to its execution could make the way for policies that are highly robust, scalable, and adaptable. Research could also look into governmental structures and policy frameworks that stimulate collaborative initiatives among stakeholders, smoothen the process of decision-making, and encourage adaptive management approaches which will improve the execution of GI in territorial planning.

Furthermore, innovations in technology and their incorporation with GI planning offers a significant area for research. Investigating the use of advanced technologies such as Geographic Information Systems (GIS), remote sensing, and artificial intelligence in monitoring, designing, and assessing GI could bring about a revolution in terms of efficiency and impact of zoning plans (Zhang et al., 2021).

#### 7.2.4 Public Participation in Green Infrastructure Design

Future research on how to better integrate public participation in green infrastructure planning and design offers an important area of inquiry to improve sustainability relative to urban development. Creating an understanding about the effectiveness and dynamics of public involvement during planning and implementation of GI is an excellent area for future research. Examining how various socio-demographic groups engage in such procedures and the factors that influence their participation could be instrumental in providing valuable inputs. In addition, future research could also delve into fine tuning methods and tools for effective public engagement, ensuring inclusivity, and considering varied perspectives. Investigating the impact from public involvement on long-term success and maintenance of GI projects is a necessity (Wilker et al., 2016). Furthermore, examining the role played by technology and digital platforms in facilitating wider and highly inclusive participation warrants future research (Steen Møller & Stahl Olafsson, 2018). Developing an understanding about the sociological and psychological facets of public participation in GI design will be instrumental in providing novel strategies for nurturing engagement within a community (Goličnik Marušić, 2015). Future research within this area should make way for highly sustainable, impactful, and community-centric GI development in future.

Continuing with research related to public participation in green infrastructure planning and design in the future should also examine the synergies among climate resilience and public participation (Hügel & Davies, 2020). Examining the way in which involvement of community could contribute to improving the resilience of green infrastructure when confronted with climate change and extreme weather events is of utmost importance. Future research should focus on the adaptive capability of communities and the role played by public participation towards the development and maintenance of resilience systems of GI (Barclay & Klotz, 2019). In addition, future research on GI also stands to gain from investigating the economic ramifications of including the public in such projects. Evaluating the economic benefits and cost-effectiveness from community-driven GI projects in comparison with top-down designs could shed light on the long-term financial sustainability of such initiatives (Ying et al., 2022). In addition, the interrelationship between biodiversity and public participation in green infrastructure design also needs to be examined (Arya & Vishwavidyalaya, 2018). For example, future research should examine the way in which community engagement could improve and support biodiversity within such systems, thereby contributing to ecological balance and encouraging urban sustainability.

## 7.3 Recommendations for Policy and Practice

Focusing upon the results from an evaluation of public policy and its implementation, significant lessons have emerged on how the outcomes could be leveraged to bring in a positive change, instead of an assessment just for the purpose of criticism. Though there are valid concerns regarding gaps in coverage of GI and policies, places where they occur would offer significant hooks around which more effective strategic planning policies can be designed at local and regional levels (Sa' et al., 2017). In areas that are not covered through policies, it would be imperative to identify concepts or terms that would be having robust political traction, which can be comprehended with ease by diverse stakeholders, to develop support over several public for novel policy responses. In such situations, the power of the assessment tool for GI policy would rest in its capability to act as a catalyst for positive change and dialogues. Design of a deliberative and inclusive participatory procedure which comprises of all pertinent policy sector stakeholders within GI deliberations with the use of key bridges and hooks could be instrumental in reinforcing mainstream narratives (Hislop et al., 2019).

GI could be effective in making a substantial contribution towards delivering the key policy objectives of the EU and Prague, which is linked with rural/urban and regional development, disaster risk management, climate change, environment and agriculture (Sa' et al., 2017). Key policy objectives of the EU include sustainable development, climate change mitigation and adaptation, biodiversity conservation, water quality and management, resource efficiency and circular economy, and urban and rural development. While in Prague, the main policy objectives refer to sustainable urban development, environmental protection and climate action, tourism management, historical and cultural preservation, transportation and mobility, and governance and civic engagement. This would also take under its scope the sustainable development goals of the United Nations at a broad level. For example, these include the multifunctional potential for nature-based solutions that offer significant bridges as governments and institutions are required to respond to climate, health, and biodiversity emergencies. Responses of this frequently needs robust and joint leadership which will take people beyond their typical focus areas and develops new pathway towards innovation in policies at varied regional, local, national, or global levels. In such scenarios, engagement with stakeholders in accountable and inclusive partnerships would be the key to successful outcomes.

Considering that green infrastructure refers to an eco-conscious approach to urban development, it is inclusive of a network of semi-natural and natural components such as wetlands, green spaces, and permeable surfaces that are incorporated within urban context to tackle environmental challenges. Practitioners and policymakers need to stress the key aspects that would ensure effective realization of GI on a broad and multi-jurisdictional scale. At the outset, extensive policies that encourage the multifunctionality of GI are of utmost importance. Studies that have been carried out by Lafrenz (2022), emphasize the significance of multifunctional green spaces, highlighting the fact that they offer social, economic, and ecological advantages. It is imperative for policymakers to identify and stimulate the varied roles that GI could play, specific to mitigating climate change, improving air quality, and reducing urban heat island effect, providing more effective stormwater management, and improving net biodiversity. Moreover, a policy framework that is proactive and one which stresses multi-stakeholder engagement and collaboration is vital. It has been stated by Molla (2020), that the inclusion of diverse stakeholders in the planning, implementation, and maintenance of GI would improve its potential for success and its acceptance on a broad scale. The private sector, local government, and civil society participation could ensure that varied perspectives and necessities are taken into account, resulting in highly effective and culturally suitable GI solutions.

Making investments in research and development for innovative solutions in green infrastructure would be another major facet. Current developments in technology and design could substantially improve resilience and efficacy of GI. For example, research carried out by Arabi et al., (2015), was in favor of using green walls and roofs, which presented its potential in mitigating urban heat island effect while enhancing the quality of air. Furthermore, campaigns for educating and creating awareness have a key role to play in drawing support and participation from the public. This is in alignment with the findings obtained through the study carried out by Tsantopoulos et al., (2018), which described how education and public engagement were vital in nurturing a feeling of stewardship and ownership for GI. Policies should be framed around educating citizens about the advantages presented through green spaces which would result in augmented involvement of communities and support for green initiatives. Also, practice and policy need to concentrate on long-term planning and maintenance. Sustained human resource and financial commitments are crucial to ensure effectiveness and longevity of green infrastructure projects, as highlighted through the research carried out by Awwad Al-Shammari et al., (2022). Embracing the recommendations outlined above for green infrastructure policy and practice can make substantial contributions towards the development of highly sustainable, livable, and resilient cities. It comprises of a holistic approach that takes into account social, economic, and environmental aspects, thus nurturing a highly sustainable and healthier urban environment.

# References

- Abdulghany, A., & Farahat, B. (2023). TOWARDS URBAN BIODIVERSITY: SIMULATING DESIGN PARAMETERS FOR WILDLIFE-INCLUSIVE GREEN INFRASTRCUTURE. BAU Journal *Creative* Sustainable Development, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.54729/2789-8334.1104
- Abualhagag, A., & Valánszki, I. (2020). RETRACTED: Mapping Indicators of Cultural Ecosystem Services: Review and Relevance to Urban Context. *Journal of Landscape Ecology*, 13(1), 4–24. https://doi.org/10.2478/jlecol-2020-0001
- Ade, R., & Rehm, M. (2020). The unwritten history of green building rating tools: a personal view from some of the 'founding fathers.' *Building Research* & *Information*, 48(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/09613218.2019.1627179
- Adesoji, T., & Pearce, A. (2024). Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Green Infrastructure: A Systematic Exploration of Definitions and Their Origins. *Environments*, 11(1), 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/environments11010008
- Ahmad, M., Arkema, C., Berman, I., Brownwood, B., Chang, G., Erickson, S., Gregozek, Z., Snook, M., Stein, P., Thio, T., & Zhu, E. (2018). Green Infrastructure Distribution in Portland, Oregon. 2018(April). https://www.reed.edu/es/assets/ES300-2018-project-Green-Infrastructure-Distribution-FINAL.pdf
- Ali Adil, I. A. (2019). Urban resilience: a call to reframing planning discourses. *The Routledge Handbook of Urban Resilience*, *November 2019*, 35–46.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/349125958\_Urban\_Resilience \_A\_Call\_to\_Reframing\_Planning\_Discourses

- Alida, & Alves. (2020). No Combining green-blue-grey infrastructure for flood mitigation and enhancement of cobenefits.
  https://pure.tudelft.nl/ws/portalfiles/portal/68662526/2020\_IHE\_PHD\_THESIS\_ALVES\_BELOQUI\_i.pdf
- Allred, S., Stedman, R., Heady, L., & Strong, K. (2021). Incorporating biodiversity in municipal land-use planning: An assessment of technical assistance, policy capacity, and conservation outcomes in New York's Hudson Valley. *Land Use Policy*, 104(March), 105344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2021.105344
- Alshafei, I., & Faqra, A. (2023). Necessity over luxury: The Role of Green Infrastructure in Building Resilience in the Pandemic World. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, *1210*(1), 012030. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/1210/1/012030
- Anbumozhi, V., & Kojima, M. (2019). Resilience and Environmental Sustainability. *Transforming and Deepening the ASEAN Community*, *May*, 72–104. https://www.thinkasia.org/bitstream/handle/11540/10338/0.AV2040\_VOL3.pdf?sequence =1#page=82
- Andrade, R., Franklin, J., Larson, K. L., Swan, C. M., Lerman, S. B., Bateman, H. L., Warren, P. S., & York, A. (2021). Predicting the assembly of novel communities in urban ecosystems. *Landscape Ecology*, *36*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-020-01142-1

- Arabi, R., Shahidan, M., Kamal, M. S., Jaafar, M., & Rakhshandehroo, M. (2015). Mitigating Urban Heat Island Through Green Roofs. *Current World Environment*, 10(Special-Issue1), 918–927. https://doi.org/10.12944/CWE.10.Special-Issue1.111
- Arnbjerg-Nielsen, K., Willems, P., Olsson, J., Beecham, S., Pathirana, A., Bülow Gregersen, I., Madsen, H., & Nguyen, V.-T.-V. (2013). Impacts of climate change on rainfall extremes and urban drainage systems: a review. *Water Science and Technology*, 68(1), 16–28. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2013.251
- Arnstein, S. R. (1969). A Ladder Of Citizen Participation. Journal of the American Institute of Planners, 35(4), 216–224. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944366908977225
- Arya, A. K., & Vishwavidyalaya, G. K. (2018). *Tittle : Biodiversity Conservation with Public Participation. October.* https://www.researchgate.net/publication/328342335\_Biodiversity\_Con servation\_with\_Public\_Participation#:~:text=Public participation and outreach also,as research and wildlife management.
- Ashford, O. S., Guan, S., Capone, D., Rigney, K., Rowley, K., Cordes, E. E., Cortés, J., Rouse, G. W., Mendoza, G. F., Sweetman, A. K., & Levin, L. A. (2021). Relationships between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning proxies strengthen when approaching chemosynthetic deep-sea methane seeps. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 288(1957), 20210950. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2021.0950
- Awwad Al-Shammari, A. S., Alshammrei, S., Nawaz, N., & Tayyab, M. (2022). Green Human Resource Management and Sustainable

Performance With the Mediating Role of Green Innovation: A Perspective of New Technological Era. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2022.901235

- Ayanu, Y. Z., Conrad, C., Nauss, T., Wegmann, M., & Koellner, T. (2012).
  Quantifying and Mapping Ecosystem Services Supplies and Demands: A
  Review of Remote Sensing Applications. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(16), 8529–8541. https://doi.org/10.1021/es300157u
- Badura, T., Krkoška Lorencová, E., Ferrini, S., & Vačkářová, D. (2021).
  Public support for urban climate adaptation policy through nature-based solutions in Prague. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 215, 104215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2021.104215
- Baffoe, G., Zhou, X., Moinuddin, M., Somanje, A. N., Kuriyama, A., Mohan, G., Saito, O., & Takeuchi, K. (2021). Urban–rural linkages: effective solutions for achieving sustainable development in Ghana from an SDG interlinkage perspective. *Sustainability Science*, *16*(4), 1341–1362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-021-00929-8
- Bag, P. K. (2016). Green infrastructure. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 51(42),
  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/275032914\_Green\_Infrastruct ure
- Bagstad, K. J., Johnson, G. W., Voigt, B., & Villa, F. (2013). Spatial dynamics of ecosystem service flows: A comprehensive approach to quantifying actual services. *Ecosystem Services*, 4, 117–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2012.07.012

- Bailey, K., & Grossardt, T. (2006). Addressing the Arnstein Gap: Improving Public Confidence in Transportation Planning and Design through Structured Public Involvement (SPI). January. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228640330\_Addressing\_the\_ Arnstein\_Gap\_Improving\_Public\_Confidence\_in\_Transportation\_Plann ing\_and\_Design\_through\_Structured\_Public\_Involvement\_SPI
- Bajić, L., Vasiljević, N., Čavlović, D., Radić, B., & Gavrilović, S. (2022). A
  Green Infrastructure Planning Approach: Improving Territorial Cohesion
  through Urban-Rural Landscape in Vojvodina, Serbia. *Land*, *11*(9), 1550.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/land11091550
- Barclay, N., & Klotz, L. (2019). Role of community participation for green stormwater infrastructure development. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 251, 109620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.109620
- Bartesaghi-Koc, C., Osmond, P., & Peters, A. (2019). Mapping and classifying green infrastructure typologies for climate-related studies based on remote sensing data. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 37, 154–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.11.008
- Bautista-Puig, N., Benayas, J., Mañana-Rodríguez, J., Suárez, M., & Sanz-Casado, E. (2022). The role of urban resilience in research and its contribution to sustainability. *Cities*, 126, 103715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2022.103715
- Beery, T. H., Raymond, C. M., Kyttä, M., Olafsson, A. S., Plieninger, T.,Sandberg, M., Stenseke, M., Tengö, M., & Jönsson, K. I. (2017).Fostering incidental experiences of nature through green infrastructure

planning. *Ambio*, 46(7), 717–730. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-017-0920-z

- Belčáková, I., Świąder, M., & Bartyna-Zielińska, M. (2019). The Green Infrastructure in Cities as A Tool for Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation: Slovakian and Polish Experiences. *Atmosphere*, 10(9), 552. https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos10090552
- Bélinga, A.-G., & Haziti, M. El. (2023). Overviewing the emerging methodsforpredictingurbanSprawlfeatures.https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202341803008
- Bell, C. D., Spahr, K., Grubert, E., Stokes-Draut, J., Gallo, E., McCray, J. E., & Hogue, T. S. (2019). Decision Making on the Gray-Green Stormwater Infrastructure Continuum. *Journal of Sustainable Water in the Built Environment*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1061/JSWBAY.0000871
- Bertram, C., & Rehdanz, K. (2015). The role of urban green space for human well-being. *Ecological Economics*, 120, 139–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2015.10.013
- Biernacka, M., & Kronenberg, J. (2019). Urban Green Space Availability, Accessibility and Attractiveness, and the Delivery of Ecosystem Services. https://digitalcommons.lmu.edu/cate/vol12/iss1/5/
- Birkhofer, K., Diehl, E., Andersson, J., Ekroos, J., Früh-Müller, A., Machnikowski, F., Mader, V. L., Nilsson, L., Sasaki, K., Rundlöf, M., Wolters, V., & Smith, H. G. (2015). Ecosystem servicesâ€"current challenges and opportunities for ecological research. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2014.00087

- Bogusz, M., Matysik-Pejas, R., Krasnodębski, A., & Dziekański, P. (2021).
  The Concept of Zero Waste in the Context of Supporting Environmental
  Protection by Consumers. *Energies*, 14(18), 5964.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/en14185964
- Boyd, D., Pathak, M., van Diemen, R., & Skea, J. (2022). Mitigation cobenefits of climate change adaptation: A case-study analysis of eight cities. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 77, 103563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2021.103563
- Bratman, G. N., Anderson, C. B., Berman, M. G., Cochran, B., de Vries, S.,
  Flanders, J., Folke, C., Frumkin, H., Gross, J. J., Hartig, T., Kahn, P. H.,
  Kuo, M., Lawler, J. J., Levin, P. S., Lindahl, T., Meyer-Lindenberg, A.,
  Mitchell, R., Ouyang, Z., Roe, J., ... Daily, G. C. (2019). Nature and
  mental health: An ecosystem service perspective. *Science Advances*,
  5(7). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aax0903
- Breuste, J., Artmann, M., Li, J., & Xie, M. (2015). Special Issue on Green Infrastructure for Urban Sustainability. *Journal of Urban Planning and Development*, 141(3). https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)UP.1943-5444.0000291
- Brglez, K., Perc, M., & Lukman, R. K. (2023). A conceptual model for a circular city: a case study of Maribor, Slovenia. *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10098-023-02579-z
- Browning, M. H. E. M., Rigolon, A., McAnirlin, O., & Yoon, H. (Violet).
  (2022). Where greenspace matters most: A systematic review of urbanicity, greenspace, and physical health. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 217, 104233.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2021.104233

- Budiharto, W., Irwansyah, E., Suroso, J. S., Chowanda, A., Ngarianto, H., & Gunawan, A. A. S. (2021). Mapping and 3D modelling using quadrotor drone and GIS software. *Journal of Big Data*, 8(1), 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40537-021-00436-8
- Bulkeley, H., Broto, V., & Edwards, G. (2014). An Urban Politics of Climate Change. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315763040
- Bush, J., Ashley, G., Foster, B., & Hall, G. (2021). Integrating Green Infrastructure into Urban Planning: Developing Melbourne's Green Factor Tool. Urban Planning, 6(1), 20–31. https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v6i1.3515
- Butt, N., Shanahan, D. F., Shumway, N., Bekessy, S. A., Fuller, R. A., Watson,
  J. E. M., Maggini, R., & Hole, D. G. (2018). Opportunities for
  biodiversity conservation as cities adapt to climate change. *Geo: Geography and Environment*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/geo2.52
- C. Mell, I. (2015). Establishing the rationale for green infrastructure investment in Indian cities: is the mainstreaming of urban greening an expanding or diminishing reality? *AIMS Environmental Science*, 2(2), 134–153. https://doi.org/10.3934/environsci.2015.2.134
- Calheiros, C. S. C., & Stefanakis, A. I. (2021). Green Roofs Towards Circular and Resilient Cities. *Circular Economy and Sustainability*, 1(1), 395– 411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43615-021-00033-0
- Calliari, E., Castellari, S., Davis, M., Linnerooth-Bayer, J., Martin, J., Mysiak, J., Pastor, T., Ramieri, E., Scolobig, A., Sterk, M., Veerkamp, C.,

Wendling, L., & Zandersen, M. (2022). Building climate resilience through nature-based solutions in Europe: A review of enabling knowledge, finance and governance frameworks. *Climate Risk Management*, *37*, 100450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2022.100450

- Chamhuri, N. H., Hamdan, H., Ahmah, P., & Ismail, F. (2015). Conceptual Framework of Public Participation in Ensuring Quality of Life of the Urban Poor in Malaysia. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 168, 349–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.10.240
- Chygryn, O., Bilan, Y., & Kwilinski, A. (2020). Stakeholders of Green Competitiveness: Innovative Approaches for Creating Communicative System. *Marketing and Management of Innovations*, *3*, 356–368. https://doi.org/10.21272/mmi.2020.3-26
- Cinner, J. E., & Barnes, M. L. (2019). Social Dimensions of Resilience in Social-Ecological Systems. One Earth, 1(1), 51–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2019.08.003
- City of Vancouver. (2022). Vancouver Plan 2022-06-27. 85. https://vancouverplan.ca/wp-content/uploads/Vancouver-Plan-2022-06-27.pdf
- Colding, J. (2011). The Role of Ecosystem Services in Contemporary Urban Planning. In Urban Ecology (pp. 228–237). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199563562.003.0028
- Colding, J., & Barthel, S. (2019). Exploring the social-ecological systems discourse 20 years later. *Ecology and Society*, 24(1). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-10598-240102

- Colding, J., Gren, Å., & Barthel, S. (2020). The incremental demise of urban green spaces. *Land*, 9(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/LAND9050162
- Cole, L. B., McPhearson, T., Herzog, C. P., & Russ, A. (2017). Green Infrastructure. In A. Russ & M. E. Krasny (Eds.), Urban Environmental Education Review. Cornell University Press. https://doi.org/10.7591/cornell/9781501705823.003.0028
- Collard, R. C., Dempsey, J., & Holmberg, M. (2020). Extirpation despite regulation? Environmental assessment and caribou. *Conservation Science and Practice*, 2(4), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.166
- Cortina-Segarra, J., García-Sánchez, I., Grace, M., Andrés, P., Baker, S., Bullock, C., Decleer, K., Dicks, L. V., Fisher, J. L., Frouz, J., Klimkowska, A., Kyriazopoulos, A. P., Moreno-Mateos, D., Rodríguez-González, P. M., Sarkki, S., & Ventocilla, J. L. (2021). Barriers to ecological restoration in Europe: expert perspectives. *Restoration Ecology*, 29(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13346
- Cortinovis, C., & Geneletti, D. (2018). Ecosystem services in urban plans: What is there, and what is still needed for better decisions. *Land Use Policy*, 70, 298–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2017.10.017
- Costanza, R., D'Arge, R., De Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'Neill, R. V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R. G., Sutton, P., & Van Den Belt, M. (1997). The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Nature*, 387(6630), 253–260. https://doi.org/10.1038/387253a0
- Costanza, R., de Groot, R., Sutton, P., van der Ploeg, S., Anderson, S. J.,

Kubiszewski, I., Farber, S., & Turner, R. K. (2014). Changes in the global value of ecosystem services. *Global Environmental Change*, *26*, 152–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.04.002

- Council, B. C. (2023). One Million Trees. https://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/onemilliontrees
- Coutts, A., Beringer, J., & Tapper, N. (2010). Changing Urban Climate and
  CO 2 Emissions: Implications for the Development of Policies for
  Sustainable Cities. Urban Policy and Research, 28(1), 27–47.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/08111140903437716
- Coutts, C., & Hahn, M. (2015). Green Infrastructure, Ecosystem Services, and Human Health. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *12*(8), 9768–9798. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120809768
- Csóka, M., Rózsa, G., Marko, I., & Stanko, Š. (2021). Alternatives how to mitigate urban flooding and CSO in urbanized areas used in European cities and towns. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 1209(1), 012017. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899x/1209/1/012017
- Cucca, R. (2012). The Unexpected Consequences of Sustainability Green Cities Between Innovation and Ecogentrification. June. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/268147662\_The\_Unexpected \_Consequences\_of\_Sustainability\_Green\_Cities\_Between\_Innovation\_ and\_Ecogentrification

Darnhofer, I., Lamine, C., Strauss, A., & Navarrete, M. (2016). The resilience

of family farms: Towards a relational approach. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 44, 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2016.01.013

- Davies, C., & Lafortezza, R. (2017). Urban green infrastructure in Europe: Is greenspace planning and policy compliant? *Land Use Policy*, 69, 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2017.08.018
- Dennis, M., Barlow, D., Cavan, G., Cook, P., Gilchrist, A., Handley, J., James,
  P., Thompson, J., Tzoulas, K., Wheater, C. P., & Lindley, S. (2018).
  Mapping Urban Green Infrastructure: A Novel Landscape-Based
  Approach to Incorporating Land Use and Land Cover in the Mapping of
  Human-Dominated Systems. *Land*, 7(1), 17.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/land7010017
- Di Marino, M., Tiitu, M., Lapintie, K., Viinikka, A., & Kopperoinen, L. (2019). Integrating green infrastructure and ecosystem services in land use planning. Results from two Finnish case studies. *Land Use Policy*, 82, 643–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2019.01.007
- Drápela, E. (2023). Creating Strategies to Mitigate the Adverse Effects of Overtourism in Rural Destinations: Experience from the Czech Republic. Sustainability, 15(24), 16958. https://doi.org/10.3390/su152416958
- Dwivedi, A., & Mohan, B. K. (2018). Impact of green roof on micro climate to reduce Urban Heat Island. *Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rsase.2018.01.003
- Eisenman, T. S. (2013). Frederick Law Olmsted, Green Infrastructure, and the Evolving City. *Journal of Planning History*, 12(4), 287–311. https://doi.org/10.1177/1538513212474227

- Elands, B., Peters, K., & de Vries, S. (2018). Promoting social cohesion increasing well-being. In M. van den Bosch & W. Bird (Eds.), Oxford Textbook of Nature and Public Health (pp. 116–122). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/med/9780198725916.003.0044
- Elisha, O. D., & Felix, M. J. (2020). The Loss of Biodiversity and Ecosystems: A Threat to the Functioning of our Planet, Economy and Human Society. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/349964544\_The\_Loss\_of\_Bio diversity\_and\_Ecosystems\_A\_Threat\_to\_the\_Functioning\_of\_our\_Plan et\_Economy\_and\_Human\_Society
- EMANUEL, M. (2019). Making a bicycle city: infrastructure and cycling in Copenhagen since 1880. Urban History, 46(3), 493–517. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0963926818000573
- Etinay, N., Egbu, C., & Murray, V. (2018). Building Urban Resilience for Disaster Risk Management and Disaster Risk Reduction. *Procedia Engineering*, 212, 575–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2018.01.074
- European commision. (2023). *Green infrastructure*. https://environment.ec.europa.eu/topics/nature-and-biodiversity/greeninfrastructure\_en#:~:text=Green infrastructure has been defined,example%2C water purification%2C improving air
- European Commision. (2023). *Nature-based solutions*. https://research-andinnovation.ec.europa.eu/research-area/environment/nature-basedsolutions\_en

European commission. (2023). Green infrastructure Promoting the use of

green infrastructure in all EU policies, to help restore nature and boost biodiversity. https://environment.ec.europa.eu/topics/nature-andbiodiversity/green-infrastructure\_en#:~:text=Green infrastructure has been defined,example%2C water purification%2C improving air

- European Environment Agency. (2014a). *Green Infrastructure (GI) Enhancing Europe 's Natural Capital*. https://www.eea.europa.eu/policydocuments/green-infrastructure-gi-2014-enhancing
- European Environment Agency. (2014b). Spatial analysis of green infrastructure in Europe. In *EEA Technical Report* (Issue 2). https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/spatial-analysis-of-greeninfrastructure%0Ahttp://www.eea.europa.eu/highlights/new-mappingmethod-for-2018green%0Ahttp://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/spatial-analysis-

of-green-infrastructure

- Europeon commision. (2023). Green infrastructure. https://environment.ec.europa.eu/topics/nature-and-biodiversity/greeninfrastructure\_en
- Farinha-Marques, P., Lameiras, J. M., Fernandes, C., Silva, S., & Guilherme,
  F. (2011). Urban biodiversity: a review of current concepts and contributions to multidisciplinary approaches. *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research*, 24(3), 247–271. https://doi.org/10.1080/13511610.2011.592062
- Fastenrath, S., & Braun, B. (2018). Sustainability transition pathways in the building sector: Energy-efficient building in Freiburg (Germany). *Applied Geography*, 90, 339–349.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2016.09.004

- Feddes, F., de Lange, M., & te Brömmelstroet, M. (2020). Hard work in paradise. The contested making of Amsterdam as a cycling city. In *The Politics of Cycling Infrastructure* (pp. 133–156). Policy Press. https://doi.org/10.1332/policypress/9781447345152.003.0008
- Felappi, J. F., Sommer, J. H., Falkenberg, T., Terlau, W., & Kötter, T. (2020).
  Green infrastructure through the lens of "One Health": A systematic review and integrative framework uncovering synergies and trade-offs between mental health and wildlife support in cities. *Science of The Total Environment*, 748, 141589.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141589
- Feng, Q. (2021). Reviewed Interpretations and Inspirations on the Development and Strategies of Garden City Theory in Singapore. *Journal of Architectural Research and Development*, 5(3). https://doi.org/10.26689/jard.v5i3.2171
- Finka, M., Ondrejička, V., Jamečný, Ľ., & Husár, M. (2017). Public Participation Procedure in Integrated Transport and Green Infrastructure Planning. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 245, 052054. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/245/5/052054
- Fitzová, H., & Matulová, M. (2020). Comparison of urban public transport systems in the Czech Republic and Slovakia: Factors underpinning efficiency. *Research in Transportation Economics*, 81, 100824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2020.100824

Fleming, Z. (2023). Copenhagen's Superkilen: A Model for Culturally Diverse

*Public Spaces*. https://www.theurbanist.org/2023/04/13/copenhagens-superkilen-a-model-for-culturally-diverse-public-spaces/

- Friesenecker, M., Thaler, T., & Clar, C. (2023). Green gentrification and changing planning policies in Vienna? Urban Research & Practice, 1– 23. https://doi.org/10.1080/17535069.2023.2228275
- Fu, X., Hopton, M. E., & Wang, X. (2021). Assessment of green infrastructure performance through an urban resilience lens. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 289, 125146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.125146
- Furberg, D., Ban, Y., & Mörtberg, U. (2020). Monitoring Urban Green Infrastructure Changes and Impact on Habitat Connectivity Using High-Resolution Satellite Data. *Remote Sensing*, 12(18), 3072. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12183072
- Garcia, S. (2019). *Quantifying Ecosystem Services of Green Infrastructure in Austin,* https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/18456/Q uantifyingEcosystemServicesofGreenInfrastructureATX.pdf?sequence= 1
- Garmendia, E., Apostolopoulou, E., Adams, W. M., & Bormpoudakis, D. (2016). Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure in Europe: Boundary object or ecological trap? *Land Use Policy*, 56, 315–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2016.04.003
- Ge, B., Wang, C., & Song, Y. (2023). Ecosystem Services Research in Rural Areas: A Systematic Review Based on Bibliometric Analysis. *Sustainability*, 15(6), 5082. https://doi.org/10.3390/su15065082

Georgina Mace. (2016). Ecosystem Services Where is the discipline heading?

- Giles-Corti, B., Moudon, A. V., Lowe, M., Adlakha, D., Cerin, E., Boeing, G., Higgs, C., Arundel, J., Liu, S., Hinckson, E., Salvo, D., Adams, M. A., Badland, H., Florindo, A. A., Gebel, K., Hunter, R. F., Mitáš, J., Oyeyemi, A. L., Puig-Ribera, A., ... Sallis, J. F. (2022). Creating healthy and sustainable cities: what gets measured, gets done. *The Lancet Global Health*, *10*(6), e782–e785. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(22)00070-5
- Goličnik Marušić, B. (2015). Social behaviour as a basis for design and development of green infrastructure. Urbani Izziv, 26(supplement). https://doi.org/10.5379/urbani-izziv-en-2015-26-supplement-009
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., & Barton, D. N. (2013). Classifying and valuing ecosystem services for urban planning. *Ecological Economics*, 86, 235– 245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.08.019
- Grădinaru, S. R., & Hersperger, A. M. (2019). Green infrastructure in strategic spatial plans: Evidence from European urban regions. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 40, 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.04.018
- Green. (2019). What is Green Infrastructure? U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. https://www.epa.gov/green-infrastructure/what-greeninfrastructure#:~:text=In 2019%2C Congress enacted the,to store%2C infiltrate%2C or evapotranspirate
- Grêt-Regamey, A., Altwegg, J., Sirén, E. A., van Strien, M. J., & Weibel, B. (2017). Integrating ecosystem services into spatial planning—A spatial decision support tool. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 165, 206–219.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.05.003

- Guide, A. S. (2021). Understanding Green Infrastructure at Different Scales : Introduction to the guide. 2019. https://personalpages.manchester.ac.uk/staff/adam.barker/Understandin g-GI-Scales-Guide.pdf
- Gürtler, K., Postpischil, R., & Quitzow, R. (2019). The dismantling of renewable energy policies: The cases of Spain and the Czech Republic. *Energy Policy*, 133, 110881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.110881
- Haaland, C., & van den Bosch, C. K. (2015). Challenges and strategies for urban green-space planning in cities undergoing densification: A review. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 14(4), 760–771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2015.07.009
- Haase, D., Kabisch, S., Haase, A., Andersson, E., Banzhaf, E., Baró, F., Brenck, M., Fischer, L. K., Frantzeskaki, N., Kabisch, N., Krellenberg, K., Kremer, P., Kronenberg, J., Larondelle, N., Mathey, J., Pauleit, S., Ring, I., Rink, D., Schwarz, N., & Wolff, M. (2017). Greening cities – To be socially inclusive? About the alleged paradox of society and ecology in cities. *Habitat International*, 64, 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2017.04.005
- Han, H. (2017). Singapore, a Garden City. *The Journal of Environment & Development*, 26(1), 3–24. https://doi.org/10.1177/1070496516677365
- Hanna, E., & Comín, F. A. (2021). Urban Green Infrastructure and Sustainable
  Development: A Review. Sustainability, 13(20), 11498.

https://doi.org/10.3390/su132011498

- Hansen, R., Frantzeskaki, N., McPhearson, T., Rall, E., Kabisch, N., Kaczorowska, A., Kain, J. H., Artmann, M., & Pauleit, S. (2015). The uptake of the ecosystem services concept in planning discourses of European and American cities. *Ecosystem Services*, 12(2014), 228–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.11.013
- Hansen, R., Olafsson, A. S., van der Jagt, A. P. N., Rall, E., & Pauleit, S. (2019). Planning multifunctional green infrastructure for compact cities: What is the state of practice? *Ecological Indicators*, *96*, 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.09.042
- Hattori, T. (2015). Park biodiversity strategy. Landscape Ecology and Management, 20(1), 37–40. https://doi.org/10.5738/jale.20.37
- Hauck, J., Schweppe-Kraft, B., Albert, C., Görg, C., Jax, K., Jensen, R., Fürst, C., Maes, J., Ring, I., Hönigová, I., Burkhard, B., Mehring, M., Tiefenbach, M., Grunewald, K., Schwarzer, M., Meurer, J., Sommerhäuser, M., Priess, J. A., Schmidt, J., & Grêt-Regamey, A. (2013). The Promise of the Ecosystem Services Concept for Planning and Decision-Making. *GAIA Ecological Perspectives for Science and Society*, 22(4), 232–236. https://doi.org/10.14512/gaia.22.4.6
- Hejl, M. (2019). History of vegetation roofs in the Czech Republic. IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, 566(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/566/1/012009
- Helfenstein, J., & Kienast, F. (2014). Ecosystem service state and trends at the regional to national level: A rapid assessment. *Ecological Indicators*, *36*,

11-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2013.06.031

- Hislop, M., Scott, A. J., & Corbett, A. (2019). What Does Good Green Infrastructure Planning Policy Look Like? Developing and Testing a Policy Assessment Tool Within Central Scotland UK. *Planning Theory* & *Practice*, 20(5), 633–655. https://doi.org/10.1080/14649357.2019.1678667
- Hladíková, L., & Jebavý, M. (2020). Assessment of Green Spaces Development in Prague During Years 1901–2010. *Scientia Agriculturae Bohemica*, 51(1), 15–21. https://doi.org/10.2478/sab-2020-0003
- Hörcher, D., & Tirachini, A. (2021). A review of public transport economics. *Economics of Transportation*, 25, 100196.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecotra.2021.100196
- Hügel, S., & Davies, A. R. (2020). Public participation, engagement, and climate change adaptation: A review of the research literature. WIREs Climate Change, 11(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.645
- Hussein, J., Kumble, P., & Hanson IV, H. W. (2023). Study of Green Infrastructure in European Cities: Opportunities and possibilities. *Journal of Regional and City Planning*, 34(3), 270–285. https://doi.org/10.5614/jpwk.2023.34.3.3
- Hussein, J., Salama, M., Kumble, P., & IV, H. W. H. (2020). The Impact of the Relation Between Political Borders and Ecosystems in Creating Green Infrastructure Opportunities - the City of Prague. December. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/347540896\_The\_Impact\_of\_t he\_Relation\_Between\_Political\_Borders\_and\_Ecosystems\_in\_Creating

\_Green\_Infrastructure\_Opportunities\_-\_the\_City\_of\_Prague

- Interreg. (2020). Managing Green Infrastructure in Central European Landscapes Green infrastructure strategies and action plans based on transnational and regional assessments of its benefits and ecological functions Managing Green Infrastructure in Central European Landsc. https://programme2014-20.interregcentral.eu/Content.Node/MaGICLandscapes-E-Book-CM-Reduced-Size.pdf
- Ismail, Z., Aziz, H. A., Nasir, N. M., & Taib, M. Z. M. (2012). Comparative study on green roof mechanism in developed countries. 2012 IEEE Symposium on Business, Engineering and Industrial Applications, 678– 683. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISBEIA.2012.6422975
- James, P., Banay, R. F., Hart, J. E., & Laden, F. (2015). A Review of the Health Benefits of Greenness. *Current Epidemiology Reports*, 2(2), 131– 142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40471-015-0043-7
- Jang, N. (2021). Green infrastructure planning for social equity: Utilizing resilience to facilitate implementation in the City of Vancouver, Canada. https://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:1686200/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Janiszek, M., & Krzysztofik, R. (2023). Green Infrastructure as an Effective Tool for Urban Adaptation—Solutions from a Big City in a Postindustrial Region. Sustainability, 15(11), 8928. https://doi.org/10.3390/su15118928

Jaszczak, A., Kristianova, K., Pochodyła, E., Kazak, J. K., & Młynarczyk, K.

(2021). Revitalization of Public Spaces in Cittaslow Towns: Recent Urban Redevelopment in Central Europe. *Sustainability*, *13*(5), 2564. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13052564

- Jato-Espino, D., Capra-Ribeiro, F., Moscardó, V., Bartolomé del Pino, L. E., Mayor-Vitoria, F., Gallardo, L. O., Carracedo, P., & Dietrich, K. (2023).
  A systematic review on the ecosystem services provided by green infrastructure. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 86, 127998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2023.127998
- Jia, S., Yang, C., Wang, M., & Failler, P. (2022). Heterogeneous Impact of Land-Use on Climate Change: Study From a Spatial Perspective. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2022.840603
- Jiang, H., Peng, J., Zhao, Y., Xu, D., & Dong, J. (2022). Zoning for ecosystem restoration based on ecological network in mountainous region. *Ecological Indicators*, 142, 109138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2022.109138
- Kabisch, N. (2015). Ecosystem service implementation and governance challenges in urban green space planning—The case of Berlin, Germany. *Land* Use Policy, 42, 557–567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2014.09.005
- Kabisch, N., Frantzeskaki, N., Pauleit, S., Naumann, S., Davis, M., Artmann, M., Haase, D., Knapp, S., Korn, H., Stadler, J., Zaunberger, K., & Bonn, A. (2016). Nature-based solutions to climate change mitigation and adaptation in urban areas: perspectives on indicators, knowledge gaps, barriers, and opportunities for action. *Ecology and Society*, 21(2), art39.

https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08373-210239

- Kabisch, N., Strohbach, M., Haase, D., & Kronenberg, J. (2016). Urban green space availability in European cities. *Ecological Indicators*, 70, 586–596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.02.029
- Kabisch, N., van den Bosch, M., & Lafortezza, R. (2017). The health benefits of nature-based solutions to urbanization challenges for children and the elderly A systematic review. *Environmental Research*, *159*, 362–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.08.004
- Kalabisová, J., & Plzáková, L. (2016). Sustainable Tourism Development through Knowledge Transfer. In *Tourism Management, Marketing, and Development*. Palgrave Macmillan US. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137401854\_11
- Kalousek, M. (2021). SOLAR FACADE FOR CLIMATIC CONDITION IN THE CZECH REPUBLIC. Feburary. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/349537853\_SOLAR\_FACAD E\_FOR\_CLIMATIC\_CONDITION\_IN\_THE\_CZECH\_REPUBLIC
- Karabakan, B., & Mert, Y. (2021). Measuring the Green Infrastructure Resilience in Turkey. *Chinese Journal of Urban and Environmental Studies*, 09(03). https://doi.org/10.1142/S2345748121500147
- Khodadad, M., Aguilar-Barajas, I., & Khan, A. Z. (2023). Green Infrastructure for Urban Flood Resilience: A Review of Recent Literature on Bibliometrics, Methodologies, and Typologies. *Water*, 15(3), 523. https://doi.org/10.3390/w15030523

Kim, D., & Song, S.-K. (2019). The Multifunctional Benefits of Green

Infrastructure in Community Development: An Analytical Review Basedon447Cases.Sustainability,11(14),3917.https://doi.org/10.3390/su11143917

KONÁŠOVÁ, Š. (2019). THE ROLE OF GREEN ROOFS IN MITIGATING THE URBAN HEAT ISLAND EFFECT IN DIFFERENT CLIMATE CONDITIONS.
https://dspace.cvut.cz/bitstream/handle/10467/83113/F1-D-2019-Konasova-Sarka-Disertacni prace - Sarka Konasova.pdf;jsessionid=97E1CF9799DAF3B174E058FB18C2A19F?s equence=-1

- Kong, L., Mu, X., Hu, G., & Zhang, Z. (2022). The application of resilience theory in urban development: a literature review. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 29(33), 49651–49671. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-20891-x
- Kowarik, I., Fischer, L. K., & Kendal, D. (2020). Biodiversity Conservation and Sustainable Urban Development. *Sustainability*, 12(12), 4964. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12124964
- Kremen, C., & Merenlender, A. M. (2018). Landscapes that work for biodiversity and people. Science, 362(6412). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau6020
- Krkoška lorencová, E., Harmáčková, Z. V., Landová, L., Pártl, A., & Vačkář, D. (2016). Assessing impact of land use and climate change on regulating ecosystem services in the czech republic. *Ecosystem Health and Sustainability*, 2(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/ehs2.1210

- Lafrenz, A. J. (2022). Designing Multifunctional Urban Green Spaces: An Inclusive Public Health Framework. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(17), 10867. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph191710867
- Langemeyer, J., & Gómez-Baggethun, E. (2018). Urban biodiversity and ecosystem services. *Urban Biodiversity*, 36–53. https://doi.org/10.9774/gleaf.9781315402581\_4
- Lehnert, M., Tokar, V., Jurek, M., & Geletič, J. (2021). Summer thermal comfort in Czech cities: measured effects of blue and green features in city centres. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, 65(8), 1277–1289. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-020-02010-y
- Lemaire, X., & Kerr, D. (2017). Inclusive Urban Planning Promoting Equality and Inclusivity in Urban Planning Practices. September. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/351902692\_Inclusive\_Urban\_ Planning\_-

\_Promoting\_Equality\_and\_Inclusivity\_in\_Urban\_Planning\_Practices

- Lepczyk, C. A., Aronson, M. F. J., Evans, K. L., Goddard, M. A., Lerman, S. B., & MacIvor, J. S. (2017). Biodiversity in the City: Fundamental Questions for Understanding the Ecology of Urban Green Spaces for Biodiversity Conservation. *BioScience*, 67(9), 799–807. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/bix079
- Lerouge, F., Gulinck, H., & Vranken, L. (2017). Valuing ecosystem services to explore scenarios for adaptive spatial planning. *Ecological Indicators*, *81*, 30–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.05.018

- Li, J., Wang, Y., Ni, Z., Chen, S., & Xia, B. (2020). An integrated strategy to improve the microclimate regulation of green-blue-grey infrastructures in specific urban forms. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 271, 122555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.122555
- Liquete, C., Kleeschulte, S., Dige, G., Maes, J., Grizzetti, B., Olah, B., & Zulian, G. (2015). Mapping green infrastructure based on ecosystem services and ecological networks: A Pan-European case study. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 54, 268–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2015.07.009
- Liu, Z., Xiu, C., & Ye, C. (2020). Improving Urban Resilience through Green Infrastructure: An Integrated Approach for Connectivity Conservation in the Central City of Shenyang, China. *Complexity*, 2020, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/1653493
- Loftus, A., & March, H. (2019). Integrating what and for whom? Financialisation and the Thames Tideway Tunnel. *Urban Studies*, *56*(11), 2280–2296. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098017736713
- Löhr, K., Weinhardt, M., & Sieber, S. (2020). The "World Café" as a Participatory Method for Collecting Qualitative Data. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 160940692091697. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920916976
- Luyet, V., Schlaepfer, R., Parlange, M. B., & Buttler, A. (2012). A framework to implement Stakeholder participation in environmental projects. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 111, 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.06.026

- Mace, G. M. (2014). Whose conservation? *Science*, *345*(6204), 1558–1560. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1254704
- Maes, J., Commission, E., Teller, A., Commission, E., Erhard, M., Paracchini,
  M., & Commission, E. (2020). *Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystems* and their Services Indicators for ecosystem assessments (Issue February 2014). https://doi.org/10.2779/75203
- Maksymenko, N., Burchenko, S., Hrechko, A., & Sonko, S. (2023). Carbonsequestration and provision of green infrastructure in the Ukrainian cities of Kharkiv and Chuguiv in the context of post-war reconstruction. Acta Horticulturae et Regiotecturae, 26(2), 90–98. https://doi.org/10.2478/ahr-2023-0013
- Mander, Ü., Kull, A., Uuemaa, E., Mõisja, K., Külvik, M., Kikas, T., Raet, J., Tournebize, J., & Sepp, K. (2018). Green and brown infrastructures support a landscape-level implementation of ecological engineering. *Ecological Engineering*, *120*(May), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2018.05.019
- Mapcarta. (2024). https://mapcarta.com/24926204
- Marando, F., Heris, M. P., Zulian, G., Udías, A., Mentaschi, L., Chrysoulakis, N., Parastatidis, D., & Maes, J. (2022). Urban heat island mitigation by green infrastructure in European Functional Urban Areas. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 77, 103564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2021.103564
- Marques da Costa, E., & Kállay, T. (2020). Impacts of Green Spaces onPhysicalandMentalHealth.1,17.

https://urbact.eu/sites/default/files/media/thematic\_report\_no1\_impacts \_on\_health\_healthgreenspace\_2910.pdf

- Mascarenhas, A., Ramos, T. B., Haase, D., & Santos, R. (2014). Integration of ecosystem services in spatial planning: a survey on regional planners' views. *Landscape Ecology*, 29(8), 1287–1300. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-014-0012-4
- Matteo Bizzotto, Ayan Huseynova, Victoria Vital Ariel Dekovic, Marion Guénard, Evgenia Mitroliou, Pourya Salehi, T. S. B. (n.d.). *RESILIENT CITIES, THRIVING CITIES: THE EVOLUTION OF URBAN RESILIENCE.* https://e-lib.iclei.org/publications/Resilient-Cities-Thriving-Cities\_The-Evolution-of-Urban-Resilience.pdf
- Mattijssen, T. J. M., Olafsson, A. S., Møller, M. S., & Gulsrud, N. (2017). Urban Green Infrastructure: Connecting People and Nature for Sustainable Cities. September. https://www.e-pages.dk/ku/1336/html5/
- Mazur-Belzyt, K. (2019). A Place of Sustainable Development in Contemporary Urban Concepts. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 603(4). https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/603/4/042043
- McDonald, J., & McCormack, P. C. (2021). Rethinking the role of law in adapting to climate change. WIREs Climate Change, 12(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.726
- McGill, B. J., Dornelas, M., Gotelli, N. J., & Magurran, A. E. (2015). Fifteen forms of biodiversity trend in the Anthropocene. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 30(2), 104–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.11.006

- McKenzie, E., Posner, S., Tillmann, P., Bernhardt, J. R., Howard, K., & Rosenthal, A. (2014). Understanding the Use of Ecosystem Service Knowledge in Decision Making: Lessons from International Experiences of Spatial Planning. *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, *32*(2), 320–340. https://doi.org/10.1068/c12292j
- McPhillips, L. E., & Matsler, A. M. (2018). Temporal Evolution of Green Stormwater Infrastructure Strategies in Three US Cities. *Frontiers in Built Environment*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbuil.2018.00026
- McShane, T. O., Hirsch, P. D., Trung, T. C., Songorwa, A. N., Kinzig, A., Monteferri, B., Mutekanga, D., Thang, H. Van, Dammert, J. L., Pulgar-Vidal, M., Welch-Devine, M., Peter Brosius, J., Coppolillo, P., & O'Connor, S. (2011). Hard choices: Making trade-offs between biodiversity conservation and human well-being. *Biological Conservation*, 144(3), 966–972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.04.038
- Meerow, S., Newell, J. P., & Stults, M. (2016). Defining urban resilience: A review. Landscape and Urban Planning, 147, 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.11.011
- Meijer, J. R., Huijbregts, M. A. J., Schotten, K. C. G. J., & Schipper, A. M. (2018). Global patterns of current and future road infrastructure. *Environmental Research Letters*, 13(6), 064006. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aabd42
- Mell, I., & Clement, S. (2020). Progressing Green Infrastructure planning: understanding its scalar, temporal, geo-spatial and disciplinary evolution. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 38(6), 449–463.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14615517.2019.1617517

- MELNYCHUK, A., DENYSENKO, O., & OSTAPENKO, P. (2021). NEW TOOLS FOR NEW URBAN SPACES? ANALYSES OF PLANNING AND PARTICIPATION TOOLS AND THEIR PERFORMANCE IN (POST)TRANSITIONAL PERSPECTIVE. Ekonomichna Ta Sotsialna Geografiya, 85, 11–22. https://doi.org/10.17721/2413-7154/2021.85.11-22
- Metzger, J. P., Fidelman, P., Sattler, C., Schröter, B., Maron, M., Eigenbrod, F., Fortin, M., Hohlenwerger, C., & Rhodes, J. R. (2021). Connecting governance interventions to ecosystem services provision: A socialecological network approach. *People and Nature*, 3(2), 266–280. https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.10172
- Ministry of National Development. (2015). Biodiversity: Nature Conservation in the Greening of Singapore. In Singapore Urban Systems Studies Booklet Series. https://www.clc.gov.sg/docs/default-source/urbansystems-studies/uss-biodiversity.pdf
- Molla, M. B. (2020). The Role of Stakeholders in Improving Management Practices of Urban Green Infrastructure in Southern Ethiopia. *Planning Practice* & *Research*, 35(2), 220–230. https://doi.org/10.1080/02697459.2020.1738686
- Moravcova, V., Moravcova, J., Kosova, P., & Slama, J. (2022). Green Infrastructure in Urban Planning in the Czech Republic. International Multidisciplinary Scientific GeoConference Surveying Geology and Mining Ecology Management, SGEM, 22(6.2), 551–558. https://doi.org/10.5593/sgem2022V/6.2/s27.70

- Morelli, B., Cashman, S., Ma, X., Garland, J., Turgeon, J., Fillmore, L., Bless, D., & Nye, M. (2018). Effect of Nutrient Removal and Resource Recovery on Life Cycle Cost and Environmental Impacts of a Small Scale Water Resource Recovery Facility. *Sustainability*, *10*(10), 3546. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10103546
- Mössner, S. (2015). Urban development in Freiburg, Germany Sustainable and neoliberal? September. https://doi.org/10.12854/erde-146-16
- Mukherjee, M., & Takara, K. (2018). Urban green space as a countermeasure to increasing urban risk and the UGS-3CC resilience framework. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 28, 854–861. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2018.01.027
- Newbold, T., Hudson, L. N., Hill, S. L. L., Contu, S., Lysenko, I., Senior, R. A., Börger, L., Bennett, D. J., Choimes, A., Collen, B., Day, J., De Palma, A., Díaz, S., Echeverria-Londoño, S., Edgar, M. J., Feldman, A., Garon, M., Harrison, M. L. K., Alhusseini, T., ... Purvis, A. (2015). Global effects of land use on local terrestrial biodiversity. *Nature*, *520*(7545), 45–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14324
- Niedźwiecka-Filipiak, I., Gubański, J., Podolska, A., Rubaszek, J., & Witkiewicz, A. (2022). Potential Elements of Green Infrastructure (PeGI) Inside the Core of the Village (CoV): A Case Study of Wrocław Functional Area (WFA) in Poland. *Sustainability*, *14*(3), 1611. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14031611
- Nilon, C. H., Aronson, M. F. J., Cilliers, S. S., Dobbs, C., Frazee, L. J., Goddard, M. A., O'Neill, K. M., Roberts, D., Stander, E. K., Werner, P., Winter, M., & Yocom, K. P. (2017). Planning for the future of urban

biodiversity: A global review of city-scale initiatives. *BioScience*, 67(4), 332–342. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/bix012

- O'Brien, L., De Vreese, R., Kern, M., Sievänen, T., Stojanova, B., & Atmiş,
  E. (2017). Cultural ecosystem benefits of urban and peri-urban green infrastructure across different European countries. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 24, 236–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2017.03.002
- OECD. (2018). OECD Environmental Performance Reviews: Czech Republic 2018. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264300958-en
- Olic, P., & Stober, D. (2019). Urban Green Infrastructure for Shrinking City: Case Study - City of Osijek. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 471, 102025. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/471/10/102025
- Ordóñez, C., Threlfall, C. G., Livesley, S. J., Kendal, D., Fuller, R. A., Davern, M., van der Ree, R., & Hochuli, D. F. (2020). Decision-making of municipal urban forest managers through the lens of governance. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 104(November 2019), 136–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2019.11.008
- Osama, A., & Lamma, O. A. (2021). *The impact of recycling in preserving the environment. December.* https://www.researchgate.net/publication/356977735\_The\_impact\_of\_r ecycling\_in\_preserving\_the\_environment

Pamukcu-Albers, P., Ugolini, F., La Rosa, D., Grădinaru, S. R., Azevedo, J.

C., & Wu, J. (2021). Building green infrastructure to enhance urban resilience to climate change and pandemics. *Landscape Ecology*, *36*(3), 665–673. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-021-01212-y

- Parker, J., & Simpson, G. D. (2018). Public Green Infrastructure Contributes to City Livability: A Systematic Quantitative Review. *Land*, 7(4), 161. https://doi.org/10.3390/land7040161
- Parker, J., & Zingoni de Baro, M. E. (2019). Green Infrastructure in the Urban Environment: A Systematic Quantitative Review. *Sustainability*, 11(11), 3182. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11113182
- Pasanen, T. P., White, M. P., Elliott, L. R., van den Bosch, M., Bratman, G. N., Ojala, A., Korpela, K., & Fleming, L. E. (2023). Urban green space and mental health among people living alone: The mediating roles of relational and collective restoration in an 18-country sample. *Environmental Research*, 232, 116324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2023.116324
- Pauleit, S., Ambrose-Oji, B., Andersson, E., Anton, B., Buijs, A., Haase, D., Elands, B., Hansen, R., Kowarik, I., Kronenberg, J., Mattijssen, T., Stahl Olafsson, A., Rall, E., van der Jagt, A. P. N., & Konijnendijk van den Bosch, C. (2019). Advancing urban green infrastructure in Europe: Outcomes and reflections from the GREEN SURGE project. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 40, 4–16.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.10.006
- Pauleit, S., Fryd, O., Backhaus, A., & Jensen, M. B. (2020). Green Infrastructures to Face Climate Change in an Urbanizing World. In Encyclopedia of Sustainability Science and Technology (pp. 1–29).

Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2493-6\_212-3

- Perić, A., Jiang, Y., Menz, S., & Ricci, L. (2023). Green Cities: Utopia or Reality? Evidence from Zurich, Switzerland. Sustainability, 15(15), 12079. https://doi.org/10.3390/su151512079
- Perrin, M., Bertrand, N., & Vanpeene, S. (2022). Ecological connectivity in spatial planning: from the EU framework to its territorial implementation in the French context. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *129*, 118–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2021.12.011
- Peters, M. D. J., Godfrey, C. M., Khalil, H., McInerney, P., Parker, D., & Soares, C. B. (2015). Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. *International Journal of Evidence-Based Healthcare*, 13(3), 141–146. https://doi.org/10.1097/XEB.000000000000050
- PF4EE Expert Support Facility. (2019). Energy Efficiency Projects in Europe. *Adelphi Consult GmbH, March.* https://pf4ee.eib.org/sites/default/files/2019-06/PF4EE-ESF\_MAR2019\_EE Examples Europe.pdf
- Piers Blaikie, & Harold Brookfield. (2015). Land Degradation and Society (P. Blaikie & H. Brookfield (Eds.)). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315685366
- Pluskal, J., Šomplák, R., Nevrlý, V., Smejkalová, V., & Pavlas, M. (2021). Strategic decisions leading to sustainable waste management: Separation, sorting and recycling possibilities. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 278, 123359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123359

Pollalis, S. (2019). Water Infrastructure Improvement ACT. Planning

Sustainable Cities, 107–142. https://www.congress.gov/115/plaws/publ436/PLAW-115publ436.pdf

- Pomara, L. Y., & Lee, D. C. (2021). The role of regional ecological assessment in quantifying ecosystem services for forest management. *Land*, 10(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/land10070725
- Praha ŽP. (2006). Overview of areas of special protection of the City. https://portalzp.praha.eu/jnp/en/environment/for\_experts\_and\_partner\_c ities/greenery\_system\_maintenance\_in\_the\_city\_of\_prague/overview\_o f\_areas\_of\_special\_protection.xhtml
- Puplampu, D. A., & Boafo, Y. A. (2021). Exploring the impacts of urban expansion on green spaces availability and delivery of ecosystem services in the Accra metropolis. *Environmental Challenges*, 5, 100283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envc.2021.100283
- Quagliolo, C., Roebeling, P., Mendonça, R., Pezzoli, A., & Comino, E. (2022).
  Integrating Biophysical and Economic Assessment: Review of Nature-Based Adaptation to Urban Flood Extremes. *Urban Science*, 6(3), 53. https://doi.org/10.3390/urbansci6030053
- Ragasová, L., Kopta, T., Winkler, J., & Pokluda, R. (2019). The Current Stage of Greening Vegetation in Selected Wine-Regions of South Moravian Region (Czech Republic). *Agronomy*, 9(9), 541. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy9090541
- Rall, E., Hansen, R., & Pauleit, S. (2019). The added value of public participation GIS (PPGIS) for urban green infrastructure planning. *Urban Forestry* & *Urban Greening*, 40, 264–274.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.06.016

- Ramyar, R. (2017a). GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE CONTRIBUTION FOR CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION IN URBAN LANDSCAPE CONTEXT. Applied Ecology and Environmental Research, 15(3), 1193– 1209. https://doi.org/10.15666/aeer/1503\_11931209
- Ramyar, R. (2017b). GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE CONTRIBUTION FOR CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION IN URBAN LANDSCAPE CONTEXT. Applied Ecology and Environmental Research, 15(3), 1193– 1209. https://doi.org/10.15666/aeer/1503\_11931209
- Ramyar, R., Saeedi, S., Bryant, M., Davatgar, A., & Mortaz Hedjri, G. (2020). Ecosystem services mapping for green infrastructure planning–The case of Tehran. *Science of The Total Environment*, 703, 135466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135466
- Rastandeh, A., Brown, D., & Zari, M. P. (2017). Biodiversity conservation in urban environments: a review on the importance of spatial patterning of landscapes.
  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318744800\_Biodiversity\_con servation\_in\_urban\_environments\_a\_review\_on\_the\_importance\_of\_sp atial\_patterning\_of\_landscapes
- Ray Biswas, R., & Rahman, A. (2023). Adaptation to climate change: A study on regional climate change adaptation policy and practice framework. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 336, 117666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2023.117666

Rebrova, T., Beckovsky, D., & Selnik, P. (2017). Monitoring of the Green

Roofs Installation in Brno-City District, Czech Republic. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, *95*, 042040. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/95/4/042040

- Reed, M. S. (2008). Stakeholder participation for environmental management: A literature review. *Biological Conservation*, 141(10), 2417–2431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.07.014
- Reynolds, H. L., Mincey, S. K., Montoya, R. D., Hamlin, S., Sullivan, A., Thapa, B., Wilson, J., Rosing, H., Jarzen, J., & Grove, J. M. (2022).
  Green infrastructure for urban resilience: a trait-based framework. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 20(4), 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2446
- Ring, Z., Damyanovic, D., & Reinwald, F. (2021). Green and open space factor Vienna: A steering and evaluation tool for urban green infrastructure. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 62, 127131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2021.127131
- Rocha, N. A. da, IV, H. W. A. H., Kumble, P., & Hussein, J. (2018). The relationship between green areas and slope: Case study the city of Prague. June. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/327174711\_The\_relationship \_between\_green\_areas\_and\_slope\_Case\_study\_the\_city\_of\_Prague
- Ronchi, S. (2021). Ecosystem Services for Planning: A Generic Recommendation or a Real Framework? Insights from a Literature Review. *Sustainability*, *13*(12), 6595. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13126595

- Rosina, K., Batista e Silva, F., Vizcaino, P., Marín Herrera, M., Freire, S., & Schiavina, M. (2020). Increasing the detail of European land use/cover data by combining heterogeneous data sets. *International Journal of Digital Earth*, 13(5), 602–626. https://doi.org/10.1080/17538947.2018.1550119
- Rousek, P., & Hašková, S. (2017). Changes in the Concept of Public Greenery on the Basis of an Analysis of Czech Municipal Financing. SHS Web of Conferences, 39, 01024. https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/20173901024
- Rowe, G., & Frewer, L. J. (2004). Evaluating Public-Participation Exercises: A Research Agenda. *Science, Technology, & Human Values*, 29(4), 512– 556. https://doi.org/10.1177/0162243903259197
- Rueda, S. (2019). Superblocks for the Design of New Cities and Renovation of Existing Ones: Barcelona's Case. In *Integrating Human Health into Urban and Transport Planning* (pp. 135–153). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74983-9\_8
- Rusche, K., Reimer, M., & Stichmann, R. (2019). Mapping and Assessing Green Infrastructure Connectivity in European City Regions. *Sustainability*, 11(6), 1819. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11061819
- Ruzow Holland, A. H. (2022). If all planning is local, how are we going to save tomorrow? Ten pragmatic lessons from the field. *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences*, 12(1), 177–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-021-00710-4
- Sa', A., Danjaji, A., & Ariffin, M. (2017). Green infrastructure policy for sustainable urban development. *International Journal of Environment*

andSustainableDevelopment,16(2),112.https://doi.org/10.1504/IJESD.2017.083293

- Sahni, S., & Aulakh, R. S. (2021). A Systematic Review of Defining Urban
  Resilience in Context of Cultural Heritage with Special Emphasis on
  Amritsar. SSRN Electronic Journal.
  https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3778131
- Salama, M., Hussein, J., Kumble, P. A., & Hanson, H. (2020). The Relation between Land Tenure and Land Cover, Affecting Sustainability in Cities. Case Study the City of Prague. November. https://www.scitechnol.com/peer-review/the-relation-between-landtenure-and-land-cover-affecting-sustainability-in-cities-case-study-thecity-of-prague-nVGR.php?article\_id=13355#:~:text=Conclusion,use as we see now.
- Sandstro<sup>--</sup>m, U. G. (2002). Green Infrastructure Planning in Urban Sweden. *Planning Practice and Research*, 17(4), 373–385. https://doi.org/10.1080/02697450216356
- Schirpke, U., Scolozzi, R., Dean, G., Haller, A., Jäger, H., Kister, J., Kovács,
  B., Sarmiento, F. O., Sattler, B., & Schleyer, C. (2020). Cultural ecosystem services in mountain regions: Conceptualising conflicts among users and limitations of use. *Ecosystem Services*, 46, 101210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2020.101210
- Schwarz, K., Fragkias, M., Boone, C. G., Zhou, W., McHale, M., Grove, J. M., O'Neil-Dunne, J., McFadden, J. P., Buckley, G. L., Childers, D., Ogden, L., Pincetl, S., Pataki, D., Whitmer, A., & Cadenasso, M. L. (2015). Trees Grow on Money: Urban Tree Canopy Cover and

Environmental Justice. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(4), e0122051. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122051

- Sekulova, F., Anguelovski, I., Kiss, B., Kotsila, P., Baró, F., Palgan, Y. V., & Connolly, J. (2021). The governance of nature-based solutions in the city at the intersection of justice and equity. *Cities*, *112*, 103136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2021.103136
- Semeraro, T., Aretano, R., & Pomes, A. (2017). Green Infrastructure to Improve Ecosystem Services in the Landscape Urban Regeneration. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 245, 082044. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/245/8/082044
- Shanahan, D. F., Lin, B. B., Gaston, K. J., Bush, R., & Fuller, R. A. (2014). Socio-economic inequalities in access to nature on public and private lands: A case study from Brisbane, Australia. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 130, 14–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2014.06.005
- Shandas, V., & Hellman, D. (2022). Toward an Equitable Distribution of Urban Green Spaces for People and Landscapes: An Opportunity for Portland's Green Grid. In *Green Infrastructure and Climate Change Adaptation*. https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-981-16-6791-6\_18
- Shukla, N. (2023). Assessment of urban form resilience: A review of literature in the context of the Global South. https://assets.researchsquare.com/files/rs-2418968/v1/c1c448e2-0499-4469-b4e6-904708f3396f.pdf?c=1675964162

Sia, A., Tan, P. Y., & Er, K. B. H. (2023). The contributions of urban

horticulture to cities' liveability and resilience: Insights from Singapore. *PLANTS, PEOPLE, PLANET.* https://doi.org/10.1002/ppp3.10377

- Silva, J. A. (2023). Wastewater Treatment and Reuse for Sustainable Water Resources Management: A Systematic Literature Review. *Sustainability*, 15(14), 10940. https://doi.org/10.3390/su151410940
- Simunek, M., Smutny, Z., & Dolezel, M. (2021). The Impact of the COVID-19 Movement Restrictions on the Road Traffic in the Czech Republic during the State of Emergency. *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, 2021, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/6622028
- Sini, R. (2020). Singapore's Green Infrastructure and Biophilic Urbanism (pp. 211–251). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6746-5\_8
- Skokanová, H., González, I. L., & Slach, T. (2020a). Mapping Green Infrastructure Elements Based on Available Data, A Case Study of the Czech Republic. *Journal of Landscape Ecology*, 13(1), 85–103. https://doi.org/10.2478/jlecol-2020-0006
- Skokanová, H., González, I. L., & Slach, T. (2020b). Mapping Green Infrastructure Elements Based on Available Data, A Case Study of the Czech Republic. *Journal of Landscape Ecology*, 13(1), 85–103. https://doi.org/10.2478/jlecol-2020-0006
- Skokanová, H., & Slach, T. (2020). Territorial System of Ecological Stability as a regional example for Green Infrastructure planning in the Czech Republic. *Landscape Online*, 80, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3097/LO.202080

Slätmo, E., Nilsson, K., & Turunen, E. (2019). Implementing Green 178

Infrastructure in Spatial Planning in Europe. *Land*, 8(4), 62. https://doi.org/10.3390/land8040062

- Soininen, J. (2022). *Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning*. 45. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-120213-091917
- Spano, G., Giannico, V., Elia, M., Bosco, A., Lafortezza, R., & Sanesi, G. (2020). Human Health–Environment Interaction Science: An emerging research paradigm. *Science of The Total Environment*, 704, 135358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135358
- Staccione, A., Candiago, S., & Mysiak, J. (2022). Mapping a Green Infrastructure Network: a framework for spatial connectivity applied in Northern Italy. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 131, 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2022.01.017
- Staddon, C., Ward, S., De Vito, L., Zuniga-Teran, A., Gerlak, A. K., Schoeman, Y., Hart, A., & Booth, G. (2018). Contributions of green infrastructure to enhancing urban resilience. *Environment Systems and Decisions*, 38(3), 330–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10669-018-9702-9
- Steen Møller, M., & Stahl Olafsson, A. (2018). The Use of E-Tools to Engage Citizens in Urban Green Infrastructure Governance: Where Do We Stand and Where Are We Going? *Sustainability*, *10*(10), 3513. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10103513
- Strategie Adaptace. (2020). CAPITAL CITY OF PRAGUE CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION STRATEGY Cover photo Václav Hykeš. https://portalzp.praha.eu/file/3156546/Prague\_adaptation\_strategy\_eng\_ web\_82020.pdf

- Strulak-Wójcikiewicz, R., & Lemke, J. (2019). Concept of a simulation model for assessing the sustainable development of urban transport. *Transportation Research Procedia*, 39(2018), 502–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2019.06.052
- Sturiale, & Scuderi. (2019). The Role of Green Infrastructures in Urban Planning for Climate Change Adaptation. *Climate*, 7(10), 119. https://doi.org/10.3390/cli7100119
- Sussams, L. W., Sheate, W. R., & Eales, R. P. (2015). Green infrastructure as a climate change adaptation policy intervention: Muddying the waters or clearing a path to a more secure future? *Journal of Environmental Management*, 147, 184–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.09.003
- Tabor, G., Bankova-Todorova, M., Ayram, C. A. C., Garcia, L. C., Kapos, V., Olds, A., & Stupariu, I. (2019). *Ecological Connectivity: a bridge to preserving biodiversity. March.*
- Tan, P. Y., Wang, J., & Sia, A. (2013). Perspectives on five decades of the urban greening of Singapore. *Cities*, 32, 24–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2013.02.001
- Taya Lynn Triffo, by B. (2022). Green infrastructure planning in Vancouver: addressing environmental justice with participatory resident workshops. October. https://open.library.ubc.ca/soa/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/24/items/1. 0421336
- The World Bank. (2015). INVESTING IN Protecting and Promoting
*Development in a Changing World. October*, 120. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/314646178\_Investing\_in\_Urb an\_Resilience\_Protecting\_and\_Promoting\_Development\_in\_a\_Changin g\_World

- Thekkan, A. F., George, A., Prasad, P. R. C., & Joseph, S. (2022).
  Understanding Blue-Green Infrastructure Through Spatial Maps: Contribution of Remote Sensing and GIS Technology. In *Blue-Green Infrastructure Across Asian Countries* (pp. 123–138). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-7128-9\_6
- Tirla, M.-L., Manea, G., Vıjulie, I., Matei, E., & Cocoş, O. (2014). Green
  Cities Urban Planning Models of the Future. *Cities in the Globalizing World and Turkey: A Theoretical and Empirical Perspective, December*2019, 462–479.
  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294580768\_Green\_Cities\_\_Urban\_Planning\_Models\_for\_the\_Future
- Tittensor, D. P., Walpole, M., Hill, S. L. L., Boyce, D. G., Britten, G. L., Burgess, N. D., Butchart, S. H. M., Leadley, P. W., Regan, E. C., Alkemade, R., Baumung, R., Bellard, C., Bouwman, L., Bowles-Newark, N. J., Chenery, A. M., Cheung, W. W. L., Christensen, V., Cooper, H. D., Crowther, A. R., ... Ye, Y. (2014). A mid-term analysis of progress toward international biodiversity targets. *Science*, *346*(6206), 241–244. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1257484
- Tsantopoulos, G., Varras, G., Chiotelli, E., Fotia, K., & Batou, M. (2018).Public perceptions and attitudes toward green infrastructure on buildings:The case of the metropolitan area of Athens, Greece. *Urban Forestry &*

*Urban Greening*, *34*, 181–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.06.017

- Uittenbroek, C. J., Mees, H. L. P., Hegger, D. L. T., & Driessen, P. P. J. (2019). The design of public participation: who participates, when and how? Insights in climate adaptation planning from the Netherlands. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 62(14), 2529–2547. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2019.1569503
- UNESCO. (n.d.). *Biodiversity and nature's contributions continue dangerous decline*. https://www.unesco.org/en/articles/biodiversity-and-natures-contributions-continue-dangerous-decline#:~:text=Biodiversity and nature's contributions continue dangerous decline,-intensive agriculture%2C Mass&text=Biodiversity the essential variety of,con
- Van der Biest, K., Meire, P., Schellekens, T., D'hondt, B., Bonte, D., Vanagt, T., & Ysebaert, T. (2020). Aligning biodiversity conservation and ecosystem services in spatial planning: Focus on ecosystem processes. *Science of The Total Environment*, *712*, 136350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136350
- Van Rooyen, C., Stewart, R., & De Wet, T. (2018). Systematic review methodology for development: An example from microfinance. *Africanus: Journal of Development Studies*, 43(1), 65–77. https://doi.org/10.25159/0304-615X/5079
- Vaňo, S., Stahl Olafsson, A., & Mederly, P. (2021). Advancing urban green infrastructure through participatory integrated planning: A case from Slovakia. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 58, 126957. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2020.126957

- Vargas-Hernández, J. G., & Zdunek-Wielgołaska, J. (2021a). Urban green infrastructure as a tool for controlling the resilience of urban sprawl. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 23(2), 1335–1354. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-020-00623-2
- Vargas-Hernández, J. G., & Zdunek-Wielgołaska, J. (2021b). Urban green infrastructure as a tool for controlling the resilience of urban sprawl. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 23(2), 1335–1354. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-020-00623-2
- Vávra, J., Cudlinova, E., & Lapka, M. (2014). Green Growth from the Viewpoint of the Czech Republic.
  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/273758073\_Green\_Growth\_fr om\_the\_Viewpoint\_of\_the\_Czech\_Republic
- Veolia. (2022). Waste-to-Energy Prospects in the Czech Republic. September. https://obehove-hospodarstvi.cz/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/1-Energypresentations-all.pdf
- Vizzarri, M., Tognetti, R., & Marchetti, M. (2015). Forest Ecosystem Services: Issues and Challenges for Biodiversity, Conservation, and Management in Italy. *Forests*, 6(12), 1810–1838. https://doi.org/10.3390/f6061810
- Vrána, M., Surmařová, S., Hlisnikovský, P., & Dujka, J. (2021). Transport in times of an epidemic: public transport measures in the Czech Republic and its regions. *Review of Economic Perspectives*, 21(1), 57–78. https://doi.org/10.2478/revecp-2021-0004
- Wang, J., & Banzhaf, E. (2018). Towards a better understanding of Green

Infrastructure: A critical review. *Ecological Indicators*, 85, 758–772. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.09.018

- Weinblatt, H. (1970). "Urban Dynamics": A Critical Examination. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4531400
- WGIN. (2021). Key Definition: Green Infrastructure. April. https://worldgreeninfrastructurenetwork.org/key-definition-greeninfrastructure/
- Wicht, M., Wicht, A., & Osińska-Skotak, K. (2017). Detection of ventilation corridors using a spatio-temporal approach aided by remote sensing data. *European Journal of Remote Sensing*, 50(1), 254–267. https://doi.org/10.1080/22797254.2017.1318672
- Wikström, A. (2020). The Green Area Factor, Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity - An investigation of the preservation of urban biodiversity within the City of Stockholm. 60. https://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:1500721/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Wilker, J., Rusche, K., & Rymsa-Fitschen, C. (2016). Improving Participation in Green Infrastructure Planning. *Planning Practice & Research*, 31(3), 229–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/02697459.2016.1158065
- Willams, N. (2001). Achieving Sustainable Urban Form. *Land Use Policy*, *18*(2), 202. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-8377(01)00010-2
- Winker, M., Deffner, J., Rohrbach, M., Schramm, E., & Stein, M. (2022).
  Enhancing blue-green infrastructure in German cities with the involvement of urban society: insights from Frankfurt/Main and Stuttgart. *Blue-Green Systems*, 4(2), 230–246.

https://doi.org/10.2166/bgs.2022.017

- Wolch, J. R., Byrne, J., & Newell, J. P. (2014). Urban green space, public health, and environmental justice: The challenge of making cities 'just green enough.' *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 125, 234–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2014.01.017
- Woodruff, S. C., & BenDor, T. K. (2016). Ecosystem services in urban planning: Comparative paradigms and guidelines for high quality plans. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 152, 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.04.003
- Xiu, N., Ignatieva, M., & Konijnendijk van den Bosch, C. (2016). Planning and design of urban green networks in Stockholm. *Proceedings of the Fábos Conference on Landscape and Greenway Planning*, 5(1), 4. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/220132708.pdf
- Xue, Z., Hou, G., Zhang, Z., Lyu, X., Jiang, M., Zou, Y., Shen, X., Wang, J., & Liu, X. (2019). Quantifying the cooling-effects of urban and peri-urban wetlands using remote sensing data: Case study of cities of Northeast China. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 182, 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2018.10.015
- Yacamán Ochoa, C., Ferrer Jiménez, D., & Mata Olmo, R. (2020). Green Infrastructure Planning in Metropolitan Regions to Improve the Connectivity of Agricultural Landscapes and Food Security. *Land*, 9(11), 414. https://doi.org/10.3390/land9110414
- Ying, J., Zhang, X., Zhang, Y., & Bilan, S. (2022). Green infrastructure: systematic literature review. *Economic Research-Ekonomska*

Young, R. F., & McPherson, E. G. (2013). Governing metropolitan green infrastructure in the United States. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 109(1), 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2012.09.004

343-366.

- Zellmer, A. J., & Goto, B. S. (2022). Urban wildlife corridors: Building bridges for wildlife and people. *Frontiers in Sustainable Cities*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/frsc.2022.954089
- Zhang, Q., Wu, Z., & Tarolli, P. (2021). Investigating the Role of Green Infrastructure on Urban WaterLogging: Evidence from Metropolitan Coastal Cities. *Remote Sensing*, 13(12), 2341. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13122341
- Zheng, Y., Xie, X.-L., Lin, C.-Z., WANG, M., & HE, X.-J. (2018). Development as adaptation: Framing and measuring urban resilience in Beijing. Advances in Climate Change Research, 9(4), 234–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accre.2018.12.002